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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Journals of the Senate, Wednesday,
November 21, 2007:

ORDRE DE RENVOI

Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 21 novembre 2007 :

The Honourable Senator Andreychuk moved, seconded
by the Honourable Senator Tkachuk:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Human Rights
be authorized to examine and monitor issues relating to
human rights and, inter alia, to review the machinery of
government dealing with Canada’s international and
national human rights obligations;

That the papers and evidence received and taken on the
subject and the work accomplished during the Thirty-
seventh Parliament, the Thirty-eighth Parliament and the
First session of the Thirty-ninth Parliament be referred to
the Committee; and

That the Committee submit its final report to the Senate
no later than December 31, 2008.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

L’honorable sénateur Andreychuk propose, appuyée par
I’honorable sénateur Tkachuk,

Que le Comité sénatorial permanent des droits de la
personne soit autorisé a étudier et surveiller I'évolution de
diverses questions ayant traits aux droits de la personne et a
examiner, entre autres choses, les mécanismes du
gouvernement pour que le Canada respecte ses obligations
nationales et internationales en matiére de droits de la
personne;

Que les mémoires regus et les témoignages entendus et les
travaux accomplis sur la question par le Comité au cours de
la trente-septiéme législature, de la trente-huitiéme
législature et de la premiére session de la trente-neuvieme
législature soient déférés au Comité;

Que le Comité soumette son rapport final au plus tard le
31 décembre 2008.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le greffier du Sénat,

Paul C. Bélisle

Clerk of the Senate
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Monday, February 4, 2008
4

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Human Rights met this
day at 5:06 p.m., in room 9, Victoria Building, the Chair, the
Honourable A. Raynell Andreychuk, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Jaffer, Munson, Oliver and Poy (5).

In attendance: Laura Barnett, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Wednesday, November 21, 2007 the committee continued its
consideration of employment equity in the federal public service.
(For complete text of order of reference, see proceedings of the
committee, Issue No. 1.)

WITNESSES:

Canadian Human Rights Commission:
Jennifer Lynch, Chief Commissioner;
Héléne Goulet, Secretary General;

Philippe Dufresne, Director and Senior Counsel, Litigation
Services Division;

Natalie Dagenais, Director, Investigations Division;

Alex Dei, Director, Employment Equity Compliance Division.

Public Service Alliance of Canada:
Lisa Addario, Employment Equity Officer;
Ed Cashman, Regional Executive Vice-President.
Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada:
Gary Corbett, Vice-President;

Al Ravjiani, Ontario Regional Director and Chair of the
Human Rights in the Workplace Committee;

Allison Pilon, Research Officer.
As individuals:
Mark Persaud;
James C. Morton.
The chair made an opening statement.

Ms. Lynch made a statement and, together with Ms. Goulet,
Mr. Dufresne, Ms. Dagenais and Mr. Dei, answered questions.

At 6:10 p.m., the committee suspended.

At 6:17 p.m., the committee resumed.

PROCES-VERBAUX
OTTAWA, le lundi 4 février 2008
4)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des droits de la personne se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 17 h 6, dans la salle 9 de 1’édifice Victoria,
sous la présidence de I’honorable A. Raynell Andreychuk
(présidente).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Jaffer, Munson, Oliver et Poy (5).

Egalement présente : Laura Barnett, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du
Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a 1’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 21 novembre 2007, le comité poursuit son étude sur
I’équité en matiére d’emploi dans la fonction publique fédérale.
(Le texte complet de 'ordre de renvoi figure au fascicule n® 1 des
délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :

Commission canadienne des droits de la personne :
Jennifer Lynch, présidente;
Héléne Goulet, secrétaire générale;

Philippe Dufresne, directeur et avocat-conseil, Services du
contentieux;

Natalie Dagenais, directrice, Division des enquétes;

Alex Dei, directeur, Programme de conformité a I’équité en
mati¢re d’emploi.

Alliance de la fonction publique du Canada :
Lisa Addario, agente d’équité en matiére d’emploi;
Ed Cashman, vice-président exécutif régional.
Institut professionnel de la fonction publique du Canada :
Gary Corbett, vice-président;

Al Ravjiani, directeur régional pour I'Ontario et président du
Comité des droits de la personne en milieu de travail;

Allison Pilon, agente de recherche.
A titre personnel :
Mark Persaud;
James C. Morton.
La présidente fait une déclaration d’ouverture.

Mme Lynch fait une déclaration puis, aidée de Mmes Goulet et
Dagenais, ainsi que de MM. Dufresne et Dei, répond aux
questions.

A 18 h 10, la séance est interrompue.

A 18 h 17, la séance reprend.
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Ms. Cashman and Mr. Corbett each made a statement and,
together with Ms. Addario, Mr. Ravjiani and Ms. Pilon,
answered questions.

At 7:06 p.m., the committee suspended.
At 7:10 p.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Persaud made a statement and, together with Mr. Morton,
answered questions.

At 7:48 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Monday, February 11, 2008
(%)
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Human Rights met this
day at 5:05 p.m., in room 2, Victoria Building, the Chair, the
Honourable A. Raynell Andreychuk, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Dallaire, Jaffer, Munson and Oliver (5).

In attendance: Laura Barnett, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Wednesday, November 21, 2007 the committee began its
consideration of issues relating to human rights and, inter alia,
to review the machinery of government dealing with Canada’s
international and national human rights obligations.

WITNESSES:
Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada:

Ade¢le Dion, Director General, Human Security and Human
Rights Bureau;

Robert Sinclair, Deputy Director, Human Rights Section,
Human Rights, Gender Equality, Health and Population
Division.

Amnesty International Canada:

Alex Neve, Secretary General.

Rights and Democracy:

Jean-Paul Hubert, Interim President;

Lloyd Lipsett, Senior Assistant to the President.

The chair made an opening statement.

Ms. Dion made a statement and, together with Mr. Sinclair,
answered questions.

At 6:13 p.m., the committee suspended.

MM. Cashman et Corbett font chacun une déclaration puis,
aidés de Mmes Addario et Pilon, ainsi que de M. Ravjiani,
répondent aux questions.

A 19 h 6, la séance est interrompue.
A 19 h 10, 1a séance reprend.

M. Persaud fait une déclaration puis, aidé de M. Morton,
répond aux questions.

A 19 h 48, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le lundi 11 février 2008
(5)
[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des droits de la personne se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 17 h 5, dans la salle 2 de I’édifice Victoria,
sous la présidence de I’honorable A. Raynell Andreychuk
(présidente).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Dallaire, Jaffer, Munson et Oliver (5).

Egalement présente : Laura Barnett, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du
Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 21 novembre 2007, le comité entreprend son étude sur
I’évolution de diverses questions ayant trait aux droits de la
personne et, entre autres choses, sur les mécanismes du
gouvernement pour que le Canada respecte ses obligations
nationales et internationales en matieére de droits de la personne.

TEMOINS :
Affaires étrangeres et Commerce international Canada :

Adéle Dion, directrice générale, Direction générale de la
sécurité humaine et des droits de la personne;

Robert Sinclair, directeur adjoint, Section des droits de la
personne, Direction des droits de la personne, égalité des
sexes, santé et population.

Amnistie internationale Canada :
Alex Neve, secrétaire général.

Droits et démocratie :
Jean-Paul Hubert, président intérimaire;
Lloyd Lipsett, adjoint principal du président.
La présidente fait une déclaration d’ouverture.

Mme Dion fait une déclaration puis, aidée de M. Sinclair,
répond aux questions.

A 18 h 13, la séance est interrompue.
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At 6:15 p.m., the committee resumed. A 18 h 15, la séance reprend.
Mr. Neve and Mr. Hubert each made a statement and, together MM. Neve et Hubert font chacun une déclaration puis, aidés
with Mr. Lipsett, answered questions. de M. Lipsett, répondent aux questions.
At 7:00 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair. A 19 heures, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.
ATTEST: ATTESTE :

La greffiére du comité,
Jessica Richardson

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Monday, February 4, 2008

The Standing Senate Committee on Human Rights met this
day at 5:06 p.m. to examine cases of alleged discrimination in the
hiring and promotion practices of the Federal Public Service and
to study the extent to which targets to achieve employment equity
for minority groups are being met.

Senator A. Raynell Andreychuk (Chair) in the chair.

[English)

The Chair: Honourable senators, this is the Standing Senate
Committee on Human Rights. We are here to examine cases of
alleged discrimination in the hiring and promotion practices in the
federal public service and to study the extent to which targets to
achieve employment equity for minority groups are being met.

We have heard from the Public Service Commission of
Canada, other related agencies, members of the public and
other organizations. We are continuing our study today. We are
pleased to have received a very good response from the Canadian
Human Rights Commission. We have here with us Jennifer
Lynch, Chief Commissioner. I will let you introduce your
colleagues from the commission. I trust you have an opening
statement. You have been advised of our study and no doubt
know of our recent report.

Jennifer Lynch, Chief Commissioner, Canadian Human Rights
Commission: Thank you. My colleagues and I are pleased to have
been invited here as part of your study on employment equity and
discrimination in the Public Service of Canada.

On my right is Héléne Goulet, Secretary General of the
Canadian Human Rights Commission. On her right is Natalie
Dagenais, Director, Investigation Division. On my left is Alex
Dei, Director, Employment Equity Compliance Division. To his
left is Philippe Dufresne, Director and Senior Counsel, Litigation
Services Division.

Your committee is the only parliamentary committee dedicated
solely to human rights. Obviously, the commission and the
committee share many common interests. I hope this will be the
beginning of an ongoing dialogue.

In this, my first appearance before your committee, I will begin
by situating our work in employment equity within our broader
mandate and then move on to provide you with some specific
updates on our own progress and challenges in employment
equity. I look forward to responding to any questions you may
have.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le lundi 4 février 2008

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des droits de la personne se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 17 h 6, pour examiner des cas de
discrimination présumée dans les pratiques d’embauche et de
promotion de la fonction publique fédérale et d’étudier la mesure
dans laquelle les objectifs pour atteindre I’équité en emploi pour
les groupes minoritaires sont réalisés.

Le sénateur A. Raynell Andreychuk (présidente) occupe le
fauteuil.

[Traduction)

La présidente : Honorables sénateurs, bienvenue au Comité
sénatorial permanent des droits de la personne. Nous sommes ici
pour examiner des cas de discrimination présumée dans les
pratiques d’embauche et de promotion de la fonction publique
fédérale et d’étudier la mesure dans laquelle les objectifs pour
atteindre 1’équité en emploi pour les groupes minoritaires sont
réalisés.

Nous avons recueilli des témoignages de la Commission de la
fonction publique du Canada, d’organismes connexes, de
membres du public et d’autres organisations. Nous poursuivons
notre étude aujourd’hui. Nous sommes heureux que la
Commission canadienne des droits de la personne ait accepté
notre invitation. Nous avons avec nous Jennifer Lynch, présidente
de la commission. Je vais vous laisser le soin de présenter vos
collégues. Je suppose que vous avez une déclaration liminaire.
Vous avez été informée de notre étude et étes sans aucun doute au
courant de notre récent rapport.

Jennifer Lynch, présidente de la Commission canadienne des
droits de la personne : Merci. Mes collégues et moi sommes
heureux de comparaitre aujourd’hui dans le cadre de votre étude
sur I’équité en matiére d’emploi et la discrimination dans la
fonction publique du Canada.

A ma droite se trouve Héléne Goulet, secrétaire générale de la
Commission. A sa droite, vous apercevez Nataliec Dagenais,
directrice responsable des enquétes. A ma gauche, il y a Alex Dei,
directeur, Programme de conformité a I’équité en matiére
d’emploi. A la gauche d’Alex, vous voyez Philippe Dufresne,
notre directeur du contentieux.

Votre comité est le seul comité parlementaire qui se consacre
uniquement aux droits de la personne. Evidemment, la
Commission et le Comité ont en commun de nombreux intéréts.
Jespére que nous marquons aujourd’hui le début d’un dialogue
permanent.

Pour mon premier témoignage devant le comité, je vais d’abord
situer notre travail concernant I’équité en emploi dans le contexte
du mandat général qui est le ndétre, puis je ferai le point en
particulier sur certains des progrés que nous réalisons et certains
des défis que nous avons a relever a cet égard. Je suis disposée a
répondre a toutes les questions que vous voudrez bien me poser.
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First, with respect to our broader mandate, our founding
legislation is the Canadian Human Rights Act, CHRA. It inspires
a vision for Canada where all individuals should have an
opportunity equal with other individuals to make for themselves
the lives they are able and wish to have, free from discrimination.

[Translation]

Under the CHRA, our mandate includes resolving human
rights disputes and fostering public understand and commitment
for human rights through education, policy development and
research.

In addition, of course, we have a compliance enforcement
mandate under the Employment Equity Act. The two acts, taken
together, give us the opportunity to work toward leading shifts in
systemic discrimination and society change.

How do we accomplish this? About 100 federal departments
and agencies and about 500 private sector employers are within
our jurisdiction.

[English]

When I arrived as the new chief commissioner 10 months ago, I
was pleased to join a modern organization well structured to
undertake its mandate and supported by an enormously talented
and dedicated staff.

We organize our work in three core areas: dispute resolution;
knowledge development; and discrimination prevention, which
includes our employment equity work.

Our Dispute Resolution Branch receives and processes
complaints of discrimination on the 11 grounds in our act. In
recent years, we have modernized our approach to better meet the
needs of those who access our services. Our objective is to resolve
disputes in a non-adversarial manner and at the earliest possible
stage while ensuring that the public interest is addressed.

The accessibility of our dispute resolution process is a key
consideration. Our act requires us to perform a type of triage
before dealing with any complaint, to deal only with those within
our specific jurisdiction and to not deal with those where
grievance or review procedures are otherwise reasonably
available. This can be confusing for an anxious person who
calls in with a concern. We have designed our intake procedures
to be sensitive to this and to provide information and options
where possible.

To provide opportunities for mediation or conciliation at every
stage of the process is a key part of our dispute resolution system.
We have experienced considerable success with this. Once a
complaint is determined to be within the jurisdiction of the
commission, about half are settled.

Premierement, en ce qui concerne notre mandat général, notre
texte fondateur est la Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne,
la LCDP. Celle-ci évoque une vision d’un Canada ou chacun a les
mémes possibilités de construire pour lui-méme la vie dont il peut
et dont il veut jouir, a I’abri de toute discrimination.

[Frangais]

D’apres la LCDP, notre mandat consiste notamment a régler
les différends en matiére de droits de la personne et a sensibiliser le
public a la question de ces droits par le truchement de I’éducation,
de Iélaboration de politiques et de la recherche.

En outre, bien entendu, nous prenons en charge la fonction de
controle d’application de la loi prévue dans la Loi sur 1’équité en
matiere d’emploi. Ensemble, c’est deux lois nous permettent de
jouer un réle marquant pour contrer la discrimination systémique
et encourager 1’évolution de la société.

Comment y parvenons-nous? Une centaine de ministéres et
d’organismes fédéraux ainsi qu’environ 500 employeurs du
secteur privé entrent dans notre champ d’action.

[Traduction)

Au moment d’assumer la présidence de la Commission, il y a
dix mois de cela, jétais trés heurecuse de me joindre a une
organisation moderne, bien structurée, apte a exercer son mandat
et comptant sur I'appui d'un personnel dévoué au talent
extraordinaire.

Nous divisons notre travail en trois catégories : le réglement
des différends, le développement de connaissances et la prévention
de la discrimination, qui englobe notre travail concernant I’équité
en emploi.

Notre Direction générale du réglement des différends regoit et
traite les plaintes de discrimination fondées sur les 11 motifs
énoncés dans notre loi habilitante. Ces derniéres années, nous
avons modernisé notre approche afin de mieux répondre aux
besoins de ceux qui se prévalent de nos services. Notre objectif
consiste a régler les différends sans antagonisme au premier stade
possible, tout en nous assurant de protéger I'intérét public.

L’accessibilité de notre processus de réglement des différends
est une considération clé. Du fait de notre loi habilitante, nous
devons procéder a une sorte de « triage » avant de traiter toute
plainte — de maniére a retenir seulement les plaintes qui relévent
de notre champ d’action particulier, et non pas celles que le
recours a d’autres procédures de grief ou d’examen, dans la
mesure ou elles sont raisonnablement accessibles, permettrait de
régler. Or, cela peut étre déroutant pour la personne anxieuse qui
nous appelle pour signaler un probléme. A cet égard, nous avons
congu des procédures bien adaptées a une telle situation; dans la
mesure du possible, nous donnons des renseignements pertinents
a la personne, notamment sur les options dont elle dispose.

Donner ’occasion de recourir a la médiation ou la conciliation
a tous les stades du processus représente un élément clé de notre
systéme de réglement des différends. Cela nous a valu un succés
considérable. Environ la moitié des plaintes sont déja réglées au
moment ou on détermine qu’elles entrent dans notre champ
d’action.
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Time-consuming investigations and continuing confrontation
are minimized through the settlement process. Settlements often
lead to a process of healing, as well as systemic changes within
organizations.

We are getting better and faster at processing cases.
The average age of cases has dropped from 25 months
in 2002 to 9.1 months today.

If a case is not settled after an investigation, it goes to the
commission for a decision. The commission has two statutory
options: It can dismiss a case if it concludes the evidence does not
support the allegations; or it can refer the case for a hearing
before the Canadian Human Rights Tribunal. About one in seven
cases is referred to the tribunal, and many of these are resolved
through mediation at the tribunal.

Commission lawyers participate in tribunal mediation and
hearings that have a strong public interest. When hearings are
held, they often result in decisions that advance human rights law
in important ways.

I will next describe our work in the knowledge centre.

[Translation]

A second key area of commission activity is knowledge
development. Through research, policy development and special
initiatives, we ensure that the Commission can get ahead of
emerging and evolving issues, providing research-based advice,
and informing and influencing public debate.

Another core activity for us is discrimination prevention. Our
prevention activities are aimed at influencing a positive shift in the
culture of human rights within those organizations that we
regulate. More than one million employees come under our
jurisdiction. The commission works with employers to create and
strengthen their internal processes for managing human rights
issues and to implement training and policies with the aim of
preventing workplace discrimination. The commission has
entered into memoranda of understanding with many key
employers. Cooperation in this regard has been excellent and
productive.

[English]

It is within our Discrimination Prevention Branch that our
employment equity mandate is implemented. We do this through
our audit role within the Employment Equity Act. This act
requires employers to address systemic discrimination by taking
measures to remove barriers to the employment of the four
designated groups.

The goal is to achieve the same level of representation, within
each organization, as the level of availability by qualified groups
in Canadian society.

Le processus de réglement permet de réduire au minimum les
longues enquétes et les affrontements constants. Le réglement
débouche souvent sur un processus de guérison aussi bien que sur
une évolution systémique a 'intérieur d’une organisation.

Nous parvenons a mieux traiter les affaires, et plus rapidement.
Le délai moyen de traitement des cas est passé de 25 mois
en 2002 a 9,1 mois aujourd’hui.

Si une affaire n’est pas réglée aprés une enquéte, la commission
est appelée a rendre une décision. La loi lui autorise a cet égard
deux options : la commission peut rejeter une cause si elle conclut
que la preuve ne confirme pas le bien-fondé des allégations; ou elle
peut renvoyer I’affaire devant le Tribunal canadien des droits de
la personne. C’est une affaire sur six environ qui est renvoyée au
tribunal. Bon nombre des causes ainsi déférées se reglent au
moyen de la médiation au tribunal en question.

Les avocats de la Commission participent au travail de
médiation et aux audiences du tribunal dans la mesure ou ces
derniéres suscitent un intérét public marqué. Les audiences
débouchent souvent sur une décision qui fait progresser le droit
en la matiére de fagons importantes.

Je wvais maintenant décrire notre travail au centre de
connaissances.

[Frangais)

Le deuxiéme grand secteur d’activités de la Commission est le
développement des connaissances. Par la recherche, I’élaboration
de politiques et des projets spéciaux, nous veillons a ce que la
commission puisse demeurer a 1’affit des questions nouvelles et
changeantes, prodiguer des conseils fondés sur des recherches
ainsi qu’informer et orienter le débat public.

La prévention de la discrimination représente pour nous une
autre grande activité. Nos activités de prévention visent & moduler
positivement la culture des droits de la personne au sein des
organisations que nous réglementons. Plus d’un million
d’employés entrent dans notre champ d’action. La Commission
travaille auprés des employeurs afin de créer et de renforcer leur
processus interne de gestion des questions relatives aux droits de
la personne et d’implanter une formation et des politiques visant a
prévenir la discrimination en milieu de travail. La Commission a
conclu un protocole d’entente avec bon nombre d’employeurs
importants. La coopération a cet égard s’est révélée excellente et
productive.

[Traduction]

C’est a l'intérieur de notre Direction générale de la prévention
de la discrimination que s’exerce notre mandat pour ce qui touche
I’équité en emploi. Le role de vérification qui nous a ainsi été
imparti reléve de la Loi sur I’équité en matiére d’emploi. Cette loi
exige des employeurs qu’ils luttent contre la discrimination
systémique en adoptant les mesures voulues pour éliminer les
obstacles a ’emploi des quatre groupes désignés.

Le but consiste a en arriver au méme degré de représentation,
au sein de chaque organisation, que le taux de disponibilité des
membres du groupe qualifiés au sein de la société canadienne.
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Employers under the Employment Equity Act must comply
with nine statutory requirements, such as the collection of
workforce information, the determination of
underrepresentation and a review of employment systems. They
must develop an employment equity plan explaining the steps
they are taking to meet their statutory obligations.

Initially compliance was voluntary, but, in 1995, Parliament
revised the act and mandated the CHRC to ensure that those
obligations were enforced through audits.

The commission has a two-stage audit process: Initially, a
preliminary audit is conducted to identify the extent to which the
employer is complying with the act. To be in compliance the
employer must have a plan to eliminate barriers and gaps in the
work place. For those areas where there is non-compliance, we
negotiate undertakings. Later, we conduct a second progress
audit to determine whether the employer has made efforts to
achieve progress in increasing representation of the designated
groups. If it deems necessary to do so, the commission can seek
enforcement through the Employment Equity Review Tribunal.

The experience of the commission in conducting compliance
audits illustrates some of the challenges in accomplishing the aims
of the Employment Equity Act. Since 1996, the commission has
undertaken initial audits of 252 employers. In only a few audits
did we find the employer to be compliant without negotiations of
undertakings after the preliminary audit.

Here are the statistics on compliance: 90 per cent of employers
came into compliance only after the commission had both
completed the preliminary audit and reached agreement with
the employers to undertake corrective measures.

The balance, about 10 per cent, required commencement of
enforcement measures by the commission before employers
agreed to take the required measures.

[Translation)

After the preliminary audit, the commission monitors the
progress of employers in achieving their short-term hiring goals
and long-term representation goals. Our monitoring activities
show that few organizations have met all their short-term hiring
goals. This demonstrates that employers have yet to fully take on
their responsibilities under the act.

On a more positive note, there is evidence that audits
conducted by the commission contribute to increasing the
representation of the designated groups in the public service.
However, representation of visible minorities remains below
labour market availability. The positive impact of audits is
diminished by the fact that the Commission is unable to carry out

Sous le régime de la Loi sur 1’équité en matiére d’emploi, les
employeurs doivent se conformer a neuf exigences comme
recueillir des informations sur leurs effectifs, déterminer le taux
de sous-représentation et examiner les systémes d’emploi. Ils
doivent également mettre au point un plan d’équité en emploi qui
explique les mesures qu’ils entendent prendre pour s’acquitter de
leurs obligations réglementaires.

Au départ, le respect de la loi était volontaire, mais, en 1995, le
Parlement a révisé la loi et donné pour mandat a la CCDP de
s’assurer, au moyen de vérifications, que les employeurs
respectent leurs obligations.

La Commission applique un processus de vérification en deux
étapes : premiérement, une vérification préliminaire permet de
déterminer la mesure dans laquelle 'employeur se conforme a la
loi. Pour étre jugé conforme, I’employeur doit avoir en place un
plan visant a éliminer les obstacles et les écarts en milieu de
travail. La ou I’employeur ne respecte pas la loi, nous négocions
avec lui. Plus tard, nous procédons a une enquéte de suivi visant a
déterminer si 'employeur a fait des progrés au chapitre de
I’accroissement du taux de représentation des groupes désignés
parmi ses employés. Si elle juge qu’il est nécessaire de le faire, la
commission peut recourir au Tribunal de 1’équité en matiére
d’emploi pour faire respecter la loi.

L’expérience de la Commission relativement aux vérifications
de la conformité avec la loi fait voir certains des problémes que
pose la réalisation des desseins de la Loi sur I’équité en matiére
d’emploi. Depuis 1996, la Commission a réalisé une vérification
initiale aupres de 252 employeurs. Ce n’est que dans une poignée
de cas que nous avons constaté que I’employeur se conformait a la
loi, sans qu’il y ait eu négociation d’engagements apres la
vérification préliminaire.

Voici les statistiques établies a propos de la conformité avec la
loi. Dans 90 p. 100 des cas, ’employeur s’est mis a observer la loi
seulement aprés que la commission a réalisé la vérification
préliminaire et s’est entendu avec lui pour qu’il adopte des
mesures correctives.

Le reste — environ 10 p. 100 — a da faire 'objet de mesures
d’exécution de la part de la commission avant que les employeurs
n’acceptent d’adopter les mesures requises.

[Frangais)

Aprés la vérification préliminaire, la Commission surveille la
progression de I'employeur quand il s’agit d’atteindre les objectifs
d’embauche a court terme et les objectifs de représentation a long
terme. Nos activités de contréle nous font voir que peu
d’organisations parviennent a atteindre tous leurs objectifs
d’embauche a court terme. Cela prouve que les employeurs
n’assument pas encore pleinement leurs responsabilités sous le
régime de la loi.

Sur une note plus positive, il y a lieu de croire que les
vérifications réalisées par la Commission favorisent un
accroissement du taux de représentation des membres des
groupes désignés au sein de la fonction publique. Cependant, le
taux de représentation des minorités visibles demeure en dega de
leur taux de disponibilité sur le marché du travail. L’impact positif
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audits as quickly as we would like. The workload has increased:
the number of employers subject to the Act has gone up by nearly
50% since 1997. Meantime, we have less resources dedicated to
conducting audits today then we had in 1997. To address this
issue, the commission has reorganized to meet the demands of the
changing environment. A new audit process is being implemented.
The response from employers subject to the new process has been
very positive.

We are currently conducting an objective review of our
resource structure to ensure that we are utilizing resources for
maximum effectiveness.

[English]

As the committee has rightly highlighted, the level of
representation of visible minorities in the Public Service of
Canada is unacceptable. Clearly, as your committee’s report from
last February put it, we are not there yet; indeed, we are not even
near there yet. Why is this so?

In your committee’s preliminary report, you concluded that a
key problem was corporate culture, an integral part of the way the
federal public service operates. I completely agree. As our audit
experience shows, far too often we have to lead employers
reluctantly along the path of employment equity. Rather than
seeing employment equity as integral to values and strategic
outcome, too often departments see it as another burdensome
requirement that has to be met.

Employment equity should not be seen as something within the
job description of an employment equity manager to be
monitored as a statistic. Rather, achieving employment equity
should be articulated in the organization’s vision, values and
objectives and be supported both in its business plans and
through institutionalized incentives, such as performance
measurement and accountabilities for all managers. To some
extent, the private sector has matured its understanding and
appreciation of employment equity. Some private sector
employers see employment equity not as an imposition but
rather as good business. They realize that having a work force
that represents the diversity of their customers helps them to
better serve the clientele and maximize profits.

As the recently released 2006 census data reconfirms, Canada is
one of the most multi-ethnic, multi-racial nations in the world. In
order to better serve all Canadians, our public service must reflect
that reality. Having a work force that represents Canadian
diversity will help departments to better serve all Canadians.

My colleagues and I would be pleased to answer your
questions.

des vérifications est diminué par le fait que la commission
n’arrive pas a effectuer ces vérifications aussi rapidement
qu’elle voudrait le faire. Le volume de travail a augmenté, le
nombre d’employeurs assujettis a la loi s’étant accru de prés
de 50 p. 100 depuis 1997. Ainsi, nous comptons sur moins de
ressources pour la réalisation des vérifications aujourd’hui
quen 1997. Pour régler le probléme, la Commission s’est
réorganisée afin de s’adapter aux exigences d’un milieu
changeant. Un nouveau processus de vérification est en train
d’étre implanté. Les employeurs assujettis au nouveau processus
réagissent trés favorablement.

En ce moment, nous menons un examen objectif de notre
structure de ressources pour nous assurer que nous employons
nos ressources avec un maximum d’efficacité.

[Traduction]

Comme le Comité I’'a souligné a juste titre, le degré de
représentation des minorités visibles au sein de la fonction
publique du Canada n’est pas acceptable. De toute évidence,
comme vous le disiez vous-méme dans votre rapport de février,
nous ne sommes pas encore parvenus au but. De fait, nous ne
nous en approchons méme pas. Pourquoi?

Dans le rapport préliminaire de votre comité, vous avez conclu
que le probléme résidait principalement dans la culture
organisationnelle, qu’il faisait partie intégrante de la facon dont
la fonction publique fonctionne. Je suis tout a fait d’accord avec
vous. Comme I’expérience des vérifications le montre, beaucoup
trop souvent, nous devons pousser des employeurs récalcitrants
sur le chemin de 1’équité en emploi. Plutét que de voir 1’équité
comme faisant partie des valeurs et des résultats stratégiques, les
ministéres y voient trop souvent une autre de ces exigences qu’il
faut supporter.

L’équité en emploi ne devrait pas étre assimilée a une tache qui
appartient a un gestionnaire de I’équité en emploi, a un contrdle
destiné a alimenter les statistiques. La réalisation de 1’équité en
emploi devrait plutot figurer dans la vision, les valeurs et les
objectifs mémes de I'organisation; elle devrait étre appuyée a la
fois dans le plan d’activités et au moyen de mesures incitatives
officielles, comme les mesures du rendement et les comptes a
rendre de tous les gestionnaires. Dans une certaine mesure, le
secteur privé a miri et appris a mieux comprendre et apprécier
I’équité en emploi. Certains employeurs du secteur privé voient
I’équité en emploi non pas comme quelque chose d’imposé, mais
plutét comme une bonne pratique. Ils se rendent compte du fait
qu'un effectif représentatif de la diversité de leur client¢le les aide
a mieux servir la clientéle et a maximiser les profits.

Comme le confirment les données du recensement
de 2006 publiées récemment, le Canada figure parmi les pays les
plus diversifiés du monde sur le plan ethnique et racial. Afin de
mieux servir tous les Canadiens, notre fonction publique doit
refléter cette réalité. Disposer d’un effectif qui représente la
diversité canadienne aidera les ministéres a mieux servir tous les
Canadiens et Canadiens.

Mes collégues et moi-méme serons heureux de répondre a vos
questions.
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Senator Poy: Ms. Lynch, it sounds as though you have a huge
mandate. I would like to figure out how your audit is done. Maria
Barrados was here from the federal public service, and she said
exactly what you said, that in the visible minority group, the
percentage has gone down.

When do you do your audit? Obviously, they are doing it too.
Is there an overlap?

Ms. Lynch: To begin with, employment equity audits, also
known as compliance reviews, are conducted by the commission
in an independent and systematic manner on employers to ensure
that they are fulfilling their obligations under the Employment
Equity Act. The employers’ obligations are detailed in the act and
include identifying and eliminating employment barriers,
instituting positive policies and practices, and making
reasonable accommodations. For implementation, employers
are expected to collect information, conduct an analysis and
conduct a full review of their systems, policies and practices to
identify barriers.

They are required to prepare an employment equity plan. It
must specify the positive practices and policies in the short term
for hiring, training, promotion and retention. In addition, it must
specify specific measures for eliminating barriers, establishing a
timetable, establishing short-term numerical goals for hiring and
promotion, set out longer-term goals, et cetera.

We regulate all government departments and agencies, and
those private sector employers in telecommunications,
transportation and financial industries, federally regulated
industries, who have 100 or more employees. Those employers
increase in number as companies are founded or have more than
100 employees. They are to have an employment equity plan, as [
have just described, and we can go in to start auditing after two
years.

That being the case, we start with what we call an “initial
audit.” We go in to see if they are in compliance, which really
means whether they have an employment equity plan. It is not
whether they are reaching their numerical goals yet. The act
allows them to establish short-term goals, which is defined as one
to three years. If we see the picture developing, they have two
years after forming to having more than 100 employees in the
private sector, and then of course they would normally pick the
three-year part of the one to three years for their short-term goals.

We then do a preliminary report as to whether they are in
compliance. After a period of time, we will go back and conduct a
progress audit to determine how they are doing if they have made
reasonable efforts. Section 12 of the act states that every employer
will make all reasonable efforts to implement its employment
equity plan and monitor implementation. We do a progress audit
after that. This is our role and what we do.

Le sénateur Poy : Madame Lynch, il semble que vous ayez un
énorme mandat. Je voudrais savoir comment votre vérification est
effectuée. Lors de sa comparution, Maria Barrados, de la
Commission de la fonction publique, nous a dit exactement la
méme chose, c’est-a-dire que la représentation en pourcentage des
minorités visibles avait diminué.

Quand pensez-vous effectuer votre vérification? De toute
évidence, vous n’étes pas les seuls a le faire. Y a-t-il un
chevauchement entre les deux vérifications?

Mme Lynch : Pour commencer, les vérifications de la
conformité a I’équité en matiére d’emploi, ou tout simplement
les vérifications de conformité, sont effectuées par la commission,
en toute indépendance et de maniére systématique, et visent a
s’assurer que les employeurs s’acquittent de leurs obligations en
vertu de la Loi sur ’équité en matiére d’emploi. Les employeurs
sont tenus de relever les obstacles a ’emploi et de les éliminer, de
mettre en ceuvre des politiques et des pratiques positives et de faire
des accommodements raisonnables. A cet égard, ils devront
recueillir de 'information, I’analyser et revoir enti¢rement leurs
systémes, politiques et pratiques afin de cerner les obstacles.

Il leur incombe de préparer un plan d’équité en emploi. Celui-ci
doit préciser les politiques et pratiques positives a court terme en
matiére d’embauche, de formation, de promotion et de maintien
en poste. En outre, il doit décrire en détail les mesures destinées a
¢liminer les obstacles, a établir un calendrier, a fixer des objectifs
numériques a court et a long terme pour I'embauche et la
promotion, et cetera.

Nous réglementons tous les ministéres et organismes du
gouvernement, de méme que les employeurs du secteur privé
dans le domaine des télécommunications, des transports et des
finances, qui sont assujettis aux régles fédérales et qui
comptent 100 employés ou plus. Le nombre de ces employeurs
augmentent a mesure que des sociétés sont créées ou dépassent
les 100 employés. Ceux-ci auront deux ans pour élaborer un plan
d’équité en emploi, comme je viens de le décrire, aprés quoi nous
amorcerons notre vérification.

Le cas échéant, nous commengons par ce que nous appelons
une « vérification initiale ». Nous déterminons s’ils sont en
conformité avec la loi, c’est-a-dire s’ils ont au moins un plan
d’équité en emploi. A ce moment-1a, il ne s’agit pas de savoir s’ils
ont atteint les objectifs qu’ils se sont fixés a court terme. Selon la
définition qu’en donne la loi, les employeurs disposent d’un a trois
ans. Autrement dit, aprés s’étre établis, ils ont deux ans pour avoir
plus de 100 employés dans le secteur privé, et bien sir, ils
réaliseront normalement leurs objectifs a court terme au cours de
la troisiéme année.

Nous rédigeons ensuite un rapport préliminaire sur leur
conformité. Aprés un certain temps, nous évaluerons les progres
réalisés afin de déterminer si les efforts qu’ils ont déployés ont
porté fruit. L’article 12 de la loi stipule que tout employeur
prendra toutes les mesures raisonnables en vue de la mise en
ccuvre de son plan et assurera le suivi régulier de celle-ci. Nous
procédons ensuite a une vérification de suivi. C’est notre role et ce
que nous faisons.
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Senator Poy: Is there an overlap? You are actually looking at
their report.

Ms. Lynch: No. That is what we are doing in terms of auditing.
We have the statutory mandate for an audit. In the federal public
service, the Treasury Board, via the Canadian Public Service
Agency, and the Public Service Commission jointly assume the
employers’ responsibilities. Therefore, the Public Service
Commission is accountable for the appointment of qualified
persons, and they audit how departments use these appointment
authorities. That is very different from, in essence, the laundry list
I read to you of the process that an employer must follow. They
are looking within the public service about the appointment of
qualified persons, and that is the form of audit that they do.

Senator Poy: Where does your commission come in in a case
such as that?

Ms. Lynch: It does not come in. We have a separate audit
related to the numerical goal: Is there an employment equity plan?
Does it address the matters listed in the Employment Equity Act?
We are not looking at the Public Service Employment Act.

Senator Poy: What is happening, now that the only designated
group not reaching the goal is the group of visible minorities? Is
your job to designate what the employers should be doing?

Ms. Lynch: We start with looking for the employment equity
plan, and, of course, the employer can announce that they will be
engaged in positive practices, positive policies, et cetera.

We have, in our other prevention work, started to build a
memorandum of understanding with employers. We have created
an employer advisory council. This council gets together to share
best practices. We can step forward and help with the opportunity
of sharing of best practices. However, as the auditors, we do not
ourselves propose practices to them.

Mr. Dei, the Director of the Employment Equity Compliance
Division, may very well have more he would like to add.

Alex Dei, Director, Employment Equity Compliance Division,
Canadian Human Rights Commission: Because of the audit process
we do, we do identify deficiencies that we notice in the audit work.
As part of the work we do, we can ask the employers to meet
certain requirements, as my chief commissioner has said, which
would include deficiencies in hiring practices. We look at positive
practices, measures that could be taken; for example, we talk
about ways that we can advertise to reach the targeted groups
with which we are dealing.

Our work really deals with four designated groups: women,
Aboriginals, visible minorities and people with disabilities. We
can suggest to the employers that we would prefer that they do
certain activities to increase the representation levels. One of the

Le sénateur Poy: Y a-t-il un chevauchement? Vous vous
penchez actuellement sur leur rapport.

Mme Lynch : Non. C’est ce que nous faisons en matiére de
vérification. C’est le mandat qui nous a été conféré par la loi.
Dans la fonction publique fédérale, le Conseil du Trésor, par
I'intermédiaire de ’Agence canadienne de la fonction publique, et
la Commission de la fonction publique assument conjointement
les responsabilités des employeurs. Par conséquent, la
Commission de la fonction publique est responsable de la
nomination des personnes qualifiées, et elle vérifie comment les
ministéres se servent de ces pouvoirs de nomination.
Essentiellement, c’est trés différent des mesures que je vous ai
lues que doit prendre un employeur. Elle s’intéresse a la
nomination des personnes qualifiées au sein de la fonction
publique, et c’est le genre de vérification qu’elle effectue.

Le sénateur Poy : Ou votre Commission intervient-elle dans un
cas comme celui-ci?

Mme Lynch : Elle n’intervient pas. Nous avons une vérification
distincte liée a 1’objectif numérique. Y a-t-il un plan d’équité en
emploi? Si oui, traite-t-il de questions énumérées dans la Loi sur
I’équité en matiére d’emploi? Notre travail ne reléve pas de la Loi
sur I’'emploi dans la fonction publique.

Le sénateur Poy : Qu’est-ce qui se passe, maintenant que le seul
groupe désigné a ne pas atteindre ’objectif est celui des minorités
visibles? Est-ce votre travail de dire aux employeurs ce qu’ils
devraient faire?

Mme Lynch : Nous commengons par examiner le plan d’équité
en emploi et, bien sir, I'employeur peut annoncer qu’il misera
notamment sur des pratiques et des politiques positives.

Dans le cadre de notre travail de prévention, nous avons
commencé a élaborer un protocole d’entente avec les employeurs.
Nous avons créé un conseil consultatif des employeurs. Ce conseil
se réunit pour partager des pratiques exemplaires. Nous allons
intervenir et contribuer a 1’échange de meilleures pratiques.
Toutefois, il ne nous appartient pas, en tant que vérificateurs,
de proposer des pratiques.

M. Dei, directeur, Programme de conformité a 1’équité en
mati¢re d’emploi, a certainement quelque chose a ajouter.

Alex Dei, directeur, Programme de la conformité a I’équité en
matiére d’emploi, Commission canadienne des droits de la
personne : Notre processus de vérification nous permet de
relever des lacunes. Dans le cadre de notre travail, nous
pouvons demander a I'employeur de se conformer a certaines
exigences, comme la présidente I’a dit, si nous décelons des
lacunes dans ses pratiques d’embauche. Nous nous penchons sur
les pratiques positives et les mesures qui pourraient étre prises, par
exemple, et nous discutons des moyens de rejoindre les groupes
cibles dont nous avons besoin.

Notre travail porte vraiment sur quatre groupes désignés : les
femmes, les Autochtones, les minorités visibles et les personnes
handicapées. Nous pouvons laisser sous-entendre aux employeurs
que nous préférerions qu’ils ménent certaines activités pour
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key ways to do that is through the elimination of barriers to
employment. That is the process we use.

Senator Poy: Even if you see the numbers decreasing, there is
not really very much you can do. Is that the answer?

Ms. Lynch: Our mandate is, first of all, to conduct the audits,
and then we can negotiate undertakings if we feel there are
deficiencies. If we either cannot negotiate the undertakings or
they are breached, we can issue directions. If we issue directions
and they are breached et cetera, we can refer to the Employment
Equity Review Tribunal.

However, I would like to refer you to subsection 22(2) of the
Employment Equity Act, which says:

The Commission shall, in discharging its responsibility
under subsection(1) , be guided by the policy that, wherever
possible, cases of non-compliance be resolved through
persuasion and the negotiation of written undertakings
pursuant to subsection 25(1) and that directions be issued
under subsections 25(2) or (3) and applications for orders be
made under subsection 27(2) only as a last resort.

We do the audits, and we negotiate undertakings. Our mandate
is more persuasive. A big question at any time is how to define a
last resort.

The accountability for increased representation is with the
employer, which takes us, within the Canadian public service, to
the Treasury Board and the shared responsibility with the Public
Service Commission.

Senator Poy: Do you normally only deal with the employers?
Can employees come to you for dispute resolution?

Ms. Lynch: Thank you for that question. Traditionally, we
have been known — almost exclusively — to process individual
complaints for discrimination, and that is a very large part of the
work that we do. That falls under the Canadian Human Rights
Act, which seeks to give effect to the principle that every
individual has the right, equal with others, to make for themselves
the life they wish to and are able to have without discrimination
based on 11 grounds. We receive complaints from individuals,
and sometimes groups, based on any one of those grounds of
discrimination, and we process them through a specific
methodology.

Our commission went through a metamorphosis in the last few
years. We are very innovative in offering dialogue and mediation,
alternative forms of dispute resolution, even before we receive a
formal complaint. We have some marvellous success stories about
helping people come together to resolve their differences, without
the need for a formal complaint. Yes, we do receive individual
complaints.

accroitre les niveaux de représentation. Lun des principaux
moyens d’y arriver est d’éliminer les obstacles a ’emploi. Tel est le
processus que nous utilisons.

Le sénateur Poy : Méme si vous voyez que les chiffres sont a la
baisse, il n’y a pas grand-chose que vous puissiez faire, n’est-ce
pas?

Mme Lynch : Notre mandat consiste, en premier lieu, a
procéder a des vérifications. Nous pouvons ensuite négocier des
engagements avec les employeurs si nous estimons qu’il y a des
lacunes. Si n’arrivons pas a nous entendre ou s’ils ne respectent
pas les engagements qu’ils ont pris, nous pouvons formuler des
directives. Ensuite, si les employeurs ne s’y conforment pas, nous
pouvons faire appel au Tribunal de I’équité en matiére d’emploi.

Toutefois, je voudrais vous renvoyer au paragraphe 22(2) de la
Loi sur I’équité en matiére d’emploi, qui se lit comme suit :

Dans l'exercice de la responsabilité que lui confére le
paragraphe (1), la Commission est tenue, en cas de
non-observation, de mettre en ceuvre, dans toute la mesure
du possible, une politique de réglement négocié en vue de
I’obtention d’un engagement sous le régime du
paragraphe 25(1) et de n’avoir recours aux ordres et
ordonnances respectivement visés aux paragraphes 25(2) et
(3) et 27(2) qu’en dernier lieu.

Nous faisons des vérifications et nous négocions des
engagements. Nous avons davantage un role de persuasion. La
grande question qui revient tout le temps, c’est qu’est-ce qu’on
entend par dernier recours?

Il incombe a I’employeur d’accroitre la représentation, ce qui
nous ameéne, au sein de la fonction publique du Canada, au
Conseil du Trésor et a la responsabilité partagée avec la
Commission de la fonction publique.

Le sénateur Poy : En général, traitez-vous uniquement avec les
employeurs? Les employés s’adressent-ils a vous pour régler leurs
différends?

Mme Lynch : Je vous remercie pour cette question. Nous
avons toujours été reconnus — presque exclusivement — pour
traiter les plaintes individuelles de discrimination, et c’est une tres
grande partie du travail que nous faisons. Nous appliquons la Loi
canadienne sur les droits de la personne. Celle-ci repose sur le
principe selon lequel tout individu a droit, autant que les autres,
de mener la vie qu’il souhaite, et ce, a I’abri de la discrimination.
Nous recevons des plaintes de particuliers, et parfois de groupes,
fondées sur I’'un ou I'autre des 11 motifs de discrimination, et nous
les traitons en recourant a des méthodes particuliéres.

Notre Commission a subi une métamorphose au cours de ces
derniéres années. Nous sommes trés innovateurs. Nous tentons de
régler les différends, entre autres, par le dialogue et la médiation,
et ce, avant méme que nous ne recevions une plainte officielle.
Nous avons quelques merveilleux exemples de réussite ou nous
avons aidé des individus a se réunir pour régler leurs différends,
sans qu’il soit nécessaire de déposer une plainte officielle. Oui,
nous recevons des plaintes individuelles.
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Senator Poy: Do individuals go to the provincial human rights
commission before coming to you, or can they come directly to
you?

Ms. Lynch: It is a very complicated area. The Canadian
Human Rights Act mandate stems from two things. Is the matter
a ground of discrimination enumerated in our act? They are race,
age, sex, sexual orientation, religion, national origin, colour,
family status, marital status, disability and conviction for an
offence for which there has been a pardon. If it is one of those
grounds of discrimination and if it relates to an employer or
service provider that is either a government department or
agency, or one of these employers from a federally regulated
industry with more than 100 employees, then we can take the
complaint.

We are in Ontario here, so giving that as an example, if a
person has an issue and it is one of those grounds of
discrimination related to service or employment by one of those
organizations, then it comes to us. If it is about something else, it
would most likely go to the provincial commission.

Senator Jaffer: Thank you very much, Chief Commissioner
and all of you. From your comments, we as a committee can see
that we are looking at ways to work together to improve the
situation. My questions to you will be in that light of how,
together, we change. You mentioned a number of issues upon
which I may need clarification.

Senator Poy asked you about auditing, and maybe you can
explain. Is there an audit for hiring practices?

Mr. Dei: I will try to explain it this way. The audit work we do
is really geared toward measuring the level of representation,
levels that we have for the four different groups. We use nine
criteria as per the Employment Equity Act to determine these. To
some degree, we do not really go into those levels of specifics. We
look to see that the employer has been able to establish to us that
they are making efforts, starting to eliminate barriers to
employment. Hiring practices, for example, fall in that category.
Therefore, yes, we do it in that sense. I do not know if this
answers the question.

Senator Jaffer: Yes, it does answer the question because how
and where they are hired sort of helps to retain people. You do
look at that. Is that my understanding?

Mr. Dei: Yes, we do.

Senator Jaffer: Many words have been used, and I am happy
you gave a definition of “discrimination,” Chief Commissioner.
Could you give a definition of “systemic problems” within the
Public Service Commission on these issues of hiring?

Ms. Lynch: By all means, we will do our best. This stems from
section 10 of our act. Mr. Dufresne, the director of our legal
services, will answer.

Le sénateur Poy : Est-ce que les gens s’adressent d’abord a vous
ou a leur commission provinciale des droits de la personne?

Mme Lynch : C’est un domaine trés complexe. Le mandat de la
Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne découle de deux
choses. S’agit-il d’un des motifs de discrimination énumérés dans
la loi, c’est-a-dire la race, I’age, le sexe, 'orientation sexuelle, la
religion, I'origine nationale, la couleur, la situation de famille,
I’état matrimonial, la déficience et I’état de personne graciée? Si la
plainte est fondée sur 'un de ces onze motifs et qu’elle se rapporte
a un employeur ou a un fournisseur de services, qui est un
ministére ou un organisme gouvernemental, ou l'un de ces
employeurs sous réglementation fédérale qui comptent plus de
100 employés, alors nous pouvons la considérer.

Ici en Ontario, par exemple, si une personne estime étre victime
de discrimination de la part de I'une de ces organisations pour les
motifs susmentionnés, elle s’adresse a nous. Autrement, elle ferait
probablement appel a la Commission provinciale.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Merci beaucoup, madame la présidente et
vous tous ici présents. D’aprés ce que vous dites, en tant que
comité, nous cherchons des moyens de travailler ensemble pour
améliorer la situation. Mes questions porteront sur les
changements que nous pouvons apporter ensemble. Vous avez
évoqué un certain nombre de questions sur lesquelles j’aurais
besoin de clarification.

Le sénateur Poy vous a interrogé au sujet de la vérification, et
vous pourriez peut-étre nous donner plus d’explications.
Existe-t-il une vérification des pratiques d’embauche?

M. Dei : Je vais essayer de ’expliquer de cette maniere. Notre
travail de vérification est vraiment axé sur la mesure des niveaux
de représentation des quatre groupes désignés. A cette fin, nous
utilisons les neuf critéres prévus dans la Loi sur I'équité en matiere
d’emploi. Dans une certaine mesure, nous n’entrons pas vraiment
dans les détails. Nous attendons de voir si 'employeur a déployé
des efforts, en commengant par éliminer les obstacles a I’emploi.
Les pratiques d’embauche, par exemple, entrent dans cette
catégorie. Donc, oui, nous le faisons dans ce sens. Je ne sais pas
si cela répond a votre question.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Tout a fait, car le mode et le lieu de
recrutement contribuent, en quelque sorte, a conserver nos
effectifs. Je crois comprendre que vous vous penchez la-dessus.
Est-ce que je me trompe?

M. Dei : Non.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Beaucoup de mots ont été employés, et je
suis heureux que vous ayez donné une définition de la
« discrimination », madame la présidente. Pourriez-vous définir
ce quon entend par « problémes systémiques » au sein de la
Commission de la fonction publique concernant I’embauche?

Mme Lynch : Bien sir, nous ferons de notre mieux. Cette
situation découle de I’article 10 de notre loi. Je vais laisser le soin
a M. Dufresne, le directeur de nos services juridiques, de vous
répondre.
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Philippe Dufresne, Director and Senior Counsel, Litigation
Services Division, Canadian Human Rights Commission: The Chief
Commissioner mentioned that we have jurisdiction under two
acts, the Canadian Human Rights Act and the Employment
Equity Act. Under the Canadian Human Rights Act, complaints
of discrimination can be filed with the commission either with
respect to employment or services. Under employment
complaints, individuals may file what we refer to as systemic
complaints or policy complaints. Those would be complaints
where the allegation is that the discrimination is not solely in a
specific case but rather flows from policies or systems and has an
impact on a broader group of employees in a given workplace or
in a given industry. Pay equity would be an example of a systemic
type of discrimination, where the issue is practices that, over time,
have an impact against women.

Employment under the Employment Equity Act, when dealing
with issues of underrepresentation, also has a systemic aspect to
it. However, when we refer to systemic discrimination, we most
often talk about, under the Canadian Human Rights Act,
complaints under section 10 or other sections that affect a
group, an industry or a system.

Senator Jaffer: That is very helpful. Can you please tell me,
then, what you have identified as the systemic problems for visible
minorities under that?

Mr. Dufresne: From the standpoint of the Canadian Human
Rights Act, we deal with complaints that are filed, so it is difficult
to speculate as the types of situations. We have certainly had
systemic complaints filed with the commission and referred to
tribunal that have given rise to decision of the tribunal. We can
think of examples such as policies that have a discriminatory
impact on persons with disabilities because it makes it difficult or
impossible for persons with disabilities to work in a given
workplace, and similar situations involving race or sex. If it has an
impact on a group, then that would be identified as a systemic
discrimination.

Senator Jaffer: Have you identified anything in particular as a
systemic discrimination against visible minorities?

Mr. Dufresne: We have seen situations, for example, at the
Canadian Human Rights Tribunal, such as a decision of the
tribunal finding an employer using a criterion such as dismissing
or not hiring individuals who are overqualified for the job. A case
went to the tribunal where a person who was a visible minority
could not get a position. The person was qualified — in fact, was
overqualified — for that position, and there was a belief from the
employer that because of that overqualification this person would
become bored with the job, would be unsatisfied and would have
a tendency to leave, which would be a problem for the employer
with respect to maintaining staff and limiting turnover. In this
case we, the commission, participated, made submissions,
brought in an expert and the evidence was accepted at the
tribunal that a criterion such as that, although it appeared

Philippe Dufresne, directeur et avocat-conseil, Division des
services du contentieux, Commission canadienne des droits de la
personne : La présidente de la Commission a indiqué que nous
exercions nos pouvoirs en vertu de deux lois, soit la Loi
canadienne sur les droits de la personne et la Loi sur 1’équité en
matiere d’emploi. Au sens de la Loi canadienne sur les droits de la
personne, les plaintes de discrimination peuvent étre déposées
auprés de la commission, qu’elles portent sur I’emploi ou la
prestation de services. Conformément a la Loi sur ’équité en
matiére d’emploi, les personnes peuvent déposer ce que nous
appelons des « plaintes systémiques ou relatives a des
politiques ». Dans ce cas, la discrimination résulte de politiques
ou de systémes et ne touche pas qu’une seule personne, mais
plutot un large groupe d’employés dans un lieu de travail ou un
secteur d’activité donné. L’équité salariale serait un exemple de
discrimination systémique, puisque des pratiques, au fil du temps,
ont désavantagé les femmes.

En vertu de la Loi sur I’équité en matiére d’emploi, les
problémes de sous-représentation comportent aussi un aspect
systémique. Cependant, quand on parle de discrimination
systémique, conformément a la Loi canadienne sur les droits de
la personne, il est plus souvent question de plaintes déposées en
vertu de Iarticle 10 ou d’autres articles qui ont une incidence sur
un groupe, un secteur d’activité ou un systéme.

Le sénateur Jaffer : C’est trés utile. Pourriez-vous me dire ce
que vous avez relevé comme problémes systémiques relativement
aux minorités visibles?

M. Dufresne : Du point de vue de la Loi canadienne sur les
droits de la personne, nous nous occupons des plaintes qui sont
déposées; il est donc difficile de spéculer sur les types de
situations. Nous avons certainement recu des plaintes
systémiques, a la Commission, que nous avons renvoyées au
tribunal afin qu’il prenne une décision. Nous pouvons penser a
des politiques qui ont un effet discriminatoire sur les personnes
handicapées, par exemple, lorsqu’il est difficile, voire impossible,
pour elles de travailler dans un lieu de travail donné, et a d’autres
situations similaires impliquant la race ou le sexe. Si la
discrimination a un impact sur un groupe, on peut considérer
qu’il s’agit d’une discrimination systémique.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Avez-vous remarqué une discrimination
systémique a I’égard des minorités visibles?

M. Dufresne : Nous avons vu des situations, par exemple, au
Tribunal canadien des droits de la personne, ot un employeur se
justifiait en disant qu’il avait congédié ou refusé d’embaucher des
personnes parce qu’elles étaient surqualifiées pour le poste. Une
affaire a été portée devant le tribunal au sujet d’une personne,
appartenant a une minorité visible, qui n’avait pas pu obtenir un
poste. La personne était qualifiée — en fait, surqualifiée — pour
le poste, et ’'employeur croyait qu’elle se lasserait de son travail et
finirait par partir, compte tenu de sa surqualification, ce qui
poserait probléme a ’employeur, s’il veut maintenir son personnel
et limiter le roulement. Dans ce cas, la Commission est intervenue
et a présenté des arguments, a fait venir un expert et a réussi a
prouver au tribunal qu’une telle justification, méme si elle
semblait objective, a eu un impact négatif sur les minorités
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neutral, had an adverse impact on visible minorities because
visible minorities tended to be overqualified for jobs, for which
there were a number of reasons. This was identified as a problem.
This decision of the tribunal now states that it is against the
Canadian Human Rights Act to use such a criterion.

Senator Jaffer: Your paper, Chief Commissioner, has been
very useful. I know we will be referring to it. On page 7, the last
paragraph, on a very positive note you say that there has been
improvement in the representation of designated groups.
Unfortunately, we cannot have the same kind of joy about
visible minorities.

Have you identified why visible minorities are falling
backwards rather than moving forward?

Ms. Lynch: 1 will start by saying that it is not within our
mandate to identify why. Many witnesses who have come here
have given their opinions about the reasons why there is this gap.
Some of the reports, such as Embracing Change, for example, had
some useful recommendations. In my opening remarks, I referred
to something I have not heard referred to exactly that way before
when I talked about institutionalized incentives.

An example of an institutionalized incentive would be when
you build into the performance bonuses of deputy ministers; yet
there are a number of other institutionalized incentives that could
be brought to bear, some of them more in the form of
encouragement rather than enforcement, if you will. For
example, we know organizational change can be brought about
when people are encouraged to engage in pledges or
commitments. We have seen that most recently with Indian and
Northern Affairs Canada and the Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs,
where Indian and Northern Affairs Canada has committed to hire
50 per cent Aboriginals. That type of pledge or commitment can
be key.

I would like to introduce the language of integrating
employment equity into daily practice. Departments can have
overarching articulations of this; for example, rewording mission
statements of values, and even such small things as standing
agenda items to check on how we are doing so it is not an annual,
sudden thing.

The recognition and awards are also important. Of course,
there can be other creative financial incentives that are not
necessarily tied to pay. That is something that I might suggest be
looked at: other forms of institutionalized incentives other than
just performance pay.

Might I have a couple of minutes to touch on culture change?
We talk about the need for a change of culture. Most of the
dialogue on this has been around what I might call one of the least
inspiring drivers of change, which is compliance. I often talk
about drivers for change as the five Cs: compliance, cost,
competition, crisis and culture.

When we talk about compliance, that would be, for example,
our role, employment equity audits. This is what we have mostly
been relying on. We have been saying that this is the requirement

visibles parce que celles-ci avaient tendance a étre surqualifiées
pour les emplois, pour toute sortes de raisons. Ceci a été considéré
comme un probleme. Cette décision du tribunal indique
maintenant qu’une personne qui invoque une telle justification
enfreint la Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Votre document, madame la présidente, a
été trés utile. Je sais que nous allons nous y reporter. A la
page 7, au dernier paragraphe, sur une note trés positive, vous
dites qu’il y a eu des améliorations au niveau de la représentation
des groupes désignés. Malheureusement, nous ne pouvons pas
nous réjouir autant pour ce qui est des minorités visibles.

Savez-vous pourquoi on fait marche arriére?

Mme Lynch : Premiérement, sachez qu’il n’est pas dans notre
mandat de déterminer le pourquoi. De nombreux témoins sont
venus ici et ont donné leur avis sur les raisons de cette lacune.
Certains des rapports, comme Faire place au changement, par
exemple, renfermaient quelques recommandations utiles. Dans
mes remarques liminaires, quand j’ai parlé des mesures incitatives
officielles, je n’en avais jamais entendu parler en ces termes exacts
auparavant.

Un exemple d’une mesure incitative officielle serait les primes
de rendement versées aux sous-ministres; toutefois, il y a plusieurs
autres mesures incitatives officielles qui pourraient étre prises, ou
on utilise davantage les encouragements que les punitions, si je
puis ainsi dire. Par exemple, nous savons que le changement
organisationnel peut étre facilité quand les gens sont encouragés a
prendre des engagements. Nous 1’avons observé trés récemment
par I’accord conclu entre Affaires indiennes et du Nord Canada et
I’Assemblée des chefs du Manitoba, dans lequel le ministére s’est
engagé a accorder 50 p. 100 des postes vacants a des
Autochtones. Ce type de promesse ou d’engagement peut étre
déterminant.

Jaimerais qu’on parle de I'intégration de I’équité en emploi
dans les pratiques quotidiennes. Les ministéres peuvent prendre
des initiatives globales comme reformuler les énoncés de mission
concernant les valeurs, et méme revoir des détails de I'ordre du
jour, pour suivre I’évolution de la situation, de fagon a ce que cela
ne se fasse pas soudainement, une fois par an.

La reconnaissance et les récompenses sont aussi importantes.
Bien sir, il peut y avoir d’autres incitatifs financiers qui ne sont
pas nécessairement liés a la rémunération. C’est quelque chose qui
pourrait étre envisagé : des mesures incitatives officielles autres
que la rémunération au rendement.

Pourrais-je prendre quelques minutes pour aborder le
changement de culture? Nous parlons de la nécessité de changer
la culture. La plupart des discussions ont porté sur ce que je
considére 'un des facteurs de changement les moins inspirants,
c’est-a-dire la conformité. Je parle souvent des moteurs de
changement comme des cinq C : conformité, coit, concurrence,
crise et culture.

Lorsque nous parlons de conformité, ce serait, par exemple, les
vérifications de la conformité a I’équité en matiére d’emploi que
nous faisons. C’est ce sur quoi nous nous appuyons le plus
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of the Employment Equity Act, so it must be done, and that is
least likely to inspire employers. Employers will find most of their
inspiration in cost, competition, crisis and culture. When we take
cost, competition and crisis together, this is what we have
normally been hearing as part of the business case. It is the cost of
not doing this — the need to compete for the best talent and the
oncoming crisis in the demographics of our aging population are
very valid. However, most recently in your report, Not There Yet,
and in some witness testimony, as I have mentioned, there is a
growing conversation around organizational culture. I believe
that this change in culture, that fifth C, is really the key, the
missing piece.

Why would I say it is the missing piece? I copied out one of the
points you made in Not There Yet. You related this to such areas
as confronting discriminatory attitudes, finding ways to address
emotional or psychological resistance and fostering a supportive
workplace that is understanding of differences.

I agree, and I would add another critical piece around culture
that might serve to address the resistance. It starts with how we
have modernized our front line business delivery models today. If
we are the police, we engage in community-based policing. If we
are tax collectors, we no longer just scoop the money out of the
bank account; we use a cooperative problem-solving model. If we
run prisons, we work with communities in a restorative way to
prepare the community for the safe reintegration of the offender.
If we are judges or quasi-judicial officers, we engage the parties in
dialogue and mediation. If we are in banking, we appoint bank
ombudsmen, emphasize customer satisfaction and seek out
customer complaints. As I mentioned when I read section 22 of
the Employment Equity Act, even in our enforcement powers, we
must be guided by negotiation and the practices of persuasion.

Where am I going with this? We have changed our front line
business practices toward a cooperative, problem-solving culture
rather than a take-it-or-leave-it culture. These new cultures have
in common that they are based on creative, inclusive dialogue,
partnerships, how we treat people, how we solve problems and
make decisions. They also include ensuring that the front line
reflects Canadian culture and diversity; yet, some, many whom we
regulate, have lagged behind in aligning their internal business
cultures to reflect this creativity, this inclusiveness and diversity.
Organizations need to integrate culture, diversity and the
creativity it brings throughout the entire organization, not just
at the front line and not just at the deputy minister level, but at all
line levels. When this alignment and integration is achieved, then
the organization has the highest likelihood of success with its
corporate objectives. When it is not achieved, the front line senses

souvent. Nous avons toujours dit que c’est une exigence de la Loi
sur 1’équité en matiére d’emploi qui doit étre respectée, ce qui est
loin d’inspirer les employeurs. Ceux-ci trouveront leur inspiration,
en grande partie, dans le colt, la concurrence, la crise et la
culture. Les trois premiers facteurs sont ceux qui ressortaient
normalement du cadre de I’analyse de rentabilisation. C’est le
cotit de I'inaction — la nécessité de recruter les meilleurs talents et
la crise démographique imminente due au vieillissement de la
population sont trés valables. Cependant, dans votre rapport
publié récemment, Nous n’y sommes pas encore, et dans certains
témoignages, comme je I’ai mentionné, il est de plus en plus
question de la culture organisationnelle. Je crois que ce
changement de culture, ce cinquiéme C, est vraiment la clé, la
piéce manquante.

Pourquoi la piéce manquante? J’ai repris un passage de votre
rapport. Vous dites qu’il faut affronter les attitudes
discriminatoires, trouver des solutions a la résistance émotive ou
psychologique et créer un milieu de travail coopératif qui accueille
les différences.

Je suis d’accord, et je voudrais ajouter un autre élément
essentiel concernant la culture qui pourrait permettre de venir a
bout de la résistance. Ca commence par la fagon dont nous avons
modernisé nos modéles de prestation de services de premiére ligne
aujourd’hui. Si nous faisons partic de la police, nous nous
engageons dans les services de police communautaire. Si nous
sommes des collecteurs d’impéts, nous ne vidons pas les comptes
bancaires; nous utilisons un modéle coopératif de résolution de
problémes. Si nous dirigeons des prisons, nous collaborons avec
les collectivités en utilisant une approche réparatrice pour assurer
la réinsertion en toute sécurité des délinquants. Si nous sommes
des juges ou agents d’un organisme quasi judiciaire, nous
engageons les parties dans le dialogue et la médiation. Si nous
sommes dans le domaine bancaire, nous nommons des médiateurs
bancaires, insistons sur la satisfaction de la clientéle et sommes
attentifs aux plaintes des clients. Comme je I’ai dit plus tot,
lorsque j’ai lu larticle 22 de la Loi sur I’équité en matiére
d’emploi, méme en exercant nos pouvoirs d’application, nous
devons étre guidés par la négociation et les pratiques de
persuasion.

Ou est-ce que je veux en venir? Nous avons insufflé a nos
services de premiére ligne une culture de résolution de problémes
plutét qu'une culture du « c’est a prendre ou a laisser ». Ces
nouvelles tendances sont toutes fondées sur des discussions et des
partenariats inclusifs et créatifs, et sur la fagon dont nous traitons
les gens, résolvons les problemes et prenons des décisions. Elles
visent également a ce que le personnel de premiére ligne refléte la
culture canadienne et la diversité, et pourtant, certains
employeurs que nous réglementons ont pris du retard dans
I’harmonisation de leur culture d’entreprise pour tenir compte de
la créativité, 'inclusion et la diversité. Les employeurs ont besoin
d’intégrer la culture, la diversité et la créativité dans I’ensemble de
l’organisation, et pas uniquement au niveau des employés de
premiére ligne ou des sous-ministres, mais a tous les niveaux.
Lorsque tout cela est pleinement intégré, 1’organisation est plus
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this. It senses misalignment, becomes disenchanted and
demoralized and goes back to its old ways or quits, and we
have a problem with retention.

When leaders understand this, the penny will drop and
employment equity will be fully integrated within our systems.

I do encourage conversation around culture change. It is way
beyond overcoming resistance to persons who are not like us, as
one witness said; it involves understanding how important
integrating the diversity, the inclusiveness and the collaboration
is to the entire organization.

Senator Jaffer: One of the areas you cover is discrimination
prevention.

Ms. Lynch: Yes.

Senator Jaffer: How would the report card look if you were
sitting with the minister or deputy minister? What would you say
to him about visible minorities? You said such very warm things
earlier about how you are trying to change the culture, which
makes a person such as me feel very good, but it does not turn
into results. We are still sliding.

Ms. Lynch: What you may call a report card and what we
create as a report card might be two different things. We are
better able to give statistics that relate to the work we are doing.
Around audits, we see slower uptake than we would like on the
development and implementation of employment equity plans.
When there seems to have been limited progress, the question is
how we can accelerate that progress. At this point, the
commission cannot state whether the limited progress achieved
by employers is due to the fact that they failed to make all
reasonable efforts as the employment equity states to implement
their plans, or if there are other factors that come into play, such
as reorganizations, adverse economic climate, layoffs, et cetera.
At best, we can hope to study these issues. We would not be
creating a report card per se that would answer to all of the issues
you might like to find in that report card.

Senator Munson: You talked about slower uptake. Is there
systemic discrimination or racism in the public service?

Senator Oliver: You have answered this already.

Ms. Lynch: I am thinking about my answer. I was considering
some of these numbers over the weekend. There has been
progress. 1 found very encouraging, and I might almost say
quite remarkable, the conscientious practices and efforts being
made by those who represent the employer — the Public Service
Commission, when Ms. Barrados came to speak with you and the
Canadian Public Service Agency. I heard passion and
commitment there. As you have seen, there are a myriad of
positive practices and policies being moved forward. I see a very
positive animus within the public service. Therefore, Senator

susceptible d’atteindre ses objectifs. Autrement, les employés de
premiere ligne le sentiront. Ils détecteront les anomalies,
deviendront désenchantés et démoralisés et reviendront a leurs
anciennes méthodes ou quitteront leur emploi, et nous nous
retrouverons avec un probléme de maintien de 1’effectif.

Lorsque les dirigeants comprendront enfin, ’équité en emploi
sera pleinement intégrée dans nos systémes.

J’encourage les discussions a propos de la culture du
changement. Il ne s’agit pas seulement de surmonter la
résistance a des personnes qui ne sont pas comme nous, comme
I’a dit un témoin, mais aussi de comprendre I'importance de
I'intégration de la diversité, de I'inclusion et de la collaboration
dans I’ensemble de 1’organisation.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Votre travail couvre aussi la prévention de
la discrimination.

Mme Lynch : Oui.

Le sénateur Jaffer : A quoi ressemblerait le rapport si vous
étiez assise avec le ministre ou le sous-ministre? Que lui
diriez-vous au sujet des minorités visibles? Vous étiez trés
enthousiaste lorsque vous avez expliqué comment vous tentiez
de modifier la culture, ce qui réjouit une personne comme moi,
mais ne donne pas les résultats escomptés. Nous faisons encore
marche arriére.

Mme Lynch : Ce que vous pouvez considérer comme un
rapport et ce que nous créons peuvent étre deux choses
différentes. Nous sommes mieux en mesure de donner des
statistiques qui portent sur le travail que nous faisons. En ce
qui concerne les vérifications, le processus d’élaboration et de
mise en ceuvre des plans d’équité en matiére d’emploi est plus lent
que nous l'aurions souhaité. La ou il semble y avoir eu peu de
progres, il faut se demander comment on peut accélérer les choses.
A ce stade-ci, la commission ne peut pas dire si le peu de progrés
réalisés par les employeurs est attribuable au fait qu’ils n’ont pas
déployé tous les efforts raisonnables pour mettre en ceuvre leurs
plans d’équité en matiére d’emploi, ou s’il existe d’autres facteurs
qui entrent en jeu, tels que les réorganisations, le climat
économique défavorable, les licenciements, et cetera. Au mieux,
nous pouvons espérer étudier ces questions. Notre rapport comme
tel ne permettra pas de répondre a toutes les questions que vous
pourriez avoir.

Le sénateur Munson : Vous avez parlé de lenteur.
Retrouve-t-on du racisme ou de la discrimination systémique
dans la fonction publique?

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous avez déja répondu a cette question.

Mme Lynch : Je réfléchis & ma réponse. J’ai examiné certains
de ces chiffres ce week-end. Il y a eu des progrés. J’ai trouvé tres
encourageants, et je dirais méme remarquables, les pratiques
adoptées et les efforts consciencieux déployés par ceux qui
représentent I'employeur — la Commission de la fonction
publique, lorsque Mme Barrados est venue vous parler, de
méme que I’Agence canadienne de la fonction publique. Jai
entendu des gens passionnés et engagés. Comme vous 1’avez vu, il
existe une myriade de politiques et de pratiques positives qui
seront mises de ’avant. Je vois une véritable volonté au sein de la
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Oliver, with the greatest of respect, the fact that I was pausing to
think about my answer was not to answer it in the affirmative. |
feel we are seeing enormous commitment.

We do not study and cannot comment on why there is a
downward trend, for example, for recruitment. I know you want
me to be crisp, Madam Chair. When we send cases to the tribunal,
I have some statistics related to what comes to us as a complaint
in systemic discrimination and what goes to the tribunal. We sent,
in 2005, 102 cases to the tribunal, of which 29 included
an allegation under section 10; and in 2007, we sent 136, of
which 76 included an allegation of systemic discrimination.
However, of those 76, 56 were on one issue, which was
retirement age for pilots; and therefore, there is a big chunk
there. Again, that is not the public service; these are our federally
regulated industries, so there are not a huge number of cases that
come through us and go on to the tribunal.

Senator Munson: You alluded to this on the corporate culture
aspect. In your opening statement, you made reference to the fact
that you have to lead employers reluctantly along the path of
employment equity. Is this just the old boys’ school that is
around? Is there an opportunity in this generational change
within the public service of an opening of narrowing these gaps
with perhaps older public servants leaving and a new generation
that seems to have a much more positive attitude toward each
other instinctively in this day and age?

Ms. Lynch: Yes, there is a definite opportunity. As I said, the
culture of collaboration, dialogue and cooperative problem
solving, we see it with enormous success with our employer
advisory council. It would come as no surprise that employers feel
much more inspired by finding opportunities to do better and be
educated.

Of course, the education and training aspect of the
Employment Equity Act is the responsibility of Human
Resources and Social Development Canada, HRSDC; it is not
ours. The fostering of education and understanding about
anti-discrimination and the purpose of our act is our mandate;
and within that, we work with employers, and there is enormous
interest, so my answer would be, yes.

Senator Oliver: What amendments or changes would you like
to see added to your mandate and to your legislation so you could
do a better, more effective job?

First, I want to commend my Senate colleagues for the superb
questions that the three of them asked. They went right to the
meat of it, particularly Senator Munson, and I congratulate them
for that.

It is my opinion that your bill, your statute, has no teeth; that
you are understaffed; and that the bill is drafted in such a way as
to make you fail in trying to carry out your mandate.

fonction publique. Par conséquent, sénateur Oliver, avec le plus
grand respect, si j’ai pris un moment pour réfléchir avant de
donner ma réponse, ce n’était pas pour répondre par 'affirmative.
Je crois réellement que nous assistons a un engagement énorme.

Nous ne menons pas d’étude et ne pouvons faire aucun
commentaire sur les raisons de cette tendance a la baisse, par
exemple, sur le plan du recrutement. Je sais que vous voulez que je
sois concise, madame la présidente. J’ai quelques statistiques a
vous donner sur les plaintes de discrimination systémique qui
nous sont adressées et celles qui sont renvoyées au tribunal.
En 2005, nous avons confié 102 cas au tribunal,
dont 29 comprenaient une allégation en vertu de larticle 10, et
en 2007, nous en avons envoyés 136, dont 76 de présumée
discrimination systémique. Cependant, de ces 76, 56 concernaient
la méme question, c’est-a-dire 1’dge de la retraite pour les pilotes;
c’est donc une grande partie. Encore une fois, ce n’est pas la
fonction publique, mais bien nos entreprises sous réglementation
fédérale. Par conséquent, il n’y a pas un grand nombre de cas qui
nous sont confiés et qui sont transmis au tribunal.

Le sénateur Munson : Vous y avez fait allusion dans le volet sur
la culture d’entreprise. Dans votre déclaration liminaire, vous
avez fait référence au fait que vous deviez pousser les employeurs
récalcitrants sur le chemin de I’équité en emploi. Est-ce 1a le « club
des anciens »? Y a-t-il une possibilité que ce changement
générationnel au sein de la fonction publique permette de
réduire ces écarts, compte tenu des fonctionnaires plus 4gés qui
partent a la retraite et de la nouvelle génération qui semble avoir
instinctivement une attitude beaucoup plus positive envers les
autres?

Mme Lynch : Oui, il existe une réelle possibilité. Comme je I’ai
dit, notre conseil consultatif des employeurs a pleinement adhéré
a la culture de la collaboration, du dialogue et de la résolution
coopérative de problémes. Il ne serait pas surprenant que les
employeurs se sentent beaucoup plus inspirés en trouvant des
moyens de faire mieux et d’étre sensibilisés.

Bien sir, ’aspect d’éducation et de formation prévu dans la Loi
sur I’équité en matiére d’emploi est la responsabilité de
Ressources humaines et Développement social Canada,
RHDSC; pas la nétre. Toutefois, favoriser la sensibilisation et
la compréhension des gens envers la lutte contre la discrimination
et I’objet de notre loi habilitante relévent de notre mandat, et dans
ce cadre, nous travaillons avec les employeurs, et il y a un intérét
énorme, donc ma réponse serait oui.

Le sénateur Oliver : Quelles sont les modifications ou les
changements que vous aimeriez voir apportés a votre mandat et a
la loi pour que vous puissiez faire un travail plus efficace?

Tout d’abord, je tiens a féliciter trois de mes collégues pour
leurs questions on ne peut plus pertinentes. Ils sont allés droit au
but, en particulier le sénateur Munson, et je les félicite pour cela.

Il est de mon avis que votre mesure législative, votre loi, n’a pas
de poids, que vous étes en sous-effectif et que le projet de loi est
rédigé de maniére a ce que vous manquiez a votre mandat.
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You have 1 million employees, 100 federal departments and
agencies of which you are in charge and 500 private sector
employees. How large is your workforce? How many people are
on your employ to do this work?

Ms. Lynch: We have 16 people in our employment equity
division.
Senator Oliver: Is that enough?

Ms. Lynch: No it is not enough. We are also engaging, where
relevant, people from our dispute resolution branch and other
parts of our prevention branch, such as the employer advisory
council group. We also, of course, do what research we can and
are supported by our knowledge centre. It is quite a modern
structure, and it works very well. We have 16 people in Mr. Dei’s
branch.

The Employment Equity Act specifies a review every five years.
The review is due now — slightly overdue — and we are preparing
for it. We will not be leading any initiatives for changes to the
legislation. We have instituted new practices, and we are of the
opinion that we can carry out our mandate by using the powers
given to us within the existing legislation. The principal carriage
of this act is with the minister of HRSDC.

Senator Oliver: You are not seeking any amendments or
changes whatsoever because you feel with your 16 people you can
do the job, is that correct?

Ms. Lynch: Of course, the allocation of resources does not
come from the act. We are right now, because of these issues,
undertaking a review of our resource base, and we may be
applying for future money and funds. An independent review is
being taken to determine if we are effectively using all our
resources in the commission. Resources are certainly an issue
worthy of examination.

The leading of an initiative for legislative change is an
extremely resource-heavy initiative. We have engaged in a
reorganization of our commission and a new and modernized
audit process. We want to give it time to work.

In this particular tranche, where there will be a review of the
legislation, we will not be leading any initiatives for amendments.
That is not to say that in the future we would not turn our minds
to a huge overview of the legislation, but not at this specific time.

Senator Oliver: You say that in cases of non-compliance your
statutes tell you that you are to use persuasion to try to resolve it.

However, it is my opinion, having dealt with racism for
over 50 years in the public service and elsewhere, that you have to
have a club, and persuasion is not enough to change systemic
racism in the public service. That should be changed, and I am
surprised that you do not want that changed.

Vous avez 1 million d’employés, 100 ministéres et organismes
fédéraux dont vous étes responsable et 500 employés du secteur
privé. Quelle est la taille de votre main-d’ceuvre? Combien d’entre
eux sont-ils affectés a ce travail?

Mme Lynch : Notre Division de la conformité a 1’équité en
matiere d’emploi compte 16 personnes.

Le sénateur Oliver : Est-ce suffisant?

Mme Lynch : Non, ce n’est pas assez. Nous recrutons
également, lorsqu’il y a lieu, des gens de notre Direction
générale du réglement des différends et d’autres secteurs de
notre Direction générale de la prévention de la discrimination, tels
que le conseil consultatif des employeurs. Bien stir, nous faisons
notre possible en matiére de recherche et nous recevons I’appui de
notre centre de connaissances. C’est une structure moderne, et ¢a
fonctionne trés bien. I y a 16 personnes dans la division de
M. Dei.

La Loi sur I’équité en mati¢re d’emploi prévoit un examen tous
les cinq ans. Cet examen doit étre effectué dés maintenant — il est
méme un peu en retard —, et nous nous préparons pour cela.
Nous ne meénerons pas d’initiatives visant a apporter des
changements a la loi. Nous avons mis en place de nouvelles
pratiques, et nous sommes d’avis que nous pouvons nous
acquitter de notre mandat en exergant les pouvoirs qui nous
sont conférés par la loi actuelle. Cette loi reléve principalement du
ministre de RHDSC.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous n’envisagez pas d’amendement parce
que vous estimez qu’avec vos 16 personnes, vous pouvez faire le
travail, est-ce exact?

Mme Lynch : Evidemment, la répartition des ressources ne
résulte pas de la loi. En raison de ces problémes, nous sommes a
entreprendre un examen de nos ressources disponibles, et nous
pourrions demander des fonds, a l’avenir. Un examen
indépendant est en cours afin de déterminer si, a la commission,
nous utilisons efficacement toutes nos ressources. Les ressources
sont certainement une question qui mérite d’étre examinée.

Modifier la loi est une initiative qui exige énormément de
ressources. Nous avons entamé une réorganisation de notre
commission et un nouveau processus de vérification modernisé.
Nous voulons lui donner le temps de faire ses preuves.

Dans cette section en particulier, ou il y aura un examen de la
législation, nous ne prendrons pas d’initiatives destinées a
apporter des modifications. Cela ne veut pas dire qu’a 1’avenir,
nous ne serons pas en faveur d’une révision compléete de la loi,
mais pas pour le moment.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous dites que dans les cas de
non-observation, en vertu de la loi, vous jouez un role de
persuasion.

Cependant, il est de mon avis, ayant traité des cas de racisme
pendant plus de 50 ans au gouvernement ou ailleurs, que vous
devez avoir un instrument qui a du poids, et que la persuasion ne
suffit pas a contrer le racisme systémique dans la fonction
publique. Cela devrait changer, et je suis surpris que vous ne soyez
pas de cet avis.
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Many of the words for the resolution of disputes have no teeth.
The business about institutional incentives, such as doing
something about the bonus for deputy ministers, has been there
for some time and does not work. There is ample evidence to
indicate that everyone gets their bonus, notwithstanding the fact
that some have not been compliant.

That does not work. There is no club or teeth. Being
understaffed — it seems to me that you need more staff — I
wonder if your mandate is not too big and if it would not be better
to pare it down to be able to more fully carry out the key cores of
the objects of the statute.

You said that you can see an enormous commitment being
made by the public service, but if you read the transcripts from
many of the witnesses who have appeared before this committee
this year, last year and the year before, an overwhelming group of
them say that there are serious systemic problems that have to be
changed. It is there.

Most of them do not use the word “racism,” but it is racism
that prevents visible minorities from progressing in the public
service. As the Human Rights Commission, with the main job of
enforcing it, you have to have better teeth and better enforcement
mechanisms.

I was hoping to hear some of the actions you believe you could
take to help enforce and break down that systemic racism.

Ms. Lynch: Your comments are very important. The mandate
we have is very restricted. We are compliance review auditors.
You are quite right that the language of the act that retains within
it such wording like “as a last resort” has not yet been tested in
court. The meaning of “a last resort” is something that is not clear
to the employer, and we have not had cases go to the tribunal as a
hearing. Some cases have gone forward because we can issue
directions, and then we can move cases to the tribunal. However,
the cases have not actually gone to hearings.

In the role that we specifically have in compliance audits, we
are consciously working with a new model that we believe will
embrace more employers and more employees, and we will be able
to get back with the progress audits. This is the role that we have
been given within the statute to play.

Therefore, we cannot propose other solutions other than those
that relate to our mandate.

Senator Oliver: I do not want to push you on that.

A number of witnesses have come before this committee, and
they talk about the Human Rights Commission and delays in
having matters heard. You have attempted to address the issue of
delays with the statistics you gave us today. However, it is my
view, as someone who used to be a lawyer, that justice delayed is
justice denied. If people have to wait five months, six months, a

Beaucoup de dispositions relatives au réglement des différends
n’ont pas d’effet. Depuis un certain temps déja, on remet en
question les mesures incitatives institutionnelles, comme les
primes de rendement versées aux sous-ministres, mais rien ne
bouge. Il existe de nombreuses preuves indiquant que tout le
monde recoit sa prime, et ce, en dépit du fait que certains n’ont
pas respecté les exigences.

Cela ne fonctionne pas. Il n’y a pas de mécanisme en place.
Etant donné que vous étes en sous-effectif — il me semble que
vous avez besoin de plus de personnel —, je me demande si votre
mandat n’est pas trop large et s’il ne serait pas préférable de le
restreindre afin que vous soyez mieux en mesure de réaliser les
objectifs clés de la loi.

Vous avez dit voir un énorme engagement dans la fonction
publique, mais si vous lisez les déclarations des témoins qui ont
comparu devant le comité, cette année, 'année derniére et 'année
d’avant, vous constaterez que bon nombre d’entre eux disent qu’il
y a de graves problémes systémiques a régler. Ils existent.

La plupart d’entre eux n’utilisent pas le mot « racisme », mais
c’est le racisme qui empéche les membres des minorités visibles de
gravir les échelons de la fonction publique. A titre de Commission
des droits de la personne, votre principale fonction est de faire
respecter la loi; vous devez donc avoir en place des mécanismes
d’application qui ont plus de poids.

Jespérais que vous me parleriez de certaines des mesures que
vous pourriez prendre pour améliorer I’exécution de la loi et
contrer le racisme systémique.

Mme Lynch : Vos commentaires sont trés importants. Le
mandat que nous avons est trés restreint. Nous sommes des
vérificateurs de la conformité. Vous avez tout a fait raison de dire
que le libellé de la loi qui renferme une expression comme « en
dernier recours » n’a pas été éprouvé devant les tribunaux. La
signification de « dernier recours « n’est pas claire pour
I’employeur, et nous n’avons pas transmis de cas au tribunal
qui a fait 'objet d’une audience. Nous avons pu formuler des
directives ou renvoyer les cas au tribunal, mais il n’y a pas eu
d’audience.

Dans le cadre de nos fonctions, a titre de vérificateurs de la
conformité, nous travaillons avec un nouveau modé¢le qui, selon
nous, s’appliquera a plus d’employeurs et d’employés, et nous
serons en mesure d’effectuer les vérifications de suivi. Tel est le
réle qui nous a été assigné par la loi.

Par conséquent, nous ne pouvons pas proposer d’autres
solutions que celles qui ont trait & notre mandat.

Le sénateur Oliver : Je ne vais pas insister la-dessus.

Un certain nombre de témoins ont comparu devant le comité et
parlé de la Commission des droits de la personne et de ’arriéré de
dossiers. Vous avez tenté d’aborder la question des retards avec
les statistiques que vous nous avez fournies aujourd’hui.
Cependant, je suis d’avis, en tant qu’ancien avocat, que justice
différée est justice refusée. Si les gens doivent attendre cing ou six
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year or two to have cases resolved, particularly when it involves
their employment and promotion, that is too long.

What can be done to get these time periods down even farther
so there is not a denial of natural justice to so many people in the
public service?

Ms. Lynch: 1 agree with you that the faster we can handle
issues, as long as we are handling them appropriately, the better.

We are working on a number of levels. First, we are engaging
senior resources at the front end to engage in dialogue so that
even a formal complaint does not have to be filed. In fact, last
year we received approximately 12,000 inquiries, and we had only
a few hundred complaints. Part of this is as a result — and it is the
complex national program in human rights, if you will — that we
can only take those complaints for which we have jurisdiction.
Therefore, we have to create this triage to determine whether we
have jurisdiction. There is a time limit as well. Is there another
process reasonably available? A vast majority are triaged in that
manner.

We are conscientious with every complaint in determining how
quickly we can engage in dialogue and deal with it. We are
monitoring those statistics at all times, while being sure that we
engage in due process and justice for each individual case.

The other issue is that we do not want to speed up cases at the
risk of reducing the service that is being provided.

The issue is in dealing with front-end dialogue mediation, but
even before that, it means working with employers so the
discrimination issues are raised and dealt with well and
prevented within the employer group.

Senator Oliver: One witness before this committee told us that
a number of people who have legitimate complaints will no longer
lay them because of the delays. Therefore, they are going without
a remedy.

Ms. Lynch: T am familiar with what that witness said. Of
course, we cannot know that because we only know what comes
to us. We have taken a number of steps that we know create better
timing statistics for us. I mentioned those in my opening remarks.

Our results are very encouraging, and yet the statistics are
there. Imagine processing 12,000 inquiries, for example. It does
take time. However, we move quickly with each inquiry and
assign an investigator often within a matter of days.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Lynch and your colleagues, for
appearing today to begin a dialogue with us. I will assure you that
in the Senate, the one thing we have going for us is that we do
continue our studies. We do not intend to file one report and go
away. We will persistently continue on this issue.

mois, un an ou méme deux pour que leur cas se régle, surtout
quand il est question de leur emploi et de leur avancement, c’est
trop long.

Que peut-on faire pour réduire les délais de traitement, de sorte
qu'on ne refuse pas la justice a autant de personnes dans la
fonction publique?

Mme Lynch : Je suis d’accord avec vous pour dire que le plus
rapidement nous traiterons les questions, dans la mesure ou nous
le faisons de maniére appropriée, le mieux ce sera.

\

Nous travaillons a plusieurs niveaux. D’abord, nous
faisons appel a des cadres, dés le départ, pour engager des
discussions afin qu’il ne soit méme pas nécessaire de déposer une
plainte officielle. En fait, ’année derniére, nous avons regu
environ 12 000 demandes de renseignements et seulement
quelques centaines de plaintes. C’est en partie attribuable — et
c’est le programme national complexe des droits de la personne, si
je puis m’exprimer ainsi —, au fait que nous ne pouvons traiter
que les plaintes qui relévent de notre compétence. Par conséquent,
nous devons procéder a ce triage. Il y a aussi une limite de temps a
respecter. Existe-t-il un autre processus raisonnablement
disponible? Une grande majorité sont triées de cette maniére.

Nous examinons attentivement chaque plainte pour déterminer
avec quelle rapidité nous pouvons engager le dialogue et la traiter.
Nous surveillons ces statistiques continuellement, tout en étant
certains de suivre la procédure établie et que personne n’est privé
de son droit a la justice.

L’autre chose, c’est que nous ne voudrions surtout pas réduire
la qualité des services en allant trop vite.

On doit engager le dialogue préliminaire, mais méme avant
cela, il faut travailler avec les employeurs afin de dénoncer et de
combattre la discrimination au sein du groupe.

Le sénateur Oliver : Un témoin devant ce comité nous a dit
qu'un certain nombre de personnes ne portaient pas plainte a
cause des retards. Par conséquent, ils sont sans recours.

Mme Lynch : Ce qu’a dit ce témoin ne m’est pas étranger. Bien
siir, nous ne pouvons pas le savoir parce que nous sommes
seulement au courant des plaintes dont nous sommes saisis. Nous
avons pris un certain nombre de mesures pour accélérer les
choses. J’en ai parlé dans mes remarques liminaires.

Nos résultats sont trés encourageants, et pourtant, les
statistiques sont la. Imaginez le traitement de 12 000 demandes
de renseignements, par exemple. Cela prend du temps. Toutefois,
nous travaillons rapidement et affectons un enquéteur souvent en
quelques jours.

La présidente : Merci, madame Lynch ainsi que vos collégues,
d’avoir comparu aujourd’hui afin d’entamer des discussions avec
nous. Je vous assure qu’au Sénat, s’il y a une chose qui soit en
notre faveur, c’est que nous n’abandonnons pas nos études. Nous
n’avons pas l'intention de déposer un rapport puis de passer a
autre chose. Nous continuerons de travailler sur ce dossier.
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Some of us around the table, Senator Oliver, know we started
with education, and it appears now the emphasis is on audit. Our
questions are around whether audits produce the results. We will
be struggling, and we ask you to struggle with what the next step
should be.

To have a systematic way to look at the issue and identify the
problem does not make the problem go away. It is still a problem,
and we are here to look for solutions that will change the face of
the public service and deal with this problem once and for all.

We are worried, as Senator Poy has indicated, about the
backsliding. We trust you are sufficiently worried about that;
every Canadian is worried about that. We grapple with this
situation in a more constructive way to find a solution. We will all
be better off for it. We thank you for the information, and the
openness and frankness of the dialogue.

We continue our examination of cases of alleged discrimination
in the hiring and promotion practices of the federal public service
and to study the extent to which targets to achieve employment
equity for minority groups are being met.

On this panel we have, from the Public Service Alliance of
Canada, Mr. Ed Cashman, Regional Executive Vice-President;
and with him is Ms. Lisa Addario, Employment Equity Officer.
Welcome.

We also have The Professional Institute of the Public Service of
Canada, PIPSC, represented by Gary Corbett, Vice-President;
and by Al Ravjiani, Ontario Regional Director and Chair of the
Human Rights in the Workplace Committee. Ms. Allison Pilon,
Research Officer, is also here with them. Welcome.

We would like you to make opening statements as brief as
possible. As you can see from our previous panels, the best
exchange comes when we can exchange questions and answers
between senators and the panels, and we would like to leave time
for that.

[Translation]

Ed Cashman, Regional Executive Vice-President, Public Service
Alliance of Canada: Thank you for the privilege of addressing this
committee on hiring practices in the federal public sector.

PSAC is the sixth largest union in Canada representing over
150,000 workers in every province and territory. Our members
work for federal government departments and agencies, separate
federal employers, federal Crown corporations and agencies, the
governments of the Yukon, the Northwest Territories and
Nunavut as well as a variety of other public and private sector
employers.

Certains d’entre nous, sénateur Oliver, savent que nous avons
commencé par la sensibilisation, et il semble maintenant que
I’accent soit mis sur la vérification. Nous voulons savoir si les
vérifications donnent les résultats escomptés. Nous nous
emploierons a trouver ce que la prochaine étape devrait étre et
nous vous prions d’en faire autant.

Avoir une facon systématique d’examiner le probléme et le
cerner ne le fait pas disparaitre; il est encore présent. Nous
sommes ici pour chercher des solutions qui vont changer I'image
de la fonction publique et régler ce probléme une fois pour toutes.

Nous sommes inquiets, comme le sénateur Poy I’a indiqué, au
sujet de la régression. Nous savons que vous étes préoccupés par
cette question; tous les Canadiens le sont. Nous allons trouver une
solution a cette situation d’une maniére plus constructive. Tous ne
s’en porteront que mieux. Nous vous remercions pour
I'information, de méme que pour I'ouverture et la franchise de
la discussion.

Nous continuons d’examiner des cas de discrimination
présumée dans les pratiques d’embauche et de promotion de la
fonction publique fédérale et d’étudier la mesure dans laquelle les
objectifs pour atteindre 1’équité en emploi pour les groupes
minoritaires sont réalisés.

Parmi les prochains témoins, nous avons, de I’Alliance de la
fonction publique du Canada, M. Ed Cashman, vice-président
exécutif régional, et Mme Lisa Addario, agente d’équité en
matiére d’emploi. Soyez les bienvenus.

Nous accueillons aussi des représentants de ['Institut
professionnel de la fonction publique du Canada, I'IPFPC,
Gary Corbett, vice-président, et Al Ravjiani, directeur régional
de ’Ontario et président du Comité des droits de la personne en
milieu de travail. Mme Allison Pilon, agente de recherche, est elle
aussi présente. Bienvenue a tous.

Nous vous prions de faire des déclarations liminaires aussi
bréves que possible. Comme vous avec pu le voir, c’est bien plus
intéressant lorsqu’il y a un échange de questions et de réponses
entre les sénateurs et les témoins, et nous tenons a nous garder du
temps pour cela.

[Frangais]

Ed Cashman, vice-président exécutif régional, Alliance de la
fonction publique du Canada : Je vous remercie de m’accorder le
privilege de prendre la parole devant le comité pour aborder les
pratiques d’embauche dans la fonction publique fédérale.

L’Alliance de la fonction publique du Canada est le
sixieme syndicat en importance au Canada et il représente plus
de 150 000 travailleuses et travailleurs dans chaque province et
territoire. Nos membres travaillent pour des ministéres et
organismes du gouvernement fédéral, pour des employeurs
fédéraux distincts, des sociétés et organismes d’Etat, les
gouvernements du Yukon, des Territoires du Nord-Ouest et du
Nunavut, ainsi que pour une variété d’autres employeurs des
secteurs public et privé.
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We represent the overwhelming majority of federal public
sector workers in Canada. I am pleased to have the opportunity
to promote and build support for equity in the workplace, and to
share with you our vision of an agenda for action.

I propose to begin by highlighting the issues currently facing
persons with disabilities in the federal public sector. Recently, the
Canadian Human Rights Commission released its 2006 Annual
Report which contains data on recent hires into the government.

If T can just back up for a moment, we often hear that the
federal government is meeting its targets in respect of
representation of persons with disabilities. The 2006 Annual
Report confirms what we have heard anecdotally from our
members for many years: that the number of persons with
disabilities who are hired into the government is below their
labour market availability rate.

In other words, the federal government is meeting its legal
obligation not through proportional hirings, but through injury
and illness of workers on the job. Notwithstanding or perhaps
because of their disability, persons with disabilities are not being
proportionally hired. Persons are evolving into persons with
disabilities over the course of their careers. In our view, this
situation warrants your attention, because it does not respect the
rationale for employment equity — to overcome persistent
historical discrimination.

I would like to move on to another part of the report.

[English)

We would like to come back, perhaps in the question-and-
answer period, on the issue of the Canadian Human Rights
Commission. We have strong views on that as well.

I will now turn to the issue of our racialized members. First, a
note about terminology: The word “racialized” was the term of
choice for the 1995, Report of the Commission on Systemic Racism
in the Ontario Criminal Justice System. It reflects the agency of a
more dominant party foisting on someone their views of the
person as “racially visible,” “visible minority” or simply “other.”
It allows racialized people to express that this label has been
something attached to them by someone else; it is not of their
choosing, nor is it the way they see themselves.

We are all familiar with the data around the representation
rate of racialized people in the federal public sector. The most
recent data comes to us via the Canadian Human Rights
Commission and again racialized people are under-represented,
with 8.6 per cent representation. The federal government
uses a labour market availability of 10.4 per cent, based on
the 2001 Census.

Nous représentons la treés grande majorité des travailleuses et
travailleurs de la fonction publique fédérale du Canada. Il me fait
plaisir d’avoir 'occasion de faire la promotion de I'équité au
travail et de solliciter votre appui a cet égard et de vous présenter
notre vision d’un plan d’action.

Je propose de commencer en soulignant les enjeux auxquels
sont confrontées les personnes handicapées au sein de la fonction
publique fédérale. Récemment, la Commission canadienne des
droits de la personne a publié son rapport annuel de 2006 qui
contient des données sur l’embauche d’employés au
gouvernement.

Jaimerais d’abord faire une petite parenthése. Souvent on
entend dire que le gouvernement fédéral respecte ses objectifs en
ce qui concerne la représentation des personnes handicapées. Le
rapport annuel de 2006 confirme ce que nous racontent nos
membres depuis de nombreuses années, c’est-a-dire que le nombre
de personnes ayant un handicap, qui sont embauchées par le
gouvernement fédéral, est inférieur au taux de disponibilité du
marché du travail.

En d’autres mots, le gouvernement fédéral respecte son
obligation juridique non pas par ’embauche proportionnelle,
mais en raison des blessures et des maladies de ses employés qui
surviennent au travail. Nonobstant ou peut-étre en raison de leur
handicap, les personnes ayant un handicap ne sont pas
embauchées de maniére proportionnelle. Certaines personnes
deviennent handicapées au cours de leur carriére et nous croyons
que cette question mérite votre attention car elle ne respecte pas
I’objectif de 1’équité en emploi, soit d’éliminer la discrimination
qui perdure depuis longtemps.

Je vais aller plus loin dans le rapport.

[Traduction]

Nous aimerions revenir, peut-étre pendant la période de
questions, sur la question de la Commission canadienne des
droits de la personne. Nous avons des idées bien arrétées
la-dessus.

Jaborderai maintenant la question de nos membres dits
racialisés. Tout d’abord, voici une précision terminologique : le
terme « racialisé » est le terme qui a été choisi dans le Rapport de
la Commission sur le racisme systémique dans le systeme de justice
pénale en Ontario en 1995. 11 refléte la capacité d’une partie plus
dominante d’imposer sa vision de ce qu’est une personne membre
dun groupe « racial visible », « d’une minorité visible » ou tout
simplement « autre ». Il permet aux personnes appartenant a une
minorité visible de dire que cette étiquette leur a été imposée par
quelqu’un d’autre, qu’ils ne l'ont pas choisie et qu’elle ne
correspond pas a leur maniére de se percevoir.

Nous connaissons maintenant toutes les données touchant la
représentation des minorités visibles dans la fonction publique
fédérale. Les données les plus récentes nous viennent de la
Commission des droits de la personne et, une fois de plus, les
minorités visibles sont sous-représentées. Leur représentation est
de 8,6 p. 100. Le gouvernement fédéral utilise un taux de
disponibilité sur le marché du travail de 10,4 p. 100 selon le
recensement de 2001.
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We believe this is sugar-coating the problem. First, the labour
market availability data is quite out of date; second, although it
excludes non-citizens, most landed immigrants get their
citizenship status within three years; and, third, according to
Statistics Canada, by 2017 one in five Canadians will be visible
minorities. How will the government square this with a
representation rate of 8.5 per cent?

When they had to account for their failure to achieve their
goals under the Embracing Change Initiative the government said
that it was the fault of the hiring managers, that more needed to
be done to convince hiring managers that hiring visible minorities
makes good business sense. Then what? The following year,
through the Public Service Modernization Act, PSMA, the
government increased the discretion to hiring managers while
decreasing their oversight.

The effect has been compounded by the rise of casual
employees at work in the government, often hired through
temporary help agencies. An equally disturbing part of this
equation is that through casual employment many employees
eventually move into permanent positions in the government.

The president of the Public Service Commission, Dr. Barrados,
who has appeared before this committee, recently estimated that
over the last eight years about 60 per cent of indeterminate hires
had previous experience as temporary or casual employees. As she
put it, they look to hire the people who know the job best, and —
surprise, surprise — it is someone who has done the job before.
We will return to this issue in our recommendations.

While I have your attention, I would like to turn to the
remaining designated group members, Aboriginal people and
women. According to the 2005 Public Service Employee Survey,
Aboriginal employees reported discrimination and harassment in
huge numbers; 33 per cent of Aboriginal employees reported
harassment, an increase from the 30 per cent who had reported
harassment in 2002, while 29 per cent of Aboriginal employees
reported experiences of discrimination in 2005, again, an increase
from 2002.

The so-called good news of the number of hirings of Aboriginal
people is that it is almost completely neutralized by the
number of Aboriginal people who are leaving the federal
government; 4.3 per cent of all new hires into the federal
government in 2004-05 were Aboriginal, however, in that same
period of time, 4.1 per cent of all separations from the federal
government were Aboriginal. That is not an impressive net gain in
our view.

Nous croyons qu’on dore la pilule. Premiérement, le
taux de disponibilité sur le marché du travail est assez désuet;
deuxiémement, méme s’il exclut les non-citoyens, la plupart
des résidents permanents obtiennent leur citoyenneté en
moins de trois ans; et, troisitmement, selon Statistique Canada,
d’ici 2017, une personne sur cinq fera partie d’une minorité
visible. Comment le gouvernement s’en sortira-t-il avec un taux de
représentation de 8,5 p. 100?

Quand on a demandé au gouvernement d’expliquer pourquoi il
n’avait pas atteint Pobjectif qu’il s’était fixé dans le cadre de
« Faire place au changement », il a répondu que c’était la faute
des gestionnaires qui embauchent, qu’il fallait faire davantage
pour les convaincre de la nécessité, du point de vue des affaires, de
recruter des membres des minorités visibles. Et ensuite? L’année
suivante, par le biais de la Loi sur la modernisation de la fonction
publique, le gouvernement a accordé aux gestionnaires une plus
grande latitude en matiére d’embauche tout en réduisant sa
surveillance.

Et l'effet a été amplifié par la hausse du nombre d’employés
occasionnels au sein du gouvernement, qui sont souvent
embauchés par l'intermédiaire d’agences de placement
temporaire. Mais un élément tout aussi génant de cette équation
est le fait que c’est grace a un emploi occasionnel que de
nombreux employés finissent par obtenir un poste permanent.

Récemment, la présidente de la Commission de la
fonction publique, Mme Barrados, qui a comparu devant votre
comité, a estimé qu’au cours des huit derniéres années,
environ 60 p. 100 des personnes embauchées pour une période
indéterminée avaient de I’expérience a titre d’employés
temporaires ou occasionnels. Comme elle ’a affirmé, on essaie
de recruter les personnes qui connaissent le travail le mieux et,
surprise, on se retrouve avec quelqu’un qui a déja fait le travail.
Nous reviendrons a cette question dans nos recommandations.

Mais maintenant que j’ai votre attention, j’aimerais vous parler
des autres groupes désignés, les Autochtones et les femmes. Selon
le Sondage auprés des fonctionnaires fédéraux de 2005, un
grand nombre d’employés autochtones se sont dits victimes de
discrimination et de harcélement. Trente-trois pour cent
des employés autochtones ont déclaré avoir été victimes de
harcélement, soit une augmentation par rapport aux 30 p. 100 de
2002. Vingt-neuf pour cent des employés autochtones ont signalé
des cas de discrimination en 2005, soit une augmentation par
rapport a 2002.

Et la « bonne nouvelle » concernant le nombre d’Autochtones
embauchés, c’est qu’il est presque complétement neutralisé par le
nombre d’Autochtones qui quittent la fonction publique :
4.3 p. 100 de tous les employés nouvellement embauchés par le
gouvernement fédéral en 2004-2005 étaient autochtones;
cependant, 4,1 p. 100 de tous les départs du gouvernement
fédéral étaient des Autochtones. A notre avis, cela n’est pas un
gain net impressionnant.
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Two thirds of all Aboriginal employees work in a department
that has a legislative or policy mandate related to Aboriginal
people — Indian and Northern Affairs Canada, Correctional
Service of Canada, Health Canada or HRSDC. That is what we
mean when we talk about the ghettos.

I would now like to turn to women in the federal public sector.
We know based on the data that women comprise 53.5 per cent of
workers and, therefore, are often regarded as represented in the
workplace. However, they are only 37.2 per cent of employees in
the management category, only slightly up to from the previous
year. When we couple this with similarly low numbers for persons
with disabilities, Aboriginal people and racialized people in the
management category, it becomes clear that our members work
within conditions and a workplace environment established by
these same managers. Moreover, this is the level that sets policy
and services for the public. Suffice it to say that if this level is not
representative, then the government as a whole risks losing touch
with its mandate.

Employment equity is about more than representativeness, of
course, it is also about employment policies and practices that
serve as barriers to hiring and promotion. I would be remiss if I
did not bring to your attention the issue of women within
government who are being discriminated against on the basis of
family status. This takes the form of the employer’s failure to
accommodate women with such modifications as variable shifts in
order to allow them to care for their children and families. It is
easy to imagine though that women who are, by and large, the de
facto caregivers in our society will seek accommodation for the
elderly relations for whom they are increasingly responsible.

How big of a problem is this? As I approached this submission,
I had in mind the demographic changes that we are facing as a
society: a bulge in the number of aging people, followed by
smaller numbers of their children in the workforce. The birth rate
has steadily declined over the last 40 years, in other words, fewer
workers to shoulder the burden or the responsibility of their
elders’ care.

The point is that as the female parent, women are required to
strike a balance between family and work demands typical in our
culture. The failure to identify such policies as inflexible work
schedules as barriers to the hiring and promotion of women is
again the failure of employers to meet their employment equity
obligations.

We have also attached to our document a series of
recommendations: First, the government’s recruitment strategy
of persons with disabilities into the federal public sector should
reflect the labour market availability rate.

Deux tiers de tous les employés autochtones travaillent au sein
d’un ministére qui possede un mandat juridique ou politique
relatif aux Autochtones, notamment le ministére des Affaires
indiennes et du Nord canadien, le Service correctionnel du
Canada, Santé Canada et RHDSC. C’est ce que nous voulons dire
quand nous parlons des ghettos.

Je voudrais maintenant parler des femmes dans le secteur
public fédéral. Selon les données recueillies, nous savons que les
femmes représentent 53,5 p. 100 des travailleurs et, a ce titre, on
estime qu’elles sont bien représentées sur le marché du travail.
Cependant, elles ne représentent que 37,2 p. 100 des employés
dans la catégorie de gestion, soit une légére hausse par rapport a
I’année précédente. Lorsque vous jumelez ce chiffre a d’autres
chiffres aussi faibles dans le cas des personnes ayant un handicap,
des Autochtones et des personnes racialisées dans la catégorie de
gestion, il devient clair que nos membres travaillent dans des
conditions et un environnement de travail définis par ces cadres.
En outre, il s’agit de I’échelon qui établit les politiques et les
services destinés au public. Tout cela pour dire que si cet échelon
n’est pas représentatif, alors le gouvernement dans son ensemble
risque de perdre de vue son mandat.

Bien sir, I’équité en emploi ne concerne pas seulement la
représentativité, mais aussi les politiques et les pratiques d’emploi
qui constituent des obstacles a ’embauche et a la promotion. Il
serait négligent de ma part de passer sous silence la question des
femmes travaillant au gouvernement qui sont victimes de
discrimination en raison de leur situation familiale. Cette
discrimination prend la forme d’un refus de I’employeur
d’accommoder les femmes au moyen de modifications comme
des horaires variables afin de leur permettre de prendre soin de
leurs enfants. Par ailleurs, il est facile d’imaginer que les femmes,
qui sont généralement les fournisseurs de soins « de facto » de
notre société, demanderont des accommodements pour s’occuper
de parents agés dont elles sont de plus en plus responsables.

Quelle est I’'ampleur du probléme? En préparant mon
allocution, je pensais aux changements démographiques
auxquels nous faisons face en tant que société, soit une
augmentation marquée du nombre de personnes agées suivie
d’un plus petit nombre de leurs enfants sur le marché du travail.
Le taux de natalité n’a pas cessé de décliner au cours
des 40 derniéres années; autrement dit, il y a moins de
travailleurs qui se partagent la responsabilité du soin des ainés.

Ce qu’il faut retenir, c’est qu'en tant que méres, les femmes
doivent concilier vie familiale et exigences professionnelles, une
situation qui est typique de notre culture. En omettant de
reconnaitre que les horaires de travail inflexibles constituent des
obstacles a I’embauche et a la promotion des femmes, les
employeurs échouent a respecter leurs obligations d’assurer
I’équité en matiére d’emploi.

Dans notre document, nous avons également inclus une série
de recommandations. Premiérement, la stratégie du
gouvernement en ce qui a trait au recrutement de personnes
handicapées dans la fonction publique fédérale doit refléter le
taux de disponibilité sur le marché du travail.
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Second, the government should implement a central
agency-wide reintegration strategy return-to-work protocol that
addresses the accommodation of workers with disabilities in a
timely fashion.

Third, a joint committee of bargaining agents and the employer
should be formed with a mandate to give direction to staffing
procedures on employment equity measures and the use of casual
employees.

Fourth, managers should be held accountable for meeting their
employment equity targets. Further, data should be publicized to
establish how many managers have been denied their performance
bonuses because they failed to meet departmental employment
equity targets.

Fifth, data should be provided on the numbers of equity group
members being hired in each department and agency, the
occupational grouping, the tenure of the position, including
information on workers who face discrimination on multiple
grounds.

Sixth, and last, the government should establish and implement
policies that affirm the principle that workers have a fundamental
right to care for their families.

Gary Corbett, Vice-President, Professional Institute of the
Public Service of Canada: Thank you for providing us the
opportunity to speak to your committee on this important issue.

The Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada is a
union that represents 55,000 public sector professionals across the
country.

The Chair: I know I said that you should be short, but not too
fast because we have translation. We do have the document, and
we will go through it. If we do not capture everything now, we will
either ask you in written form or invite you back. Hit the
highlights.

Mr. Corbett: Over 40,000 of those professionals work directly
in the federal public service. We represent IT professionals,
scientists, auditors, architects, doctors — the professional cadre.

My first point is in regard to the levels of representation of the
employment equity groups in the federal public service. This
committee has heard that the federal public service as a whole is
doing well with respect to the representation of women,
Aboriginals and people with disabilities. However, these are
broad national figures being reported, and they do not reflect the
whole picture or the uneven distribution of members of
designated groups. For example, according to the most recent
figures available, while women hold 53 per cent of all public
service jobs, they only hold approximately 38 per cent of executive

Deuxiémement, le gouvernement doit instaurer un protocole de
retour au travail dans le cadre d’une stratégie de réintégration
appliquée a I'’ensemble de I'organisation afin de traiter les
questions relatives aux mesures d’adaptation pour les
travailleurs handicapés dans des délais raisonnables.

Troisiémement, il faut établir un comité mixte composé
d’agents négociateurs et de représentants de I'employeur dont le
mandat consiste a orienter les modalités de dotation en ce qui a
trait aux mesures d’équité en emploi et au recours a des employés
occasionnels.

Quatriémement, les gestionnaires doivent étre tenus de rendre
des comptes pour ce qui est de I'atteinte de leurs objectifs d’équité
en matiere d’emploi. Il faut également publier les données
concernant le nombre de gestionnaires qui n’ont pas regu leurs
primes, faute d’avoir réussi a atteindre les objectifs du ministére
relativement a 1’équité en matiére d’emploi.

Cinquiémement, il faut rendre accessibles les données
concernant le nombre de membres de groupes visés par 1’équité
en matiére d’emploi qui sont embauchés dans chaque ministére et
organisme, les groupes professionnels concernés et la durée des
fonctions, sans oublier I'information sur les travailleurs victimes
de discrimination pour de multiples motifs.

Enfin, sixiémement, le gouvernement doit établir et mettre en
ceuvre des politiques qui affirment le principe selon lequel les
travailleurs ont le droit fondamental de prendre soin de leur
famille.

Gary Corbett, vice-président, Institut professionnel de la fonction
publique du Canada : Merci de nous avoir donné la possibilité de
comparaitre devant votre comité pour discuter de cette
importante question.

L’Institut professionnel de la fonction publique du Canada est
un syndicat qui représente quelque 55 000 professionnels du
secteur public au Canada.

La présidente : Je sais que j’ai dit que vous deviez étre bref,
mais veuillez ne pas allez pas trop vite, parce que nous devons
tenir compte de la traduction. Nous avons le document en main,
et nous allons le parcourir. Si nous n’arrivons pas a tout couvrir
maintenant, nous vous interrogerons par écrit ou vous inviterons
a revenir. Contentez-vous de souligner les grandes lignes

M. Corbett : Plus de 40 000 de ces professionnels travaillent
directement dans la fonction publique fédérale. Nous
représentons les professionnels des TI, ainsi que les
scientifiques, vérificateurs, ingénieurs, architectes, médecins —
le corps professionnel.

Je voudrais tout d’abord dire quelques mots sur les niveaux de
représentation des groupes d’équité en matiére d’emploi dans la
fonction publique fédérale. Votre comité a entendu dire que la
fonction publique fédérale dans son ensemble faisait du bon
travail en ce qui a trait a la représentation des femmes, des
Autochtones et des personnes handicapées. Toutefois, il est
question de chiffres nationaux et globaux qui ne reflétent pas la
véritable image ni la répartition inégale des membres des groupes
désignés. Par exemple, selon les tout derniers chiffres disponibles,
alors que les femmes occupent 53 p. 100 de tous les emplois dans
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positions and only 42 per cent of scientific and professional
positions. For the other equity groups, the figures also vary
widely when one looks more closely at how they are distributed
within the public service. That being said, it is clear, as this
committee has heard from other witnesses, that the most serious
problem is with respect to representation of the visible minorities,
especially in light of the recent figures that show recruitment of
visible minorities is down from previous years.

I will turn my focus to the few issues that, in the institute’s
view, present significant barriers for visible minorities that must
be addressed if the public service is to be truly representative.

An example, as mentioned by my colleague to my right, is the
widespread use of casual workers and term employees. A
considerable barrier, in our view, to recruitment of visible
minorities is the fact that the recruitment into the public
service is rarely into permanent positions. The Public Service
Commission’s 2006-07 annual report noted that, over an
eight-year period, 75 per cent of indeterminate employees hired
for the permanent workforce had been either casual workers or
term employees.

As Ms. Barrados presented here earlier, these casuals and term
employees are often hired through personal networks, and they
are hired locally rather than through national polls. This type of
hiring excludes visible minorities, and other employment equity
groups, because people within these groups do not have the
connections and/or network to get their foot in the door.

It is our position that little or no progress will be achieved in
providing permanent employment to members of employment
equity groups while the federal government continues its
widespread use of casuals and terms. While we recognize that
there is a place for short-term hiring, it is clearly being used as a
way to get around the regular staffing processes.

Another issue is access to language training. We are concerned
that some aspects of the official languages policy, combined
with the lack of language training, may be creating a barrier for
the recruitment of visible minorities into the public service and to
the current mobility of visible minorities who are already
employed within the public service. According to the report
prepared for the Office of the Commissioner of Official
Languages, while 18 per cent of all Canadians speak both
official languages, that number is only 11 per cent for visible
minorities.

la fonction publique, elles ne détiennent qu’environ 38 p. 100 des
postes de hauts fonctionnaires et 42 p. 100 des postes scientifiques
et professionnels. Pour les autres groupes d’équité, les chiffres
varient également beaucoup lorsqu’on examine de plus prés la
répartition des emplois dans la fonction publique. Ceci dit, il est
évident, comme 1I’a d’ailleurs entendu le comité de la part d’autres
témoins, que le probléme le plus sérieux concerne la
représentation des minorités visibles, particuliérement si 1’on
tient compte des chiffres récents qui réveélent que le recrutement
des minorités visibles a diminué par rapport aux années
précédentes.

Je vais maintenant aborder d’autres questions qui, du point de
vue de linstitut, posent d’importants obstacles aux minorités
visibles, et sur lesquelles il faut se pencher si I'on veut que la
fonction publique soit véritablement représentative.

A titre d’exemple, comme 1’a mentionné mon collégue, a ma
droite, on recourt massivement aux employés occasionnels ou
nommés pour une durée déterminée. A notre avis, I'un des gros
obstacles au recrutement de membres de minorités visibles est le
fait que le recrutement dans la fonction publique se fait rarement
pour des postes permanents. En effet, on peut lire, dans le
Rapport annuel 2006-2007 de la Commission de la fonction
publique, que sur une période de huit ans, 75 p. 100 des nouveaux
employés nommés pour une période indéterminée et embauchés
dans les effectifs permanents avaient été occasionnels ou nommés
pour une durée déterminée.

Comme Mme Barrados I'a expliqué plus tot, ces employés
occasionnels ou nommeés pour une durée déterminée sont souvent
embauchés a partir de réseaux personnels, et ils le sont au plan
local plutét qu’a partir d’un bassin national. Ce type d’embauche
exclut les minorités visibles, ainsi que d’autres groupes d’équité en
matiére d’emploi, du fait que les personnes qui composent ces
groupes n’ont bien souvent pas de relations ni de réseau pour
« mettre un pied dans la porte ».

Nous sommes d’avis qu’aucun progrés important ne sera
réalisé sur le plan de I'offre d’emplois permanents aux membres
des groupes d’équité en matiére d’emploi si le gouvernement
fédéral continue d’avoir recours, de fagon généralisée, a de
nombreux employés occasionnels ou nommés pour une durée
déterminée. Bien que nous reconnaissions que I’embauche a court
terme a sa place, il est clair qu'on I'utilise comme moyen de
contourner le processus normal de dotation.

Un autre probléme concerne ’accés a la formation linguistique.
Nous craignons que certains aspects de la politique sur les langues
officielles, combinés a I’absence de formation linguistique, créent
des obstacles au recrutement des minorités visibles dans la
fonction publique et a la mobilité professionnelle des membres
des minorités visibles qui y travaillent déja. Selon un rapport
préparé pour le Commissariat aux langues officielles, alors que
18 p. 100 de tous les Canadiens parlent les deux langues
officielles, ce chiffre n’est que de 11 p. 100 chez les minorités
visibles.
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In the 2005 Public Service Employee Survey, 20 per cent of
visible minority employees identified a lack of access to language
training as a barrier to current advancement as compared
with 16 per cent for employees overall.

The institute supports the goal of the Official Languages Act,
and we do not take issue with the requirements for fluency in both
languages in various jobs across the public service. However, the
bilingual imperative requirement for many jobs means that
otherwise-qualified visible minorities who do not meet the
language criteria will not be screened in. It is our position that
where employment equity groups exist, room must be made to
hire these candidates and allow them the opportunity to train to
meet those language requirements.

Further, our members contend that language training is simply
not available for promotional opportunities. Many high-level
professionals and managerial positions within the public service
are designated bilingual imperative. Therefore, lack of access to
language training effectively closes the door to career
advancement in many cases. The provision of language training
is, therefore, critical in order to break down the barriers for visible
minorities within the public service.

Another element is the recognition of foreign credentials. A
demographic shift is occurring in Canada as the population ages.
The labour force is facing a crunch as baby boomers begin to
retire, creating a labour shortage. Due to the low birth rate,
immigration now accounts for about two thirds of the population
growth in Canada. Most of the new immigrants to Canada are
from Asia — including the Middle East — Central and South
America, the Caribbean and Africa, with a minority coming from
Europe.

In years to come, the federal government will face increasing
competition for professionals. As competition for talent increases,
there will be a greater need to tap into the currently underutilized
resources of new Canadians.

A significant problem exists with respect to the
underemployment of immigrant professionals in Canada. One
Statistics Canada study concluded that, in 2001, more than half of
foreign trained engineers in Canada work in technical jobs or jobs
unrelated to engineering.

One reason foreign trained professionals often cannot get work
in their field in Canada is their qualifications may not be
recognized by the professional licensing bodies or by potential
employers. This highlights the need for funding to assist such
professionals to earn Canadian accreditation in their field

Dans le Sondage aupres des fonctionnaires réalisé en 2005, on
constate que 20 p. 100 des employés des minorités visibles ont cité
I’absence d’accés a la formation linguistique comme obstacle a
l’avancement de leur carriére, comparativement a 16 p. 100 pour
I’ensemble des employés.

L’institut appuie les objectifs de la Loi sur les langues officielles
et ne s’oppose pas aux critéres concernant la maitrise des deux
langues pour divers emplois dans I’ensemble de la fonction
publique. Toutefois, en raison du critére de dotation d’un poste
bilingue a nomination impérative pour de nombreux emplois, des
membres autrement qualifiés des minorités visibles qui ne
répondent pas aux critéres linguistiques ne seront pas
sélectionnés. Nous sommes d’avis que 1a ou il y a des lacunes
au niveau de I’équité en matiére d’emploi, il faut permettre
d’embaucher ces candidats et leur donner la possibilité de suivre
une formation pour répondre a ces exigences linguistiques.

Qui plus est, nos membres soutiennent que la formation
linguistique n’est tout simplement pas disponible a des fins de
promotion. Un grand nombre de postes de professionnels et de
gestionnaires de niveau élevé dans la fonction publique sont
désignés bilingues impératifs. Par conséquent, I’absence d’acces a
la formation linguistique ferme véritablement la porte a
I’avancement de la carriére dans de nombreux cas. La
prestation de cours de formation linguistique est par conséquent
importante pour éliminer 1'un des obstacles auxquels sont
confrontés les membres des minorités visibles au sein de la
fonction publique.

L’autre élément est la reconnaissance des titres de compétences
étrangers. Alors que sa population vieillit, le Canada connait une
véritable transformation démographique. En effet, la population
active canadienne diminue du fait que les baby-boomers
commencent a prendre leur retraite, créant ainsi des pénuries de
main-d’oeuvre. En raison du faible taux de natalité, 'immigration
représente de nos jours environ les deux tiers de la croissance de la
population au pays. La plupart des nouveaux immigrants au
Canada viennent d’Asie — y compris le Moyen-Orient —,
d’Amérique centrale et du Sud, des Caraibes et d’Afrique, plus
une minorité venant d’Europe.

Au cours des prochaines années, le gouvernement fédéral sera
confronté a une concurrence de plus en plus forte sur le plan du
recrutement de professionnels. A mesure que s’intensifiera cette
concurrence, il faudra de plus en plus se tourner vers les
ressources actuellement sous-utilisées que constituent les
nouveaux Canadiens.

Il existe un probléme de taille au chapitre du sous-emploi des
immigrants professionnels au Canada. D’aprés une étude de
Statistique Canada, en 2001, plus de la moitié des ingénieurs
ayant suivi leur formation a I’étranger et vivant au Canada
occupaient des postes techniques ou des emplois n’ayant rien a
voir avec le génie.

L’une des raisons pour lesquelles les professionnels formés a
I’étranger sont souvent incapables de trouver du travail dans leur
domaine au Canada est le fait qu’ils ont de la difficulté a faire
reconnaitre leurs titres de compétences par les organismes de
réglementation professionnelle et les employeurs potentiels. Cette
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through training, internships and financial assistance for required
studies or exams. The new Foreign Credentials Referral Office is
an example of a new initiative that provides some assistance to
internationally trained professionals in learning how to gain
Canadian credentials, but additional programs and funding are
required.

Another issue is the requirement for Canadian experience or
Canadian education, often used by managers as a job
screening criteria. This requirement presents a clear barrier to
foreign-trained professionals, many of whom are visible
minorities. These conditions are often not imposed at the upper
level where qualification standards are set, but rather are added to
the job poster by the hiring manager. Clearly, there is a need for
training and awareness at the lower management level in order to
reduce and remove barriers created by such requirements.

In conclusion, these are just a few of the many concerns that
the institute has with respect to the barriers to employment equity
groups and, in particular, to visible minorities. As a bargaining
agent, we are somewhat limited in our ability to make changes
within the public service. We consult and collaborate with the
employer on employment equity issues; we make
recommendations; and we represent our members with respect
to employment equity and human rights issues. Currently, we are
working with the Canada Public Service Agency in developing a
framework for the hiring of new immigrants.

In addition, the institute has a number of initiatives aimed at
improving our ability to address these issues, such as increasing
the availability of employment equity and human rights training
for our own stewards in-house and the development a number of
different educational resources and materials for our members.
Currently, the institute’s committee on human rights in the
workplace is collecting and reviewing departmental equity plans
for future consideration, and we are also working in partnership
with groups such as the National Council of Visible Minorities
and other bargaining agents so we can collaborate on the issues.

I thank you very much for your attention and look forward to
your questions.

The Chair: Thank you for your presentations.

Senator Munson: Mr. Cashman, in your prepared statement,
you said this rather sweeping statement, and I would like to get
clarification on this. You said, “the government knew full well

situation souligne la nécessité de débloquer des fonds pour aider
ces professionnels a obtenir leur agrément au Canada dans leur
domaine, au moyen de cours de formation, de stages ou encore
d’une aide financiére pour payer les frais des études ou examens
requis. Le Bureau d’orientation relatif aux titres de compétences
étrangers est un exemple d’une nouvelle initiative qui apporte une
aide aux travailleurs formés a I’étranger en les informant sur les
moyens d’acquérir des titres de compétences au Canada, mais des
programmes et un financement additionnels sont nécessaires.

Un autre probléme est Iobligation de posséder une expérience
de travail en sol canadien ou un dipléme d’études canadien, que
les gestionnaires appliquent fréquemment comme critére de
sélection. Cette exigence représente clairement un obstacle
auquel font face les professionnels formés a I’étranger, dont un
grand nombre font partie des minorités visibles. Souvent, ces
conditions ne sont pas imposées aux niveaux les plus élevés ou les
normes de qualification sont fixées, mais sont plutét ajoutées aux
avis de concours par les responsables de ’embauche. De toute
évidence, il est nécessaire d’assurer une formation et une
sensibilisation au niveau des cadres inférieurs pour réduire et
éliminer les obstacles que constituent ces critéres.

En conclusion, ce ne sont 1a que quelques-unes des nombreuses
préoccupations que soulévent chez I'institut les obstacles auxquels
font face les groupes visés par I’équité en matiere d’emploi, et plus
particulierement les minorités visibles. En tant qu’agent
négociateur, notre association est quelque peu limitée dans sa
capacité a apporter des changements dans la fonction publique.
Certes, nous consultons 1’employeur et collaborons avec lui au
sujet de questions relatives a 1’équité en matiére d’emploi; nous
avangons des recommandations; et enfin, nous représentons nos
membres en ce qui concerne des questions liées a 1’équité en
matiére d’emploi et aux droits de la personne. Actuellement, avec
I’Agence de la fonction publique du Canada, nous travaillons a
I’élaboration d’un cadre d’embauche des nouveaux immigrants.

Par ailleurs, l'institut a pris un certain nombre d’initiatives
visant a améliorer sa capacité de régler ces problémes, par
exemple en augmentant la disponibilité des cours de formation sur
I’équité en matiére d’emploi et les droits de la personne destinés a
ses délégués syndicaux et en élaborant des ressources et des
documents pédagogiques divers pour ses membres. Actuellement,
le comité des droits de la personne en milieu de travail de I'institut
recueille et examine les plans des ministéres concernant 1’équité en
matiére d’emploi, a des fins de consultation future. Nous
travaillons également en partenariat avec différents groupes
comme le Conseil national des minorités visibles et d’autres
agents négociateurs pour pouvoir collaborer avec eux sur les
dossiers.

Je vous remercie de votre attention et suis prét a répondre a vos
questions.

La présidente : Merci pour vos exposés.

Le sénateur Munson : Monsieur Cashman, dans I’exposé que
vous avez préparé, vous avez fait une déclaration plutét radicale,
et je voudrais obtenir des éclaircissements a ce sujet. Vous avez dit
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that hiring managers were a barrier to achieving employment
equity and knowing this, they gave them authority to establish
their own needs.”

We have heard different types of testimony on managers and
so on. However, would you not give the manager the benefit of
the doubt if it is someone who is progressive enough to try to fulfil
a mandate of dealing with equity problems in the public service
and ensuring that visible minorities would be hired, someone who
would try to reach a quota that would be acceptable within the
public service? It seems that you tarnished every manager in the
public service. If you do not have a manager, who runs the place?

Mr. Cashman: My colleague will answer.
Senator Munson: Are you a manager?

Lisa Addario, Employment Equity Officer, Public Service
Alliance of Canada: Thank you for the question. Mr. Cashman
deferred to me because I was the source of that statement. In fact,
I was not the source; it was Treasury Board. It was written in their
2001-02 annual report. You may remember that it was during
those years that Treasury Board needed to account for the failure
of the Embracing Change Initiative, which was to take place from
2000 to 2003. Their goal was that one in every five external hires
be a racialized person. At best, they achieved one in 10 in one of
those three years and fell below that mark in the other two years,
so they had some explaining to do. It was a very well-resourced
campaign.

When it came time to explain it, they said in their 2001-02
report that the problem was the hiring managers. More needs to
be done to convince hiring managers that hiring racially visible
people makes good business sense.

Then, in the following year, they increased the discretion to
hiring managers without increasing any type of accountability on
their part. At the same time, in 2003, there was a significant
reduction in resources to the Canadian Human Rights
Commission, as you heard from the commissioner, who talked
about how they had to reconfigure their commission when
resources were cut. Therefore, that configuration of a cut in
resources to the oversight mechanism at the same time that
discretion was given to the hiring managers with no additional
accountability has led us to say, not necessarily through any other
mechanism but by virtue of the fact that there are many decisions
to be made, and that the hiring managers have not picked up the
slack and made the changes necessary to make the workforce
representative.

que : « le gouvernement savait pertinemment que les
gestionnaires recruteurs étaient un obstacle a la réalisation de
I’équité en matiére emploi et, méme en sachant cela, il leur a
donné le pouvoir d’établir leurs propres besoins. »

Nous avons entendu différents types de témoignages
concernant les cadres, et cetera. Cependant, n’accorderiez-vous
pas le bénéfice du doute a un gestionnaire suffisamment
progressiste pour tenter de s’acquitter du mandat consistant a
régler les problémes d’équité dans la fonction publique, a veiller a
ce que les minorités visibles soient embauchées et a parvenir a un
quota qui serait acceptable au sein de la fonction publique? On
dirait que vous avez terni I'image de tous les gestionnaires de la
fonction publique. Or, s’il n’y avait pas de gestionnaires, qui
dirigerait?

M. Cashman : Mon collégue va vous répondre.

Le sénateur Munson : Etes-vous gestionnaire?

Lisa Addario, agente d’équité en matiére d’emploi, Alliance de la
fonction publique du Canada : Je vous remercie de votre question,
que M. Cashman m’a renvoyée parce que c’est moi qui suis a
l’origine de cette déclaration. En fait, cette derniére ne vient pas de
moi, mais du Conseil du Trésor. Elle figurait dans le rapport
annuel de 2001-2002 de I’organisme. Vous vous souvenez
peut-étre que c’est au cours de ces années que le Conseil du
Trésor avait di rendre des comptes au sujet de I’échec de
I'initiative Faire place au changement, qui devait se dérouler de
2000 a 2003. L’objectif était que sur cinq employés recrutés a
I’externe, il y en ait un qui soit membre d’une minorité visible.
Dans le meilleur des cas, on a atteint un quota de 1 sur 10 au
cours d’une de ces trois années, et on est tombé au-dessous de ce
chiffre les deux autres années. On a donc eu des explications a
fournir. C’était une campagne trés bien pourvue en ressources.

Quand est venu le temps d’expliquer ces résultats, le Conseil du
Trésor a déclaré, dans son rapport de 2001-2002, que le probléme
venait des gestionnaires qui embauchent du personnel. On doit
faire encore plus pour convaincre ces gestionnaires recruteurs que
I’embauche de membres des minorités visibles est une saine
pratique de gestion.

Puis, l'année suivante, 'organisme a augmenté le pouvoir
discrétionnaire des gestionnaires recruteurs sans exiger une
quelconque responsabilisation accrue de leur part. En méme
temps, en 2003, il ya eu une importante réduction des ressources
allouées a la Commission canadienne des droits de la personne,
comme vous I’a dit la commissaire, qui a également parlé de la
facon dont on a dié réorganiser la commission lorsque ses
ressources ont été coupées. Par conséquent, cette situation ou I’'on
sabrait dans les ressources affectées au mécanisme de surveillance
en méme temps qu’on accordait un pouvoir discrétionnaire aux
gestionnaires recruteurs sans leur imposer une plus grande
reddition de comptes nous a amenés a dire, pas nécessairement
en nous appuyant sur un quelconque autre mécanisme, mais en
raison du fait qu’il y a beaucoup de décisions a prendre, que les
gestionnaires recruteurs n’ont pas comblé les lacunes ni apporté
les modifications nécessaires pour rendre la main-d’ceuvre
représentative.
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Senator Munson: Keeping that in mind, with your
recommendation that managers should be held accountable for
meeting their employment equity targets, are you looking at some
sort of punishment, for want of a better word, if they do not meet
them?

Mr. Cashman: They certainly should not be receiving a bonus
for exceptional work that particular year. It should be a part of
the package upon which they are rated each year. Managers who
do not meet their targets for other work do not always receive
their bonuses, so why, when it comes to employment equity,
should 95 per cent of them get their bonus, when we know the
targets are not being met? Managers should have to face
consequences.

Senator Munson: How serious is the back-door hiring?

Mr. Cashman: Sadly, since the changes to the Public Service
Employment Act, it is worse now than ever in the public service.

Senator Munson: Why is that? Why can people not get their
acts together? Here is a public service in transition. Many young
people the age of my oldest son — 23, 24 years of age — are
anxious to get into the public service and work. It is about serving
the public; it is the public service. However, there seem to be
hoops, whistles and barriers to go through the proper channels to
get hired.

How do we eliminate this and create permanent positions as
opposed to the situation where, if people are in a position for two
years, they will slide them into something else and then they
become permanent?

Mr. Corbett: You used the words “back door.” I would not call
it that. Term and casual employees are recognized ways to fill
temporary work.

Senator Munson: I understand that.

Mr. Corbett: However, we find with the level of funding to the
public service that many managers can only see so far into the
future, and that means terms and casual work. It is almost as if
hiring a full-time employee involves risk, because you have to pay
them continuously for the long term, and government mandates
change often. Therefore, they may be hiring someone whom they
do not need, and once he or she is in the process, it is difficult to
change direction. It really has to do with the long-range vision of
the government of the day versus the short-term need of managers
to balance that risk of hiring someone for the long term.

Senator Munson: Is there systemic racism in the public service?

Le sénateur Munson : En gardant cela a I’esprit, ainsi que votre
recommandation selon laquelle les gestionnaires devraient étre
tenus responsables de l'atteinte de leurs objectifs d’équité en
matiére d’emploi, croyez-vous qu’on devrait leur infliger une sorte
de punition, faute d’un meilleur terme, s’ils ne réalisent pas ces
objectifs?

M. Cashman : Ils ne devraient certainement pas recevoir une
prime pour leur travail exceptionnel cette année-la. Cela devrait
faire partie de ’ensemble de critéres qui servent a les évaluer
chaque année. Les gestionnaires qui n’atteignent pas leurs
objectifs pour un autre aspect de leur travail ne regoivent pas
toujours leurs primes, alors pourquoi, quand il s’agit d’équité en
matiére emploi, 95 p. 100 d’entre eux y auraient-ils droit, tandis
que nous savons que les objectifs ne sont pas respectés? Les
gestionnaires devraient faire face a des conséquences.

Le sénateur Munson : Quelle est 'ampleur du probléme de
I’embauche par des moyens détournés?

M. Cashman : Malheureusement, depuis les modifications
apportées a la Loi sur I'emploi dans la fonction publique, la
situation est pire que jamais dans le secteur public.

Le sénateur Munson : Pourquoi? Pourquoi les gens
n’arrivent-ils pas a prendre les choses en main? Nous avons la
une fonction publique en transition. Beaucoup de jeunes de I’age
de mon fils ainé — 23, 24 ans — sont désireux d’entrer dans la
fonction publique et d’y travailler. Il s’agit de servir le public.
Toutefois, pour parvenir a suivre les voies appropriées afin de
décrocher un emploi, il semble y avoir toutes sortes d’obstacles et
d’épreuves a surmonter.

Comment peut-on éliminer ce probléme et créer des postes
permanents, au lieu de se retrouver dans cette situation ou, si les
gens sont en poste pendant deux ans, on les met ailleurs et alors,
ils deviennent permanents?

M. Corbett : Vous avez utilisé I’expression « moyens
détournés ». Je n’appellerais pas cela ainsi. Les employés
occasionnels ou nommés pour une période déterminée sont des
moyens reconnus d’effectuer du travail temporaire.

Le sénateur Munson : Je le comprends.

M. Corbett : Cependant, nous constatons, compte tenu du
niveau de financement alloué a la fonction publique, que pour de
nombreux gestionnaires, la capacité de prévoir ’avenir est limitée,
ce qui implique du travail occasionnel ou a durée déterminée.
C’est presque comme si I’embauche d’employés a temps plein
comportait un risque parce qu’il faut les rémunérer
continuellement a long terme, alors que les mandats
gouvernementaux changent souvent. Par conséquent, on pourra
embaucher quelqu’un dont on n’a pas besoin et, une fois cette
personne en poste, il sera difficile de changer de cap. C’est
véritablement une question de vision a long terme du
gouvernement en place par opposition au besoin a bréve
échéance des gestionnaires d’évaluer le risque que représente
I’embauche de quelqu’un a long terme.

Le sénateur Munson : Y a-t-il du racisme systémique dans la
fonction publique?
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Mr. Corbett: There are systemic barriers in the public service.

Senator Munson: What does that mean?

Mr. Corbett: The barriers, such as the ones I pointed out a few
minutes ago, are, for example, having posters that say
“Canadian”; you must have Canadian experience. That could
be perceived as a barrier for an immigrant who comes in and does
not have Canadian experience but is fully qualified to do the job.
Whether you want to call that systemic discrimination or not, it is
certainly a systemic barrier. That is one example.

Mr. Cashman: Other people will use the terms “systemic
barriers” or ‘“systemic problems,” but we need to name the
elephant in the room, and it is racism. When we call people on
their behaviour, their bad behaviour, we can then adopt an
approach to deal with it. As Canadians, for some reason, it is in
our culture and our psyche that we like to pretend we are not
racist. The truth is that we all are racist. Some of us are willing to
admit it and work on it differently from others.

Senator Munson: You made reference to the terminology
“visible minority.” Do you not like that terminology?

Mr. Cashman: The United Nations is calling us on that term as
well.

Senator Munson: It is in my notes here. It is a term that we have
come to use in this country.

Mr. Cashman: However, if you think about it in the global
context, they are the global majority. We must get past that as
Canadians, because we have this “founding fathers” image of our
nation. As we fit in this world, we need to realize that Caucasians
are the minority. If we try to label people with the term “visible
minority” in Vancouver, Toronto or any major centre, it just does
not work.

Senator Munson: What should it be then? Should there be no
labels?

Mr. Cashman: We are suggesting a word that came from the
community itself, “racialized.”

The Chair: We were in Geneva at the time the committee
released the report questioning our use of the term “visible
minorities.” Coming back to Canada, many of the traditional
non-governmental organizations, NGOs, not just professionals
but those who work in the visible minority field, were quite
distraught — that is maybe too strong a word — but they did not
like the UN’s questioning of our use of the term “visible
minorities.” We have yet to hear with a single voice whether
your term is any better than the existing one. I do not believe
there is a concensus within the visible minority communities or

M. Corbett : Il ya des obstacles systémiques dans la fonction
publique.

Le sénateur Munson : Qu’est-ce que cela veut dire?

M. Corbett : Ces obstacles, tels que ceux que j’ai indiqués il ya
quelques minutes, peuvent prendre la forme d’avis d’emploi ou
I’on utilise le qualificatif « canadien », par exemple en exigeant
une expérience canadienne. Cela pourrait étre per¢gu comme une
barriére pour un immigrant qui entre au pays et ne posséde pas
d’expérience canadienne, mais qui est pleinement qualifié pour
faire le travail. Que vous vouliez ou non appeler cela de la
discrimination systémique, il s’agit certainement d’un obstacle
systémique. C’est un exemple.

M. Cashman : D’autres personnes utiliseront les termes
« barriéres systémiques » ou « problémes systémiques », mais
appelons un chat un chat : il s’agit de racisme. Lorsqu’on améne
les gens a prendre conscience de leurs mauvais comportements, on
peut ensuite adopter une stratégie pour y remédier. En tant que
Canadiens, pour une raison quelconque, cela fait partie de notre
culture et de notre mentalité que d’aimer prétendre que nous ne
sommes pas racistes. La vérité est que nous le sommes tous.
Certains d’entre nous sont préts a I’admettre et a y travailler
différemment des autres.

Le sénateur Munson : Vous avez fait référence a I’expression
« minorités visibles ». Ce terme ne vous plait pas?

M. Cashman : L’ONU conteste également notre utilisation de
ce terme.

Le sénateur Munson : Il apparait dans mes notes, ici. C’est une
expression que nous en sommes venus a utiliser dans notre pays.

M. Cashman : Cependant, si I'on y songe dans une perspective
planétaire, les personnes visées constituent la majorité mondiale.
En tant que Canadiens, nous devons aller au-dela de cette image
de type « peres fondateurs » que nous nous faisons de notre
nation. Dans ce monde, il faut que nous prenions conscience que
les Caucasiens sont minoritaires. Si nous essayons d’étiqueter les
gens avec le terme « minorités visibles » a Vancouver, a Toronto
ou dans tout autre grand centre, cela ne fonctionne tout
simplement pas.

Le sénateur Munson : Quel terme devrait-on utiliser, dans ce
cas? Faudrait-il qu’il n’y ait aucune étiquette?

M. Cashman : Nous recommandons un mot proposé par la
communauté elle-méme, soit : « racialisé ».

La présidente : Nous étions a Genéve quand le comité a publié
le rapport remettant en question notre utilisation de I’expression
« minorités visibles ». Pour en revenir au Canada, un grand
nombre d’organismes non-gouvernementaux traditionnels,
d’ONG, pas seulement les professionnels, mais aussi ceux qui
travaillent aupres des minorités visibles, étaient assez désemparés
— le mot est peut-étre un peu fort —, mais ils n’ont pas aimé que
I’ONU conteste notre recours a I’expression « minorités visibles ».
Nous n’avons pas encore entendu dire d’une seule voix que votre
terme est préférable a celui qui existe. Je ne crois pas qu’il y ait un
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the racialized communities, yet you seem to think there is. Can
you tell me where you found that consensus?

Mr. Cashman: I am not saying that there is a consensus; I am
saying that within any community there is debate over
terminology. We are saying that “visible minorities” is not the
proper term. Unfortunately, that is the language in the act with
which we deal.

Senator Munson: Whatever the term, racism is racism.

Senator Oliver: I would like to thank both groups for their
excellent presentations. They are very helpful to the committee.
Much thought was put into both reports.

Senator Munson referred to a similar paragraph as the one in
your recommendations, Mr. Cashman, to which I refer:

Managers should be held accountable for meeting their
employment equity targets. Further, data should be
publicized to establish how many managers have been
denied their performance bonuses because they failed to
meet departmental employment equity targets.

Over the weekend, as you know, in the financial sections of the
National Post and The Globe and Mail, there was a story that
Mr. Nixon, the head of Canada’s largest bank, was punished by
losing $4 million of his bonus this year because of his performance
at the bank. It was published; the public could see it. He is
receiving $4 million less this year in his bonus. He will still make
$11.3 million, but it was publicized, and all Canadians and others
can read that here is a senior Canadian businessman who failed
his shareholders and others, so the board of directors felt and
publicized that he will lose $4 million.

That is a good idea. I only wish that somehow we were not
ashamed or afraid of talking about our senior managers in the
public service who are non-compliant. Why should there be that
reluctance? Can you help me with that?

Mr. Cashman: That is a question you may want to put to
others as well, but as Canadians, we need to take the view that it is
our government, our public service, and we are shareholders in
the services they deliver.

Canadians should assume that responsibility a bit more and
push back on politicians or bureaucrats who try to cover up
situations such as that; transparency can only be a good thing.

consensus la-dessus au sein des groupes de minorités visibles ou
des communautés raciales, et pourtant vous semblez penser que
c’est le cas. Pouvez-vous me dire ou vous avez observé ce
consensus?

M. Cashman : Je ne prétends pas qu’il y a un consensus; je dis
que dans toute communauté, on débat de la terminologie. Nous
affirmons que « minorités visibles » n’est pas le terme approprié.
Malheureusement, il est utilisé dans la loi avec laquelle nous
traitons.

Le sénateur Munson : Quel que soit le terme employé, le
racisme reste le racisme.

Le sénateur Oliver : Je tiens a remercier nos deux groupes de
témoins pour leurs excellents exposés, qui seront trés utiles a notre
comité. Ces deux rapports sont le fruit d’importantes réflexions.

Le sénateur Munson a évoqué un paragraphe similaire a celui
qui fait partie de vos recommandations, M. Cashman, et qui se lit
ainsi :

Les gestionnaires doivent étre tenus de rendre des
comptes pour ce qui est de latteinte de leurs objectifs
d’équité en matiére d’emploi. Il faut également publier les
données concernant le nombre de gestionnaires qui n’ont
pas regu leurs primes, faute d’avoir réussi a atteindre les
objectifs du ministére relativement a I’équité en maticre
d’emploi.

Comme vous le savez, la fin de semaine derniére, dans les
sections financiéres du National Post et du Globe and Mail, on
rapportait que M. Nixon, chef de la direction de la plus grande
banque canadienne, a été sanctionné par la perte de 4 millions de
dollars sur le montant de sa prime cette année a cause de son
rendement a la banque. Ce fait a été rendu public. Cette année,
M. Nixon recevra 4 millions de dollars de moins en montant de
prime. Il obtiendra tout de méme 11,3 millions de dollars, mais
cette information a été médiatisée, et tous les Canadiens et les
autres peuvent lire qu’il s’agit 1a d’'un homme d’affaires canadien
chevronné qui a manqué a son devoir envers ses actionnaires,
entre autres, de sorte que le conseil d’administration a estimé qu’il
devrait perdre 4 millions de dollars et a rendu publique cette
décision.

Voila une bonne idée. Je voudrais simplement nous n’ayons
pas honte ou peur de parler de nos cadres supérieurs de la
fonction publique qui manquent a leurs obligations. Pourquoi
devrait-il y avoir une telle réticence? Pouvez-vous m’éclairer
la-dessus?

M. Cashman : C’est une question que vous voudrez peut-étre
poser aux autres également, mais en tant que Canadiens, il faut
que nous considérions qu’il s’agit de notre gouvernement, de
notre fonction publique, et que nous sommes actionnaires des
services qu’ils nous fournissent.

Les Canadiens devraient assumer un peu plus cette
responsabilité et mettre le hola quand des politiciens ou des
bureaucrates essaient de couvrir des situations comme celles dont
il est question. La transparence ne peut étre qu'une bonne chose.
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Senator Oliver: Should there be a communication strategy, and
if so, who should be responsible for the strategy to get this
information out?

Mr. Cashman: Every year a journalist of the Ottawa Citizen
does access to information requests on the performance bonuses
to try to get at the root of who or what department is not getting
them. He or she is stymied every time; that is, the powers that be
protect that information. We do not need to know the names
necessarily, but we need to know which departments are not
complying with employment equity.

Senator Oliver: If we read in the paper only that a Canadian
banker did not get a $4-million bonus, it will not help us too
much. Names are important.

Mr. Cashman: That is true.

Senator Oliver: You said that you are working with a number
of different groups to work out your policies, and doing
wonderful work on employment equity. One of these is the
National Council of Visible Minorities, NCVM. They have
appeared before us on many occasions.

They — and I — have wanted for a long time, as a way of
overcoming the systemic racism problem in the public service, to
have a new creature, a new parliamentary personality called a
commissioner of diversity. This person would be similar to the
Commissioner of Official Languages. This would be a person who
could appear before committees such as this and committees in
the House of Commons and give an accounting for
non-compliance — those who did not get their bonus, those
who should not get their bonus. This person could be a liaison
and a person to whom visible minorities and other parts of the
target groups could go to.

Right now there is no one, and we heard that the Canadian
Human Rights Commission certainly cannot do it. They are
grossly understaffed; their mandate is too weak; they have no
stick. What do you think of that concept that has been
recommended by the National Council of Visible Minorities?

Mr. Corbett: At first brush, it sounds like it would be a good
position to have to provide information on a macro level for this
committee and for others interested in the issue. We find in our
own shop that when we broaden the dialogue, it often brings back
perspectives that go to a better solution. Such an office may
indeed be able to bring that perspective into it.

Al Ravjiani, Director, Ontario Region and Chair, Human Rights
in the Workplace Committee, Professional Institute of the Public
Service of Canada: I have personally worked with Igho Natufe,
and I also tried to do a little work with Jacqueline Edwards when
she was the NCVM president. We have to think about the fact
that when the previous committee came here, they streamlined
their employment equity audit from a 12-step process to a nine-

Le sénateur Oliver : Devrait-il y avoir une stratégie de
communication et, si oui, qui devrait étre responsable de la
stratégie visant a rendre publics ces renseignements?

M. Cashman : Chaque année, un journaliste du Ottawa Citizen
présente une demande d’accés a I'information au sujet des primes
de rendement pour essayer de faire la lumiére sur les gens ou les
ministéres qui n’en obtiendront pas. Mais on le bloque a chaque
fois, car les pouvoirs en place protégent cette information. Il n’est
pas nécessaire de connaitre les noms, mais il faut que nous
sachions quels ministéres ne respectent pas les impératifs d’équité
en matiére d’emploi.

Le sénateur Oliver : Si nous lisons seulement dans le journal
qu'un banquier canadien n’a pas obtenu une prime de 4 millions
de dollars, cela ne nous aidera pas tellement. Les noms sont
importants.

M. Cashman : C’est vrai.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous avez dit collaborer avec un certain
nombre de groupes différents pour I’élaboration de vos politiques,
et accomplir un travail remarquable sur I’équité en matiére
d’emploi. L’un de ces groupes est le Conseil national des minorités
visibles, ou CNMYV, dont des représentants ont comparu devant
nous a maintes reprises.

Ils — ainsi que moi-méme — veulent depuis longtemps, comme
moyen de surmonter le probléme du racisme systémique dans la
fonction publique, qu’on crée un nouveau poste, une nouvelle
personnalité parlementaire qu’on appellerait « commissaire a la
diversité ». Ce poste serait semblable a celui du commissaire aux
langues officielles, et son titulaire pourrait se présenter devant des
comités comme celui-ci ou ceux de la Chambre des communes
afin de donner un compte-rendu de non-conformité concernant
ceux qui n’ont pas regu leur prime ou qui ne devraient pas
l’obtenir. Cette personne pourrait étre un agent de liaison et
quelqu’un a qui les minorités visibles et les autres membres des
groupes cibles pourraient s’adresser.

A TI’heure actuelle, il n’existe rien de tel, et on nous a dit que la
Commission canadienne des droits de la personne ne pouvait
certainement pas agir en ce sens. Elle souffre d’un grave probléeme
de sous-effectifs, et son mandat est trop faible; elle n’a pas de
moyens. Que pensez-vous de ce concept recommandé par le
Conseil national des minorités visibles?

M. Corbett : A premiére vue, il semble que ce serait un bon
poste a avoir pour fournir des informations, d’un point de vue
général, a ce comité et a d’autres personnes s’intéressant a la
question. Au sein de notre institut, nous constatons que le fait
d’élargir le dialogue ouvre souvent sur des perspectives qui
meénent a de meilleures solutions. Un tel bureau pourrait en effet
apporter ce genre de points de vue.

Al Ravjiani, directeur régional de I’Ontario et président du
Comité des droits de la personne en milieu de travail, Institut
professionnel de la fonction publique du Canada: J’ai
personnellement travaillé avec Igho Natufe, et j’ai également
essayé de collaborer un peu avec Jacqueline Edwards quand elle
était présidente de la CNMV. Nous devons penser au fait que
lorsque les membres du précédent comité sont venus ici, leur
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step process. The process still takes too long to get the data out. If
the data comes out in an untimely manner, where you see the
people responsible for hiring, they may have gone by then. Their
performance bonus is a non-issue.

Another issue is that of how we get the right data to go in and
either praise or punish. To get the right data, we need the right
statistics; and if we look at our census data that we work from, we
were working from the 2001 data. It is now 2007-08, and we are
still working on bits and pieces of the 2006 data. The data we
work from is not correct. How do you punish someone with
incorrect data? There is an issue right there.

Senator Oliver: Even if they did not have the incorrect data, or
not up-to-date data, they are not even meeting the old data. They
could not even meet the Embracing Change Initiative, which you
talked about.

Mr. Ravjiani: I have been involved with about eight hiring
boards in the Canada Revenue Agency. Look at Toronto as an
example. Even if you do not want to meet the employment equity
quota, there is so much population out there, and they use that
for regional statistics; so now how do we take that data and say
that are we doing okay in Fort Erie or Thunder Bay? Data has to
be correct. To be able to come up with new positions is okay, but
we need to go with the right data, and I believe we have a big
problem with data.

How do we solve it? We still need to be proactive; we still need
to ensure there are mentors for people who want to move up in
career progression; we need to ensure there are individual learning
plans being respected. However, the issue that comes up, which is
a big issue, is that staffing does not fall under collective
bargaining. It is imposed upon us, and when it is imposed upon
us, we then have to accept what the staffing criteria is for internal
and external staffing. Classification is another issue.

Those points I want to raise here for you to think about
because when you come back to unions, you want to think about
those things. Thank you.

Mr. Cashman: If I may go back to your suggestion with respect
to the commissioner of diversity, you need to know there are
currently three central agencies with responsibility for
employment equity. We call them the ABCs: the Canada Public
Service Agency, the Treasury Board and the Public Service
Commission of Canada. Unfortunately, there is shell game
between the three of them for assuming full responsibility for
employment equity. We would be concerned if a fourth agency
were created, unless it is more of an ombudsperson. However, in
terms of creating yet another bureaucracy, we would be
concerned that it would get lost more than it is now.

processus de vérification de I’équité en matiere d’emploi avait été
simplifié, passant de 12 a 9 étapes. Le processus de diffusion des
données demeure trop long. Si ces données ne sont pas publiées au
moment opportun, les personnes responsables de l’embauche
pourront avoir quitté leur poste entre-temps. Leurs primes de
rendement sont un faux probléme.

Une autre question consiste a déterminer comment obtenir les
bonnes données pour pouvoir soit louanger, soit punir les
responsables. Pour avoir des données exactes, nous avons
besoin des statistiques exactes; et en ce qui concerne les données
de recensement dont nous nous sommes servis pour notre travail,
elles dataient de 2001. Nous sommes maintenant en 2007-2008, et
nous travaillons toujours sur des données partielles de 2006. Les
informations a partir desquelles nous travaillons sont incorrectes.
Comment sanctionner quelqu’un qui présente des renseignements
inexacts? Il y a 1a un probleme.

Le sénateur Oliver : Méme si leurs données étaient exactes ou a
jour, ils n’atteignent méme pas les anciens quotas. Ils
n’arriveraient méme pas a satisfaire aux objectifs de I'initiative
Faire place au changement, dont vous avez parlé.

M. Ravjiani : J’ai fait partie d’environ huit comités de
recrutement a 1I’Agence du revenu du Canada. Prenons
I’exemple de Toronto. Méme si on ne souhaitait pas atteindre le
quota d’équité en matiére d’emploi, la population est trés
importante la-bas, et les données qui la concernent sont utilisées
a des fins de statistiques régionales; maintenant, comment
pouvons-nous prendre ces données et prétendre que nous nous
tirons bien d’affaire a Fort Erie ou Thunder Bay ? Les données
doivent étre exactes. Parvenir a créer de nouveaux postes est une
bonne chose, mais il faut utiliser les bonnes données, et je crois
que nous avons un gros probléme sur ce plan.

Comment pouvons-nous le résoudre? Nous devons continuer
d’étre proactifs et de nous assurer de la présence de mentors pour
ceux qui veulent progresser dans leur carriére, en plus de veiller au
respect des plans d’apprentissage individuels. Toutefois, la
question qui surgit, et qui constitue un gros probléme, c’est que
la dotation en personnel est exclue des négociations collectives.
Elle nous est imposée, et quand cela arrive, nous devons accepter
que les criteres de dotation s’appliquent au recrutement a I'interne
et a ’externe. La classification est une autre question.

Ce sont la quelques points que je tenais a soulever ici, parce que
quand vous reviendrez aux syndicats, vous voudrez y avoir
réfléchi. Merci.

M. Cashman : Si je puis me permettre de revenir sur votre
proposition a I’égard d’un commissaire a la diversité, sachez qu’il
existe actuellement trois organismes centraux chargés d’assurer
I’équité en matiére d’emploi : I’Agence de la fonction publique du
Canada, le Conseil du Trésor et la Commission de la fonction
publique du Canada. Malheureusement, les trois jouent a la
chaise musicale pour déterminer qui doit assumer I’entiére
responsabilit¢é de 1’équité matiére en emploi. Nous serions
inquiets de la création d’un quatriéme organisme, a moins qu’il
s’agisse davantage d’un ombudsman. Toutefois, si 'on devait
créer une nouvelle bureaucratie, nous craignons qu’on s’y perde
encore plus.
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Senator Oliver: Thank you.

The Chair: For the record, since I did not read the same article
on the bank manager, was it employment equity he did not get his
bonus on or something else? Just for the record. We do not know?
He just did not get the bonus?

Senator Oliver: No, it was the bank’s performance.

The Chair: The performance overall. Thank you.

Mr. Cashman: The banks are doing quite well.

Senator Poy: Thank you very much for your presentation. If
we call systemic racism straight out instead of beating around the
bush, it would be easier for everyone to deal with and to say that
is what we have; that is the problem; let us deal with it. What do
you think?

Mr. Cashman: I can only agree with you. It is the same as
challenging sexist behaviour, ableism or homophobia. We need to
name it, and that is how we need to approach it.

Ms. Addario: A few years ago, one of our representatives called
and asked me to participate in an employment equity conference
that was being held for hiring managers in the federal public
sector. When I went there, in probably 2005, I heard a number of
people speak, and it seemed that there was a movement, a trend,
to rename employment equity committees, to move away from
the term of employment equity to employment diversity.
Employment equity committees were no longer being called
that. Their mandate was getting a little more amorphous, not
quite so sharp and focused on employment-equity related issues.

At the time, we said that two things will happen when they do
that. First, they water down exactly what their objectives are; but
second, they fail to recognize the historic discrimination that has
been faced by women, persons with disabilities, racialized people
and Aboriginal people. When they fail to name it, they miss an
opportunity to articulate exactly what it is that needs to be
remedied. They fail to articulate that there are remedial measures
that need to be taken to address historic discrimination against
those people. To no avail, diversity committees continue to
dominate in work places across the federal public sector.
However, we believe that type of shift needs to be attended to.
We need to note and resist that.

Senator Poy: It is like sweeping issues under the carpet.

Mr. Ravjinai, you mentioned correct data and that it has to be
fast. I know we are using old data from many years ago.

Le sénateur Oliver : Je vous remercie.

La présidente : A des fins de précision, puisque je n’ai pas lu cet
article sur le directeur de banque, est-ce pour une question
d’équité en matiére d’emploi qu’il n’a pas obtenu sa prime, ou
pour autre chose? J’aimerais seulement le préciser aux fins du
compte rendu. Savons-nous uniquement qu’il n’a pas recu de
prime?

Le sénateur Oliver : Non; il s’agissait du rendement de la
banque.

La présidente : C’était donc une question de rendement global.
Mereci.

M. Cashman : Les banques se portent fort bien.

Le sénateur Poy : Je vous remercie beaucoup de votre exposé.
Si nous appelions carrément cela du racisme systémique au lieu de
tourner autour du pot, il serait plus facile pour tout le monde d’y
faire face et de dire : « voici la situation, tel est le probléme,
laissez-nous le régler ». Qu’en pensez-vous?

M. Cashman : Je ne peux qu’étre d’accord avec vous. C’est la
méme chose que de dénoncer les comportements sexistes, la
discrimination fondée sur les capacités physiques et
I’homophobie. Il faut que nous nommions le probléme, et c’est
ainsi que nous devons ’aborder.

Mme Addario : Il ya quelques années, un de nos représentants
m’a appelée pour me demander de participer a une conférence sur
I’équité en matiére emploi que l'on tenait a l'intention des
gestionnaires recruteurs de la fonction publique fédérale. Quand
je suis allée la-bas — en 2005, probablement —, j’ai entendu
parler un certain nombre de personnes, et j’ai cru déceler une
tendance a renommer les comités pour 1’équité en matiére
d’emploi, a abandonner ce terme pour celui de « diversité en
matiére d’emploi ». Ces comités ne portaient plus le méme nom.
Leur mandat était devenu un peu plus amorphe, et plus tout a fait
aussi net et centré sur les questions liées a 1’équité en matiére
d’emploi.

A I’époque, nous avons dit qu’en faisant cela, on créait deux
effets. Premiérement, on diluait ’essence méme des objectifs visés,
et deuxiémement, on ne reconnaissait pas la discrimination
historique subie par les femmes, les personnes handicapées, les
membres des minorités visibles et les Autochtones. En ne
nommant pas les choses, on ratait une occasion de préciser
exactement quel probléme il fallait régler. On n’exprimait pas la
nécessité de prendre des mesures correctives pour remédier a la
discrimination historique contre ces gens. Mais tout cela a été
vain; les comités pour la diversité continuent de dominer les
milieux de travail partout dans la fonction publique fédérale.
Néanmoins, nous pensons qu’il faut préter attention a ce type de
changement. Nous devons en prendre acte, et y résister.

Le sénateur Poy : Cela revient a balayer les problémes sous le
tapis.

Monsieur Ravjinai, vous avez parlé de données exactes, en
ajoutant qu’il fallait les diffuser rapidement. Je sais que nous
utilisons des données obsolétes qui datent de nombreuses années.
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Mr. Cashman mentioned something the Ottawa Citizen
published — I have never seen the article, so I will not
comment on it. What do they publish? Do they publish who
gets the bonus? How is that published?

Mr. Cashman: I talked about the percentages of senior
managers who received the bonus in any given year.

Senator Poy: I would like to follow with what Senator Oliver
said in that we have to name the people. The names are
important.

I know that with many public employees, certainly in Toronto,
they are all listed. People then say, “Oh my God, that is what they
make? What have they done?” Everyone looks at that, especially
when it is people you know or recognize the names of. Putting
people’s names to it is important. Is there a way to do that? I
guess it depends on the newspapers.

Mr. Cashman: The newspapers have not been able to get the
information. I am sure they would be tempted to publish it.

Senator Poy: They cannot get the information?

Mr. Cashman: Maybe with good senator support, we can do
better with our access to information requests.

Senator Jaffer: 1 have enjoyed the candidness of your
presentations. I have to say that because Mr. Ravjiani and my
family go a long way back. It was a very candid presentation. |
will not forget what you said, that the elephant in the room is
racism.

I want to turn something around. Where I come from in B.C., I
am frustrated when I see young public service employees who are
being held behind. They will never thrive in Ottawa because of
language training.

Is there not anything you can do when bargaining to make sure
people who are not in this triangle get proper language training?
The money for language training comes from the manager’s
budget, and the manager does not want to part with that budget.
That is the problem.

Mr. Corbett: Overall, budgets for federal public service work
are not adequate. When the manager is faced with the choice of
doing the work they are supposed to do and also providing
language training for an employee who will not be able to do the
work because he or she is in training, that is a critical problem
that needs to be addressed. Overall, base budgets need to increase.

Mr. Cashman: However, it is not just a money issue. It is a
philosophy. You have heard a previous Commissioner of Official
Languages say that we do not need to do any more language
training of the federal public service. Ms. Adam, on her way out
the door, made that statement. She is doing a terrible injustice,
not just to those young people you met in British Columbia, but
to young people from across the country who may not come from

M. Cashman a mentionné un article paru dans 1’Ottawa
Citizen — que je n’ai jamais vu, de sorte que je ne ferai pas de
commentaires a ce sujet. Que publie-t-on? Révéle-t-on qui obtient
une prime? Comment ces renseignements sont-ils publiés?

M. Cashman : J’ai parlé de la proportion de cadres supérieurs
ayant recu une prime au cours d’une année donnée.

Le sénateur Poy : J’aimerais dire a mon tour, comme le
sénateur Oliver, que nous devons préciser les noms. C’est
important.

Je sais que dans le cas de nombreux employés de la fonction
publique, et certainement a Toronto, ces personnes sont toutes
répertoriées. Les gens disent alors : « Oh, mon Dieu, c’est ce qu’ils
font? Qu’ont-ils fait? » Tout le monde jette un coup d’ceeil, surtout
quand il s’agit de personnes qu’on connait ou dont on reconnait le
nom. Préciser les noms est important. Y a t-il un moyen de le
faire? Je suppose que cela dépend des journaux.

M. Cashman : Les journaux n’ont pas pu obtenir
I'information. Je suis certain qu’ils seraient tentés de la publier.

Le sénateur Poy : Ils ne peuvent pas obtenir 'information?

M. Cashman : Avec un bon appui de la part des sénateurs,
nous pourrions peut-étre faire mieux avec nos demandes d’accés a
I'information.

Le sénateur Jaffer : J’ai apprécié la franchise de vos exposés. Je
précise que M. Ravjiani et ma famille se connaissent depuis
longtemps. Ce fut un exposé fort sincére. Je n’oublierai pas ce que
vous avez dit, a savoir qu’il faut appeler un chat un chat en ce qui
concerne le racisme.

Jaimerais changer quelque chose. La d’ou je viens, en
Colombie-Britannique, cela m’irrite de voir qu’on impose des
obstacles a des jeunes employés de la fonction publique, qui ne
pourront jamais réussir a Ottawa, faute d’une formation

linguistique.

N’y a-t-il rien que vous puissiez faire, dans le cadre de vos
négociations, pour faire en sorte que ceux qui sont dans ce genre
de situation obtiennent une formation linguistique adéquate?
Cette formation est payée a méme le budget du gestionnaire, qui
ne veut pas se départir de cet argent. Voila le probléeme.

M. Corbett : Dans I’ensemble, les budgets alloués au travail de
la fonction publique fédérale sont insuffisants. Quand un
gestionnaire doit choisir entre faire le travail qui est censé étre
fait et fournir des cours de langue a un employé qui ne pourra pas
effectuer le travail parce qu’il sera en formation, cela pose un
grave probléme, qu’il faut régler. Globalement, les budgets de
base doivent étre augmentés.

M. Cashman : Cependant, ce n’est pas seulement une question
d’argent. C’est aussi une philosophie. Vous avez entendu une
ancienne commissaire aux langues officielles dire que nous
n’avons pas besoin de faire plus de formation linguistique dans
la fonction publique fédérale. Mme Adam, alors qu’elle était sur
le point de quitter ses fonctions, a fait cette déclaration. Elle a
commis la une terrible injustice, pas seulement envers ces jeunes
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a background where they had the opportunity to learn both
official languages in school.

We are not at that point in this nation where we can say we
have enough bilingual people in the public service, let us build on
what we have now. Canadians from all corners of this country
need an equal opportunity, and we should be building a public
service that is based on the best and the brightest, not necessarily
those that are lucky enough, for example, like me, who come from
the National Capital Region where I had an opportunity to learn
French. If I had grown up in another part of the country, I do not
believe I would have had that opportunity. Conversely, I do not
believe I would have done as well in the public service as I have.

Senator Jaffer: Is there any way you can help employees?

Mr. Cashman: One problem is that decisions on bilingualism
are not subject to issues of bargaining. We do not get to bargain
staffing or issues such as language training. We have tried.

There is a committee of the National Joint Council on official
languages, but that committee has a sole mandate to look at the
issue of the bilingual bonus, the $800 that has remained the same
since 1974.

By coincidence, we will be making a presentation to the Senate
committee on Thursday with regard to official languages issues,
and we will be talking about training and the other barriers that
represents.

Mr. Corbett: That is the point I wanted to make as well. We are
advocates for this through committees of the government and the
Senate, for sure. However, it is not something we bring to the
bargaining table.

The Chair: We have come to the end of our time. I ask you to
provide us with copies of whatever brief you will be filing with the
Standing Senate Committee on Official Languages. We can get
one, but it would be better if it came from you.

I want to thank you for bringing different perspectives in
looking at the same issues. How do we get to the objectives that
we want within the public service so that it is free, fair and equal
for Canadians? We thank you for bringing different perspectives
into our discussion.

On our next panel we have Mark Persaud, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Canadian International Peace Project. I
understand you will be making the presentation, but
accompanying you is James Morton, perhaps to answer
questions later.

que vous avez rencontrés en Colombie-Britannique, mais aussi a
des jeunes de partout au pays qui n’ont peut-étre pas eu la
possibilité d’apprendre les deux langues officielles a 1’école.

En tant que nation, nous ne sommes pas arrivés a un point ou
nous pouvons dire qu’il y a suffisamment de personnes bilingues
dans notre fonction publique et que nous devons batir sur ce que
nous avons maintenant. Les Canadiens de tous les coins de ce
pays ont besoin d’une égalité des chances, et nous devrions
construire un service public qui repose sur les meilleurs et les plus
brillants employés, et pas nécessairement sur ceux qui ont la
chance, comme moi, de venir de région de la capitale nationale, ou
j’ai pu apprendre le frangais. Si j'avais grandi dans une autre
partie du pays, je ne pense pas que j’aurais eu cette occasion. Et je
ne crois pas que je m’en serais aussi bien tiré dans la fonction
publique que j’ai pu le faire.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Y a-t-il moyen pour vous d’aider les
employés?

M. Cashman : Le probléme, c’est que les décisions concernant
le bilinguisme ne peuvent faire I’objet de négociations. Nous ne
pouvons négocier des questions telles que le recrutement
d’effectifs et la formation linguistique. Nous avons essayé.

Il existe un comité du Conseil national mixte qui porte sur les
langues officielles, mais il a l'unique mandat d’examiner la
question de la prime au bilinguisme et de ce montant de 800 $ qui
est resté le méme depuis 1974.

Par coincidence, nous allons comparaitre jeudi devant le
comité du Sénat en ce qui concerne les questions touchant les
langues officielles, et nous parlerons de formation et des autres
obstacles que cela représente.

M. Corbett : C’est le point que je voulais faire valoir
également. Il ne fait aucun doute que c’est une cause que nous
défendons par I'intermédiaire de comités du gouvernement et du
Sénat. Toutefois, ce n’est pas un sujet qu’on ameéne a la table de
négociation.

La présidente : Le temps dont nous disposions est maintenant
écoulé. Je vous demanderais de nous fournir des copies de tout
mémoire que vous déposerez auprés du Comité sénatorial
permanent des langues officielles. Nous pourrions en obtenir
un, mais ce serait préférable qu’il vienne de vous.

Je tiens a vous remercier d’avoir apporté des points de vue
différents sur les mémes questions. Comment pouvons-nous
atteindre les objectifs souhaités dans la fonction publique afin
qu’elle soit gratuite, juste et équitable pour les Canadiens? Nous
vous remercions d’avoir amené différentes perspectives dans notre
discussion.

Pour ce qui est de notre groupe de témoins suivant, nous
recevons Mark Persaud, président et directeur général du
Canadian International Peace Project. Si j’ai bien compris,
monsieur, c’est vous qui ferez une allocution, mais James
Morton vous accompagne, probablement pour répondre aux
questions par la suite.
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Mark Persaud, as an individual: Madam Chair and all
honourable senators of the committee, I thank you for the
opportunity this evening to appear before this committee on
human rights. I have with me my friend and colleague Mr. James
Morton. He wears many hats and is president of the Ontario Bar
Association, among many things.

While the invitation extended to me correctly identifies
me as the president and chief executive officer of the Canadian
International Peace Project, an independent non-partisan,
non-governmental organization, I want to make it clear for the
record that I will be speaking in my personal capacity this evening
to talk about my personal experiences as a former federal public
service employee.

Having worked for 10 years as a lawyer at the Department of
Justice Canada, I believe that my presentation, from a personal
perspective, will be instructive on some of the maladies that
continue to plague the federal public service in terms of
employment equity.

Some concerns about employment equity are discussed in an
article I have submitted, which I recently co-authored with my
dear friend and colleague, the Honourable David Kilgour, a
former member of Parliament, entitled “Public Service Managers
must be held accountable for failing to hire minorities.” I have
submitted this for your consideration.

One should reasonably expect that the federal public service
should be championing fairness and openness in its employment
policies. Regrettably, this has not been the case, as [ am sure you
are aware. Indeed, one should expect — in my case, my previous
employer — the Department of Justice to be a model for other
government departments when it comes to employment equity.
With regret, I inform you that my experiences as an employee of
the Department of Justice is an example of the problems that have
been festering for many years without being adequately
addressed. These include overt racism and intimidation of
employees.

It is my intention to provide you this evening with a sample of
the problems that have infected an important government
department in terms of its hiring and promotional practices. |
will offer some recommendations and suggestions for how they
may be addressed.

That concludes my opening statement, Madam Chair.

The Chair: You were in the Department of Justice, and they
indicated, when they appeared before us, that they were a rather
unique department because, of course, most of the people in the
department have a law degree. Because it is a practice of law, they
have to have their credentials to get there. The Department of
Justice said they were increasingly facing competition from
outside. Lawyers do not want to go into justice. That was their
particular problem.

Mark Persaud, a titre individuel : Je vous remercie, madame la
présidente, ainsi que vous tous, honorables sénateurs, de me
donner 1’occasion, ce soir, de comparaitre devant ce comité des
droits de la personne. J’ai a mes c6tés mon ami et collégue,
M. James Morton. Il assume de nombreux réoles, notamment celui
de président de 1’Association du Barreau de I’Ontario.

Bien que dans linvitation qui m’a été transmise, on m’ait
identifié a juste titre comme président et directeur général du
Canadian International Peace Project, un organisme indépendant
non partisan et non gouvernemental, je tiens a préciser que je
parlerai en mon nom personnel de mon expérience en tant
qu’ancien fonctionnaire fédéral.

Etant donné que j’ai travaillé pendant 10 ans comme avocat au
ministére de la Justice du Canada, je crois que mon témoignage,
d’un point de vue personnel, sera instructif en ce qui concerne
certains maux qui continuent de sévir dans la fonction publique
fédérale au chapitre de 1’équité en matiere d’emploi.

Certaines préoccupations relatives a 1’équité en matiére
d’emploi sont abordées dans un article que j’ai soumis et que
j’ai récemment coécrit avec mon cher ami et collégue, ’honorable
David Kilgour, un ancien député. Cet article s’intitule « Public
Service Managers must be held accountable for failing to hire
minorities ». Je I’ai déposé auprés de votre comité afin que vous
puissiez ’examiner.

On pourrait raisonnablement s’attendre a ce que la fonction
publique fédérale se fasse la championne de I’équité et de
I'ouverture dans ses politiques d’emploi. Malheureusement, ce
n’est pas le cas, comme vous le savez certainement. En effet, on
s’attendrait — dans mon cas, en ce qui concerne mon ancien
employeur — a ce que le ministére de la Justice soit un modéle
pour d’autres ministéres quand il s’agit d’équité en matiére
d’emploi. C’est avec regret que je vous informe que mon
expérience a titre d’employé du ministére de la Justice est un
exemple des problémes qui couvent depuis de nombreuses années
sans qu’on s’y attaque convenablement. Il s’agit notamment de
racisme flagrant et d’intimidation des employés.

Jai lintention de vous fournir, ce soir, un apergu des
problémes ayant gangrené un important ministére du
gouvernement en ce qui a trait a ses pratiques d’embauche et de
promotion. Je vous présenterai quelques recommandations et
suggestions quant aux moyens de les régler.

Voila qui conclut ma déclaration d’ouverture, madame la
présidente.

La présidente : Vous occupiez un poste au ministére de la
Justice, et ses représentants ont indiqué, lorsqu’ils ont comparu
devant nous, que leur ministére était plutét unique parce que, bien
sir, la plupart de ses employés sont titulaires d’un dipléme en
droit. Etant donné qu’on y pratique le droit, on doit avoir les
titres de compétences nécessaires pour pouvoir y travailler. Les
gens du ministére de la Justice ont dit que celui-ci était de plus en
plus confronté a une concurrence venant de l'extérieur. Les
avocats ne veulent pas entrer au ministére. C’est l1a le probléme
particulier qu’on éprouve.
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On the other hand, they were indicating that employment
equity targets, et cetera, do not work well when what they want is
a young lawyer right out of law school and then the incremental
career. Therefore, it is hard to have a new base.

They were saying there were many retirements, and they may
be able to draw from the base. Was that your experience?

Mr. Persaud: No, it was not, Madam Chair.

I can state to this committee my personal experience through
anecdotal evidence. I am speaking as a person who has worked
for over 24 to 25 years with the Black and other ethno-cultural
communities in Toronto and around Canada, so I come with a
solid background and wide experience.

From the anecdotal evidence that I have received, there have
been many applications from visible minorities to work with the
Department of Justice. Furthermore, from the evidence I have
received, many of these people do not even get called for an
interview.

That is my personal experience. In fact, I have been
approached personally over the years, as have my visible and
non-visible minority colleagues, about employment at the
Department of Justice. Therefore, we know there has been
interest over the years, and I dispute the submissions of the
Department of Justice.

I would like to read from paragraph 4 of the article that I
submitted, which I co-authored with the Honourable David
Kilgour:

The tired old argument that “maybe not enough
minorities apply for federal public sector jobs” has no
factual basis according to statistics obtained by the Public
Service Commission. The Commission’s study also
concluded that the discrepancy is worse in some regions,
departments and occupations.

I submit to you, Madam Chair and honourable senators, that
what you refer to has not been my experience and the experience
of many of my colleagues at the Department of Justice.

Senator Oliver: I am fascinated by the fact that you served and
worked for 10 years in the Department of Justice. In your opening
remarks, you said you were going to outline for us some of the
hiring and promotional policies that have been infecting this
department. In particular, I would like you to tell us about what
happens if a qualified visible minority lawyer in the Department
of Justice is seeking a promotion and there is a contest. What are
some of the things that have traditionally happened in that
department in terms of barriers for visible minorities?

Par ailleurs, ils nous ont indiqué que les objectifs d’équité en
matiére d’emploi et tout le reste ne fonctionnent pas bien quand
ce qu’on cherche, c’est un jeune avocat fraichement diplomé de
I’école de droit dont la carriére connaitra une évolution
progressive. Par conséquent, il est difficile d’établir de nouvelles
bases.

Ces fonctionnaires nous ont dit qu’il y avait de nombreux
départs a la retraite, et qu’on devrait pouvoir recruter a la base
pour combler ces postes. Est-ce 1a ce que vous avez vécu?

M. Persaud : Non, madame la présidente.

Je peux partager mon expérience personnelle avec votre comité
en lui racontant une anecdote. Je parle en tant que personne qui a
travaillé pendant plus de 24 ou 25 ans auprés des communautés
noires et autres collectivités ethno-culturelles de Toronto et
d’ailleurs au Canada. Je posséde donc un solide bagage et une
vaste expérience.

D’aprés ce quon m’a raconté, de nombreuses demandes
d’emploi ont été présentées au ministére de la Justice par des
membres des minorités visibles. Mais beaucoup d’entre eux ne
regoivent méme pas d’appel pour les convoquer a une entrevue.

Voila mon expérience personnelle. En fait, au fil des ans, on
m’a abordé a quelques reprises, tout comme mes collégues faisant
partie de minorités visibles et non visibles, au sujet de ’emploi au
ministére de la Justice. Par conséquent, nous savons qu’on
s’intéresse depuis des années a la question, et je conteste les
affirmations du ministere de la Justice.

Je voudrais vous lire le 4° paragraphe de larticle que jai
déposé, et que j’ai écrit en collaboration avec I’honorable David
Kilgour :

Le vieil argument dépassé selon lequel il n’y a « peut-étre
pas assez de demandes d’emploi dans le secteur public
fédéral de la part de membres des minorités » est dénué de
fondement, selon les statistiques obtenues par la
Commission de la fonction publique. L’étude de la
Commission a également conclu que 1’écart est encore pire
dans certaines régions et professions et dans certains
ministeres.

Je vous signale, madame la présidente et honorables sénateurs,
que ce a quoi vous avez fait allusion ne correspond pas a mon
expérience ni a celle d’un grand nombre de mes collégues au
ministére de la Justice.

Le sénateur Oliver : Je suis fasciné par le fait que vous ayez
travaillé pendant 10 ans au ministére de la Justice. Dans vos
remarques liminaires, vous avez dit que vous alliez nous décrire
certaines des politiques d’embauche et de promotion qui infectent
ce ministére. En particulier, je voudrais savoir ce qui se passerait si
un avocat qualifié appartenant a une minorité visible et travaillant
au ministére de la Justice cherchait a obtenir une promotion, et
qu’il y avait un concours. Quelles sont certaines pratiques qui ont
toujours eu lieu dans ce ministére et qui constituent des obstacles
pour les minorités visibles?
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Mr. Persaud: Perhaps I should quote a former classmate, dear
friend and member of the bench who invited me to his place in the
summer. We were sitting and chatting and our kids were playing
together. He said, “Mark, the Department of Justice is the most
racist institution I have encountered.” That was his quote. He is
now a judge and has had his own battles in the Department of
Justice, and he eventually left.

Of the group of us who were visible minorities and joined the
Department of Justice as lawyers in the civil litigation section,
everyone left. I was the last one to leave. The primary reason was
we thought there were no proper opportunities as visible
minorities for us to be promoted equitably and fairly, and, as a
result of frustration, we left.

I did move to the criminal prosecutions section to escape the
experiences of the civil litigation section, but it was not better. The
experiences there were parallel to the experiences in the civil
litigation section.

There are many reasons I could give. I would like to highlight
occasionally how perverse the rationale from the Department of
Justice could get when seeking to justify not promoting visible
minorities. One of the first competitions after I joined the
Department of Justice was for a position for those of us who were
hired. We were not permanent staff. We were hired as contract
employees, and over time we could apply to become permanent.

Everyone applied for the permanent position; we submitted all
the information, letters of reference, et cetera. One of our
colleagues got a promotion. He was very capable, very bright. He
was an Anglo male, a classmate of mine at law school, a very
capable, competent person; certainly deserving. Interestingly, one
of my other colleagues, who is Black, on inquiry, found out that
his referees were not even called for references. He was also a law
school classmate of mine and worked for the federal government
as an accountant before going to law school; we thought he was
equally deserving.

During the course of discussions we had with the section head,
she stated that they only considered experience gained in the
immigration section at that time. When she was questioned as to
references obtained by people who did some work in other
sections, she said we will consider those references but not the
experience, which we found rather perverse.

We were also told it was a very tight competition. In fact, she
said to us — and I remember quite clearly — “You are all bright-
eyed and bushy-tailed; we should pull straws to see who gets the
position.” As I said, we later discovered that our colleague
Osborne Barnwell’s referees were not even called. That is sort of

M. Persaud : Je devrais peut-étre citer un ancien camarade de
classe, un bon ami & moi qui est membre de la magistrature et qui
m’a invité chez lui pendant I’été. Nous étions assis, a bavarder,
tandis que nos enfants jouaient ensemble, et il m’a dit : « Mark, le
ministére de la Justice est l'institution la plus raciste que j’aie
connue ». C’est ce qu’il a dit. Il est maintenant un juge; il a
autrefois mené ses propres batailles au ministére de la Justice,
d’ou il a fini par partir.

Sur notre groupe de membres des minorités visibles ayant
intégré les rangs du ministére de la Justice comme avocats a la
Section du litige civil, tout le monde est parti. J’ai été le dernier a
le faire. La principale raison de notre départ est le fait que nous
estimions n’y avait pas de véritables possibilités pour nous, en
tant que minorités visibles, d’étre promus de maniére juste et
équitable. La frustration que éprouvions nous a poussés a partir.

Je suis entré a la Section des poursuites pénales pour échapper
a ce que j'avais vécu a la Section du litige civil, mais ce n’était
guére mieux. J’ai vécu la-bas des expériences comparables a ce qui
m’était arrivé a la Section du litige civil.

Je pourrais invoquer de nombreuses raisons. Je tiens a
souligner a quel point la logique du ministére de la Justice
pouvait parfois devenir perverse lorsqu’on cherchait a justifier le
fait de ne pas accorder de promotions aux membres des minorités
visibles. L’un des premiers concours qui ont eu lieu aprés mon
arrivée au ministére de la Justice concernait un poste s’adressant a
ceux parmi nous qui avaient été embauchés. Nous n’étions pas
membres du personnel permanent. Nous avions été embauchés
comme employés contractuels et, dans I’avenir, nous pourrions
postuler un emploi permanent.

Chacun de nous a posé sa candidature pour le poste
permanent, en soumettant tous les renseignements, lettres de
référence, et cetera. Un de nos collégues a obtenu la promotion. I1
était tres capable, tres brillant. C’était un anglophone qui avait été
I'un de mes camarades de classe a la faculté de droit; une personne
compétente, certainement méritante. Fait intéressant, 'un de mes
autres collégues, un Noir, a fait enquéte et a découvert qu’on
n’avait méme pas appelé ses répondants pour obtenir des
références. Il était également I'un de mes anciens camarades de
I’école de droit, et avant ses études de droit, il avait travaillé pour
le gouvernement fédéral comme comptable; nous pensions qu’il
était tout aussi méritant.

Au cours de discussions que nous avons eues avec elle, la chef
de section a déclaré qu’au moment de la sélection, on avait
seulement tenu compte de ’expérience acquise a la section de
I'immigration. Quand elle a été interrogée au sujet des références
obtenues par des personnes qui avaient travaillé dans les autres
sections, elle a répondu qu’on tenait compte de ces références,
mais pas ’expérience, ce que nous avons trouvé assez absurde.

On nous a également dit que la lutte avait été trés serrée. En
fait, la chef nous a déclaré — et je m’en souviens trés clairement
— « Vous étes tous des candidats trés dynamiques; nous devrions
tirer a la courte paille pour déterminer qui obtiendra le poste ».
Comme je l’ai dit, nous avons découvert plus tard que les
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perverse in my personal opinion, and we have seen conduct such
as that over time.

One of the experiences that was really troubling to many of us
is the fact that very often, at the initial interviews, we do not have
visible minorities in those panels and very often there is an
absence of women also. However, when those decisions are being
appealed they will suddenly parachute in a visible minority on the
appeal, which is problematic from a number of respects, one being
it puts that visible minority person in a very uncomfortable
position. That happened in my case when I appealed a decision.
They put in a young Black woman to do the case on behalf of the
Department of Justice, and I could tell she was very
uncomfortable.

Senator Oliver: What is your solution to the problems that you
just outlined to this committee? What can be done to change those
attitudes?

Mr. Persaud: I came to Canada as a refugee in 1983 as a
political activist in my country and after the murder of the leader
of my political party, the well-know African Guyanese historian
Dr. Walter Rodney. Many thousands of us fled to Canada. |
came here with the intention of parking and then joining my
family in the U.S. They eventually moved to the U.S. I moved
there but fled and came back after two weeks because I love this
country. I am passionate about Canada. This is home; this is
where I am making my contribution.

I have found from my personal experiences and those of many
of the people I have worked with over the years that they share
similar views. They want to be integrated. They want to be
mainstream Canadians. However, when we seek opportunities, we
are often treated as ethnics, as Black candidates, as brown
candidates, as Chinese candidates. We want to be treated as
Canadians based on merit. In that regard, I have come across
many colleagues and friends who, like me, when they came to
Canada, they totally disassociated themselves from their specific
ethnocultural community and sought to mainstream themselves.

I arrived here with $80.59. That is all the government allowed
me to leave with at the time, 200 Guyanian dollars. That ran out
pretty quickly. I started my life here as a homeless person on the
streets of Toronto. I was rescued off the streets by the Scott
Mission. I went on to serve my community, I believe, with
distinction. I worked with the United Church. I set up a program
for refugees, which was the first of its kind. I studied political
science at York University, got my degree, did a Master of Laws
degree, LLM, with an A average and studied on a scholarship at
Harvard. I have had extensive involvement within the community
with a variety of organizations, some of which I started.

However, I feel people such as me — and I have other
colleagues who have done equally or more stuff than I have
done — when we seek employment in the public sector, we are the

répondants de notre collegue Osborne Barnwell n’avaient méme
pas été appelés. C’est quelque peu pervers, a mon avis, et au fil du
temps, nous avons vu d’autres comportements tels que celui-l1a.

L’une des choses vraiment troublantes pour beaucoup d’entre
nous était le fait que trés souvent, lors des entrevues initiales, il n’y
avait aucun membre d’une minorité visible dans les comités de
sélection, ni, bien souvent, aucune femme. Toutefois, quand ces
décisions vont en appel, on parachute soudainement une personne
appartenant a une minorité visible dans le comité d’appel, ce qui
pose probléme a plusieurs égards, 'un d’eux étant le fait que cela
place le membre d’une minorité visible dans une position tres
inconfortable. Cela s’est produit dans mon cas, lorsque j’ai fait
appel d’une décision. On avait choisi une jeune femme noire pour
défendre la cause du ministére de la Justice, et je savais qu’elle
était trés mal a laise.

Le sénateur Oliver : Quelle solution proposez-vous pour ces

problémes que vous venez d’exposer a notre comité? Que peut-on
faire pour changer ces attitudes?

M. Persaud : Je suis arrivé au Canada en 1983 en tant que
réfugié et activiste politique dans mon pays, aprés ’assassinat du
chef de mon parti politique, le célebre historien afro-guyanais
Walter Rodney. Des milliers d’entre nous se sont enfuis au
Canada. Je suis venu ici en attendant de rejoindre ma famille aux
Etats-Unis. Quand celle-ci a finalement déménagé 1a-bas, je I'y ai
rejointe, mais au bout de deux semaines, je suis revenu ici, parce
que j'aime ce pays. Je suis un passionné du Canada. C’est mon
chez-moi; c’est ici que j’apporte ma contribution.

Jai constaté, d’aprés mes expériences personnelles et celles de
bon nombre de gens avec qui j’ai travaillé au fil des ans, qu’on
partage les mémes vues. On veut étre intégré, étre des Canadiens
ordinaires. Cependant, lorsque nous cherchons des débouchés,
nous sommes souvent traités comme des groupes ethniques,
comme des candidats noirs, ou bruns, ou chinois. Nous voulons
étre traités comme des Canadiens, en fonction du mérite. A cet
égard, j’ai rencontré de nombreux collégues et amis qui, comme
moi, a leur arrivée au Canada, se sont totalement dissociés de leur
communauté ethnoculturelle et ont cherché a s’intégrer.

Je suis arrivé ici avec 80,59 § en poche. C’est tout ce que le
gouvernement m’avait permis d’emporter avec moi a 1’époque :
200 dollars guyanais. Cette somme s’est épuisée assez vite. J’ai
commencé ma vie ici comme sans-abri, dans les rues de Toronto.
Puis j’ai été sauvé de la rue par la Scott Mission. Je suis parvenu a
servir ma communauté, je crois, avec distinction. J’ai travaillé
auprés de ’Eglise unie. J’ai mis sur pied un programme pour les
réfugiés qui a été le premier en son genre. Jai étudié en sciences
politiques a I’Université York, obtenu mon diplome, fait une
maitrise en droit avec une moyenne de A, et étudié a Harvard
grace a une bourse d’études. Je me suis impliqué trés activement
dans la communauté auprés d’une variété d’organisations, dont
certaines que j’ai moi-méme lancées.

Cependant, j’ai I'impression que les gens comme moi — et j’ai
des collégues qui ont fait autant ou plus que moi —, quand ils
cherchent du travail dans le secteur public, sont considérés avant
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ethnic candidate. One of the first things they have to do is start
changing perceptions; start treating people as Canadian, not just
ethnics.

Within the first week of my entering the Department of Justice,
during one of my training sessions, I had a senior lawyer say to
me — when we were discussing the issue of refugees and the
definition of “refugee” — “Well, you know Mark, the Africans
are not real refugees and the Chinese are consummate liars.”

That was my first indication of what I would have to endure at
the Department of Justice. In my family, I have an in-law who is
African-American and cousins who are half Chinese, so 1 took
that very personally. Many of my closest friends have worked
extensively in the Black community.

In terms of what we can do, we have to have a paradigm shift
and change those perceptions. We have to treat candidates as
Canadians, not as ethnic candidates, not as a Black candidate. We
have to change the attitude of, “We have our quota of South
Asian candidates, so let us get a couple of Black or Chinese
candidates to ensure the community is reflected in our
department.” They have to be treated on merit. There is much
nepotism that exists in the hiring, even at the Department of
Justice. There must be some mechanism employed to ensure that
people get the first interview. Many of them do not get the first
interview.

We need to put to the test this submission by the Department
of Justice, which I reject, that not enough people apply. Ask them
how many people are visible minorities and how many of them get
interviews. There are many visible minorities, lawyers, coming out
of the law schools in Toronto. Many of them are looking for jobs.
It is outrageous to even suggest that they are not applying. It is
ridiculous. I would not give any credence to that.

I do not believe in quotas or affirmative action. I believe many
of us who are visible minorities can earn positions on merit.
However, I believe there should be targets because there has been
a historical, systemic discrimination. There should be targets, and
people who do not meet those targets should be called to account
for not meeting them. I do not believe in quotas or affirmative
action because often there is a backlash. We found this at the
Department of Justice, where I had one Black colleague being
told by a White lawyer that they got their position because they
were Black. I know that person was very capable and very
competent.

In terms of promotions, it is not only visible minorities. Many
of my female colleagues felt they were unfairly treated based on
gender in terms of promotion at the Department of Justice.

tout comme des candidats appartenant a un groupe ethnique. Une
des premiéres choses a faire, c’est de changer les perceptions, de
traiter les gens comme des citoyens canadiens, pas seulement
comme des représentants de groupes ethniques.

Dés la premiere semaine qui a suivi mon entrée au ministére de
la Justice, pendant une de mes séances de formation, un avocat
expérimenté m’a dit, alors que nous discutions de la question des
réfugiés et de la définition du terme « réfugié » : « Vous savez,
Mark, les Africains ne sont pas de vrais réfugiés et les Chinois
sont de fieffés menteurs ».

Cela a été la premiére manifestation de ce que jaurais a
endurer au ministére de la Justice. J’ai un beau-frére d’origine
afro-américaine et des cousins dont I'un des parents est chinois;
j’ai donc recu cette affirmation comme une atteinte personnelle.
Beaucoup de mes proches amis ont travaillé dans la communauté
noire.

Quant a ce que nous pouvons faire, nous devons recadrer le
probléme et faire changer les perceptions. Nous devons traiter
chaque candidat comme un Canadien plutét que comme un
représentant d’un groupe ethnique — comme un candidat noir.
Nous devons cesser de nous dire que nous avons le bon quota de
candidats d’Asie du Sud et qu’il suffit maintenant d’embaucher
un ou deux candidats noirs ou chinois pour que notre ministére
soit représentatif de la population. Il faut juger les gens selon leur
mérite. Il ya beaucoup de népotisme dans le recrutement, méme
au ministére de la Justice. Il faut établir un mécanisme pour
garantir que les gens sont convoqués a une premiére entrevue.
Beaucoup ne sont pas regus a une premiére entrevue.

Nous devons vérifier cette affirmation du ministére de la
Justice — que je conteste — selon laquelle il n’y a pas assez de
candidats. Demandez combien de candidats appartiennent a des
minorités visibles et combien d’entre eux sont regus en entrevue.
Beaucoup d’avocats membres de minorités visibles sortent des
écoles de droit de Toronto. Beaucoup d’entre eux sont en
recherche d’emploi. Il est scandaleux de prétendre qu’ils ne
soumettent pas leur candidature. C’est ridicule. Je n’accorde
aucun crédit a cette affirmation.

Je ne crois pas aux quotas ni a P’action positive. Je crois que
beaucoup d’entre nous qui sommes membres d’une minorité
visible pouvons obtenir un poste parce que nous possédons les
qualités requises. Toutefois, je crois qu’on doit fixer des objectifs,
a cause de la discrimination systémique qu’il y a eu dans le passé.
Il devrait y avoir des objectifs, et les organismes qui ne les
atteignent pas devraient étre obligés d’en répondre. Je ne crois pas
aux quotas ni a laction positive, car ils suscitent souvent des
réactions négatives. Nous 1’avons constaté au ministére de la
Justice, ot j’ai eu un collégue noir qui s’est fait dire par un avocat
blanc qu’il n’avait obtenu son poste que parce qu’il était Noir.
Pourtant, je sais que cet avocat était trés capable et trés
compétent.

Quant aux promotions, il n’y a pas que les minorités visibles. A
ce chapitre, au ministére de la Justice, beaucoup de collégues
estimaient qu’elles étaient traitées injustement parce qu’elles
étaient des femmes.
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There is a need for a strong system of scrutiny. The internal
mechanisms in place with regard to appeals and oversight simply
do not work. There is a need for a layer of oversight. There is
maybe even a need for creditable external overseers to look at the
system to ensure that the policies of the federal government are
being complied with. Leaving it to internal controls, asking the
police to police themselves, does not often work. We necessarily
have to have some type of independent, objective oversight.

Senator Oliver: Perhaps a diversity commissioner; a creature of
Parliament.

Madam Chair, I apologize.

The Chair: No, your intervention was short. I was about to ask
for shorter answers. I know you are giving us some anecdotes, and
it takes time. If we could keep it short, it would be helpful to give
all the senators a chance.

Senator Poy: Mr. Persaud, you mention in your opening
statement about intimidation of employees. You have not really
touched on that. Could you give us some example of what
actually happened?

Mr. Persaud: I can speak from my personal experiences. After
having worked for 10 years, I applied for a promotion. A member
of that panel happened to be a lawyer who had some animus
toward me, a lawyer who had made very derogatory statements
about a senior female appellate judge. I had complained about it
because I found it very offensive that he would make such a
remark about a Justice and a woman, and nothing was done
about it. Given our history, I asked that he be recused from the
panel, that he recuse himself. I was told that no, he would not,
and if I am not satisfied with the decision, I should appeal it. In
that case, I did not get the position. One of the lawyers that
interviewed me came into my office, closed the door and said,
“Mark, it wasn’t me,” which was an indication that I was
prejudiced.

I tried to use an internal mechanism and, in the process, I
personally encountered harassment and intimidation. I tried to
see the assistant deputy minister at the time. I came to Ottawa.
When I went back to my office, I was told that we have to
convene a disciplinary hearing because I sought to see the
assistant deputy minister without being given an opportunity to
retain counsel or advise them of the circumstances.

That is a sense of the flavour of the type of intimidation.
Eventually, I went on with my appeal at a cost of $10,000. They
decided I should have been hired in addition to many of the
persons younger and with less experience than I had. This is just a
flavour of the types of situations one can expect to encounter in
the department.

Senator Poy: What is the Canadian International Peace
Project? What is the connection between that and your
presentation today?

Mr. Persaud: There is none.

Il faut renforcer les contréles. Les mécanismes d’appel et de
controle qui sont actuellement employés a l’interne ne
fonctionnent tout simplement pas. Il faut exercer une
surveillance. Peut-étre méme faut-il P’intervention de
vérificateurs externes impartiaux pour garantir la conformité
aux politiques du gouvernement fédéral. Le fait de s’en remettre
aux controles internes, de demander aux gens d’étre juges et
parties, fonctionne rarement. Il nous faut absolument une forme
quelconque de surveillance indépendante et objective.

Le sénateur Oliver : Peut-étre un commissaire a la diversité, qui
reléverait du Parlement.

Madame la présidente, veuillez me pardonner.

La présidente : Non, votre intervention a été bréve. J’étais sur
le point de demander d’écourter les réponses. Vous nous donnez
des exemples, et cela prend du temps. Si nous pouvions étre brefs,
cela permettrait a tous les sénateurs d’avoir leur tour.

Le sénateur Poy : Monsieur Persaud, dans votre déclaration,
vous avez parlé de 'intimidation des employés, sans entrer dans le
détail. Pourriez-vous nous donner des exemples de faits vécus?

M. Persaud : Je peux vous parler de mon cas. Lorsque j’ai eu
10 ans d’expérience, je me suis présenté a un concours pour
obtenir une promotion. L’un des avocats du jury me témoignait
de l'animosité. En effet, il avait fait des commentaires trés
désobligeants a I’égard d’une juge d’appel expérimentée et j’avais
déposé une plainte, parce que je trouvais ses remarques
outrageantes. Or, rien n’a été fait. Etant donné nos antécédents,
j’ai demandé a ce qu’il se récuse. On m’a répondu qu’il ne le ferait
pas et que, si cela ne me plaisait pas, je devais en appeler de la
décision. Je n’ai pas obtenu le poste que je convoitais. L'un des
avocats du jury est venu a mon bureau plus tard pour me dire :
« Mark, je n’y suis pour rien », ce qui laissait entendre que j’avais
été 1ésé.

Jai tenté d’avoir recours a un mécanisme interne, mais j’ai été
victime de harcelement et d’intimidation. Je suis donc venu a
Ottawa pour essayer de rencontrer le sous-ministre adjoint.
Lorsque je suis revenu a mon bureau, on m’a dit qu’une audience
disciplinaire serait convoquée parce que j'avais tenté de
rencontrer le sous-minstre adjoint sans que les parties aient pu
retenir les services d’un avocat ou étre informées des
circonstances.

Cela vous donne une idée du genre d’intimidation pratiquée.
Finalement, j’ai fait appel, ce qui m’a cotité 10 000 $. On a alors
jugé que j’aurais di étre engagé, comme de nombreuses personnes
plus jeunes et moins expérimentées que moi. Cela vous donne un
apercu de ce qui peut se passer au ministére.

Le sénateur Poy : Qu’est-ce que le Canadian International
Peace Project? Quel est le lien avec votre témoignage,
aujourd’hui?

M. Persaud : Il n’y en a pas.
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Senator Poy: That was why I was confused. You mentioned
there should be a target but not a quota. What is the difference?

Mr. Persaud: A quota is more definitive, in my opinion,
senator. You say you have to have 33 per cent visible minorities
or 50 per cent women. You have to account. That number must
actually be met. A target is a little more fluid. A target can be set
in the hope of being reached and aspired to. However, if the target
cannot be met, then, with valid reasons, those reasons can be
proposed. If the reasons are acceptable, then the target, even if it
is not met, is justified in those circumstances because valid reasons
were supplied. I believe a quota is hard and fast, and people will
try to meet that quota even if, in some cases, those people
justifiably should not have been employed.

Senator Poy: Should someone be there to check the target?

Mr. Persaud: Certainly.
Senator Poy: Thank you very much.

James C. Morton, as an individual: If I might add with regard to
targets as opposed to quotas, a quota is a defined number that
says one must have X number of people hired. A target, on the
other hand, is something that would be watched and, if the target
is not met, that may suggest there is some systemic barrier,
whether intentional or otherwise. The failure to meet a target
would then be something to trigger an investigation to see why the
target is not met. It is not that people want to fill quotas. They
want to only hire people who are properly qualified. However, if
there is a failure to meet a target, that may suggest something is
wrong.

Senator Poy: Thank you.

The Chair: Perhaps I could follow up on that. In a target, there
would be the inclination to fill it, and that leaves the impression
that maybe merit is not the deciding factor, and that leads to the
backlash that Mr. Persaud mentioned, rightly or wrongly.

Mr. Morton: There remain difficulties, no question. However,
if we say there are certain hiring targets, we are suggesting that
when we look at Canada as a whole, we look at the makeup of the
population, we recognize that if there is a failure to meet a target,
that suggests certainly that there is a problem. Perhaps it means
there is something systemic, and perhaps it means something
more sinister, but we still want to look at the target. Yes, it may
be possible that, to meet a target, there will be some quick hires,
but those are process problems.

Senator Munson: It seems to me you are a very brave person, a
whistle-blower on some situations that are allegedly happening or
have happened in the Department of Justice. You seem to be the
only one who has dared to step out. Perhaps there are others. |
would like to know, did you quit or were you fired, and when did
it happen? Is systemic racism continuing in the Department of
Justice today?

Mr. Persaud: I quit because of health reasons. I left my
position.

Le sénateur Poy : Voila pourquoi je ne comprenais pas. Vous
avez dit qu’il devrait y avoir des cibles, mais pas de quota. Quelle
est la différence?

M. Persaud : Un quota est plus précis, selon moi. Il vise
I’embauche de 33 p. 100 de minorités visibles ou de 50 p. 100 de
femmes. 11 faut rendre des comptes, atteindre le pourcentage fixé.
Une cible est plus flottante : c’est un objectif qu’on espére
atteindre, auquel on aspire. Toutefois, si la cible n’est pas atteinte,
on peut invoquer des raisons valables pour justifier la situation
dans des circonstances données. Je crois qu’un quota est une régle
absolue, ce qui veut dire qu’on essaiera de le respecter, méme si,
dans certains cas, cela implique que des gens qui n’auraient pas
été engagés autrement le soient.

Le sénateur Poy : Quelqu’un devrait-il s’assurer que la cible est
atteinte?

M. Persaud : Absolument.
Le sénateur Poy : Merci beaucoup.

James C. Morton, a titre personnel : Si je puis me permettre une
remarque au sujet des cibles par rapport aux quotas, je dirais que
ces derniers établissent clairement un nombre de personnes a
embaucher. Par contre, les cibles font I’objet d’un suivi et, si elles
ne sont pas atteintes, c’est peut-étre dii a un obstacle systémique,
intentionnel ou non. Il faut alors faire enquéte pour aller a la
source du probléme. Les gens ne veulent pas remplir leur quota,
ils veulent n’engager que des candidats qualifiés. Cependant, si la
cible n’est pas atteinte, on peut penser que quelque chose ne va
pas.

Le sénateur Poy : Merci.

La présidente : Je pourrais peut-étre apporter un complément
d’information. Si une cible est établie, on aura tendance a vouloir
l’atteindre, ce qui donne I'impression que le mérite n’est pas le
facteur déterminant. Il y aurait alors un effet indésirable, comme
M. Persaud I’a mentionné, a tort ou a raison.

M. Morton : Il ne fait aucun doute que des difficultés
persistent. Toutefois, si on établit des cibles d’embauche, on
tient compte de I’ensemble du Canada, de la composition de la
population, et si on n’atteint pas la cible, cela implique qu’il y a un
probléme. Il peut s’agir d’un obstacle systémique, ou d’une réalité
plus sinistre encore, mais il faut tout de méme évaluer les cibles. 11
est en effet possible que certaines personnes ne soient embauchées
que pour atteindre les objectifs, mais il s’agit alors de problémes
de processus.

Le sénateur Munson : Vous me semblez trés courageux. Vous
avez dénoncé des actions présumées au ministére de la Justice et,
apparemment, vous étes le seul a avoir osé le faire. Enfin,
peut-étre que non. J’aimerais savoir si vous avez démissionné ou si
vous avez été congédié, et quand cela s’est produit. Est-ce que le
racisme systémique se perpétue au sein du ministére de la Justice?

M. Persaud : J’ai quitté mon emploi pour des raisons de santé.
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Senator Munson: Was that a few years ago?

Mr. Persaud: Yes, in 2003. Is the Department of Justice still a
concern? I am told that people are still unhappy. In fact, I ran into
two support staff members last week and had lunch with them;
they are both Black, friends of mine from the department. They
expressed their concerns and unhappiness. They advised me that
many lawyers have left recently; in fact, about 10 lawyers. Now,
to be fair, I do not believe that was only because of, or maybe not
even related to racism. It may have to deal with the salaries. The
province of Ontario offers a better salary and in some cases more
interesting work, so that may have been the reason. However, I
was told that there is still a culture in there that creates much
unhappiness and creates a problem in terms of retention.

In terms of being brave, I did not grow up in Canada. I grew
up in what was a dictatorship, and I saw colleagues who stood up
for their principles killed. I have stared death in the face many
times, and I almost died on the streets of Toronto. If someone
such as me, a lawyer at the Department of Justice, cannot speak
up against an injustice, who will? It may be stupid, but if someone
such as me, who is a well-known community activist, who has
fought for human rights and worked with a variety of
organizations — Amnesty International, my church outreach
committee, the Rotary Club — cannot do it, who will? I am
prepared to deal with it because I know somewhere down the line
I would not be able to live with myself, and I would not be able to
look my children in their eyes and say, “Stand up for your
principles, especially if it will affect you as a person if you do not
do the right thing.” Maybe I am cut from a different cloth.

Senator Munson: If you are saying there is still a culture and
attitudes in the very senior levels in the Department of Justice,
these are really serious accusations about what has happened
there, and yet no one seems to be accountable toward what
happened to you or the whole feeling that surrounds the
Department of Justice. I am just curious whether the deputy
minister or someone should come before us to explain.

We have heard from different people, different departments
not meeting these targets and this inequity, the percentages and all
sorts of stuff, but yours is a very personal story that has been told
before, and you are telling it again. You are telling it again for a
reason, it seems to me, and the reason is that it has not changed.
Nothing has changed.

Mr. Persaud: In fairness to the Department of Justice, I have
been away for a few years. It may have changed. In fact, it may be
perfect right now. I have received anecdotal evidence that there
are still problems there. I have received evidence that lawyers are
still leaving. It may have changed; I cannot say definitively it has
not. However, given the entrenchment of the culture that I
experienced while I was there, I would be surprised if all the
necessary changes were made, even if there were changes.

Le sénateur Munson : Quand était-ce?

M. Persaud : En 2003. Devrait-on encore s’inquiéter de ce qui
se passe au ministére de la Justice? On me dit que les gens y sont
encore malheureux. En fait, j’ai rencontré deux membres du
personnel de soutien la semaine derniére; je suis allé déjeuner avec
eux; ce sont des amis et tous les deux sont noirs. IIs m’ont fait part
de leurs préoccupations et de leurs tourments. IIs m’ont dit que de
nombreux avocats, une dizaine, ont démissionné récemment.
Evidemment, je ne crois pas que ce soit attribuable totalement, ni
méme partiellement, a du racisme. C’était peut-étre en raison de la
rémunération. En effet, la province de I’Ontario offre un meilleur
salaire et méme du travail plus intéressant. Cependant, on m’a dit
qu’il existait toujours un climat propice a la déprime, d’ou les
problémes de rétention.

Quant & mon courage, je dois vous dire que je n’ai pas grandi
au Canada, mais dans une dictature. J’ai vu des camarades se faire
tuer parce qu’ils défendaient leurs principes. J’ai fr61é la mort a de
nombreuses reprises, et j’ai failli mourir dans les rues de Toronto.
Si quelqu’un comme moi, un avocat du ministére de la Justice, ne
peut pas dénoncer I'injustice, qui le fera? Ca peut sembler stupide,
mais si quelqu’un comme moi, un activiste communautaire bien
connu qui a défendu les droits de la personne et qui a collaboré
avec différentes organisations — Amnistie internationale, le
comité de sensibilisation de mon Eglise, le Club « Rotary » —
ne le fait pas, qui le fera? Je suis prét a le faire parce que je sais que
sinon, je ne pourrais pas vivre en paix avec ma conscience ni
regarder mes enfants dans les yeux et leur dire : « Agissez selon
vos principes, soyez fidéles a vous-mémes, sinon vous risquerez de
souffrir. » Je ne suis peut-étre pas de la méme trempe que
d’autres.

Le sénateur Munson : Vous dites que les niveaux supérieurs du
ministére de la Justice entretiennent ces attitudes, et il s’agit
d’accusations trés graves, pourtant, personne ne semble tenu
responsable de ce qui vous est arrivé, ni de toute cette culture qui
régne au ministére. Je me demande si nous ne devrions pas inviter
le sous-ministre, ou quelqu’un d’autre, a comparaitre.

Nous avons entendu des témoins et des représentants de divers
ministéres nous parler des cibles non atteintes et de I'injustice, des
pourcentages et d’un tas d’autres choses, mais votre histoire est
tout a fait singuliére. Vous I’avez déja racontée et vous le faites de
nouveau pour une raison bien précise, selon moi, et c’est que rien
n’a changé.

M. Persaud : A la décharge du ministére, je suis parti depuis
déja quelques années. Les comportements ont pu changer. En fait,
peut-étre que tout est parfait, maintenant. J’ai connaissance de
cas isolés qui prouvent qu’il y a toujours des problémes, et que des
avocats démissionnent encore. Les attitudes ont peut-Etre
évoluées; je ne peux pas affirmer le contraire avec certitude.
Cependant, la culture dont j’ai souffert était tellement enracinée
que je doute que tous les changements nécessaires aient été
apportés, et je crains qu’aucune mesure n’ait été prise.
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One of the problems in the Department of Justice is the
retention of visible minority lawyers. They seem to leave after a
little while, and part of the reason for that is this culture of
tolerating racism and discrimination.

I will give you an example. We have to deal with the police on a
daily basis. While I have the greatest regard for the police and am
pro-justice, and I believe our women and men in uniform serve us
very well, there is a small core of rotten officers who do a
disservice to the police force. Very often, we as Crowns come
across them. We hear their comments.

For example, when I was travelling one evening, there was an
accident involving a police officer. I asked the police officer who
was in charge of my case, if he knew what had happened, and he
said, “Yes, a Black police officer got into an accident in
responding to a 9-1-1 call. He worked with Black intelligence,”
and then remarked, “There is an oxymoron, Black and
intelligence.” I said, “What are you talking about? I am Black
too.” He said, “No, no, you are not Black.”

Another police officer boasted to me that at the division, his
colleagues refer to him as a Mark Fuhrman, of O.J. Simpson
notoriety.

These are incidents of racism that I experienced as a visible
minority. I hate to imagine what my White colleagues have been
told, not only from police officers but from lawyers in the
Department of Justice.

I gave you an incident of the racism I encountered against
Chinese and Blacks in my first week. When one my colleagues was
rushing to the elevator because his first child was arriving, two
lawyers were by the elevator and one asked the other, “Where is
Osborne rushing?” He said, “His wife is having a baby.” The
lawyer remarked, “Another one of them?” The second lawyer
said, “What do you mean, another one of them? I have children.”
He replied, “Yes, but yours will look for work when they grow

”»

up.

That happened at the Department of Justice. It is that culture
that we have to deal with, sir, that poisonous, toxic culture that
causes many people to leave.

There was no mechanism in the Department of Justice while I
was there to deal with racism by police officers. In fact, there is a
disincentive to complain because we work with these police
officers all the time; especially because we do specialized
prosecutions, such as the drug squad, and if we go up against
them, there is a backlash. Some people claim that these officers
actually run the prosecution section, not the lawyers, because they
complain all the time against lawyers. In fact, they have been
known to harass visible minority lawyers. I remember an incident
where they made fun of names. One woman was made to cry
because of their inappropriate conduct. It may seem strange to
you, but for those of us who experienced it, there is a culture
there, and there is nothing you can do because there is no system
in place to address these types of situations.

L’un des problémes du ministére de la Justice réside dans la
rétention des avocats issus des minorités visibles. Ces gens partent
aprés quelques temps, en partie parce qu’on tolére le racisme et la
discrimination.

Je peux vous donner un exemple. Nous devons traiter
quotidiennement avec la police. Bien que j’aie la police en trés
haute estime, que je prone la justice et que je considére que les
représentants des forces de I'ordre nous servent trés bien, il y a un
petit nombre de brebis galeuses qui causent du tort. Nous, les
procureurs, avons souvent a les rencontrer, a subir leurs
commentaires.

Par exemple, alors que j’étais en déplacement, au beau soir, un
policier a été victime d’un accident. J’ai demandé a l’agent
responsable de mon dossier s’il savait ce qui s’était passé, et il m’a
répondu : « Oui, un agent noir a eu un accident en répondant a
un appel 9-1-1. 11 travaillait avec l'intelligence d’un Noir, autant
dire pas d’intelligence du tout. » Je lu ai dit : « Mais qu’est-ce que
vous racontez? Je suis noir aussi. » Mais il a rétorqué : « Non,
non, vous n’étes pas noir. »

Un autre agent de police s’est vanté devant moi que ses
collégues le surnommaient Mark Fuhrman, rendu célébre par
laffaire O.J. Simpson.

Il s’agit d’incidents racistes que j’ai vécus en tant que membre
d’une minorité visible. Je ne veux pas savoir ce que mes collégues
blancs ont entendu, non seulement de policiers, mais aussi
d’avocats du ministére de la Justice.

Je vous ai parlé du racisme envers les Chinois et les Noirs dont
j’ai été témoin au cours de ma premicre semaine. Alors quun de
mes collégues se précipitait dans 1’ascenseur parce que son
premier enfant était sur le point de venir au monde, I'un de
deux avocats se tenant tout prés a demandé a 'autre : « Mais ou
Osborne va-t-il comme ¢a? » Son interlocuteur lui a répondu :
« Sa femme est en train d’accoucher. » Le premier avocat a
rétorqué : « Un autre comme eux? » Le deuxiéme lui a répondu :
« Que veux-tu dire? Moi aussi, j’ai des enfants. » Mais le premier
avocat a déclaré : « Oui, mais les tiens chercheront du travail
lorsqu’ils seront grands. »

Cela s’est produit au ministére de la Justice. C’est la culture qui
régne : une atmosphére viciée et pernicieuse qui pousse de
nombreux employés a démissionner.

A I’époque ot je travaillais pour le ministére, il n’existait pas de
mécanisme pour dénoncer les comportements racistes des
policiers. En fait, personne ne voulait se plaindre parce que
nous devions travailler jour aprés jour avec ces agents. C’est
surtout vrai dans les cas des poursuites spécialisées, ou nous
traitions avec I’escouade antidrogue, parce que si on affrontait les
policiers, ils ripostaient. Certains disaient que ce sont en fait ces
policiers, et non pas les procureurs, qui dirigeaient la section des
poursuites, parce qu’ils se plaignaient toujours des avocats. En
fait, ils ont toujours harcelé les minorités visibles. Je me souviens
qu’ils riaient de leurs noms, et qu’ils ont méme fait pleurer une
femme. Cela peut vous sembler étrange, mais ceux d’entre nous
qui 'ont vécu savent qu’il existe dans ce ministére une culture de
tolérance du racisme et qu’il n’y a rien a faire, parce qu’aucun
mécanisme approprié n’est en place pour y mettre fin.
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Senator Munson: There is something we can do. If there is a
poisonous, toxic culture in the Department of Justice, we should
call the deputy minister to explain the environment. This is what
our study is about. We are trying to change attitudes. That is what
this whole study is about. If we do not talk to the top person in
the Department of Justice, we have done ourselves an injustice,
dealing with an issue as serious as you are claiming today.

Mr. Persaud: I would like to point out, if [ may, the apparent
total disregard for the notion of fairness and process. When I did
my appeal against the lack of promotion, my lawyer subpoenaed
the deputy minister at the time. A valid subpoena was issued, and
we subsequently found that there was no subpoena. My
understanding — and legal counsel can correct me — is that if
a subpoena is issued, you bring an application to quash the
subpoena. In this case, it just disappeared. Apparently, they can
call the office and ask them to withdraw the subpoena, which is
ridiculous. For the Department of Justice, the deputy minister,
this is outrageous. Those are the types of situations with which we
have to deal.

Senator Oliver: Was the subpoena literally personally served?

Mr. Persaud: I would assume so. I would assume he did get the
subpoena. I want to make it clear that these incidents and my
experiences occurred some time ago.

Senator Munson: It was only five years ago.

Mr. Persaud: Yes, and the current minister and deputy minister
certainly should not be held personally accountable, as far as [ am
concerned. They may be doing a fine job and may be trying their
best, but certainly they have inherited a very poisonous, toxic
department in which people, women and minorities, have been
ill-treated.

Senator Jaffer: You and I have known each other for a long
time. This is a part of your life I did not know anything about.
You are known all over the country. I am sure when people see
this they will be surprised.

Mr. Persaud: It is the first time [ have spoken publicly about it.

Senator Jaffer: [ want to get some things clear. What year did
you start working in the department?

Mr. Persaud: I finished law school in 1991. I was called to the
bar in February 1993. I would have commenced a month or two
thereafter in 1993.

Senator Jaffer: Were you there for 10 years?
Mr. Persaud: Yes, I left in 2003.
Senator Jaffer: Were you heading criminal prosecutions?

Mr. Persaud: No, I was not heading; I was a counsel. I spent
two years as legal counsel to the RCMP Proceeds of Crime during
my tenure in the criminal prosecution section.

Senator Jaffer: Were you here in Ottawa or in Toronto?

Le sénateur Munson : Nous pouvons faire quelque chose. S’il
existe vraiment un climat nocif et pernicieux au ministére de la
Justice, nous devrions convoquer le sous-ministre pour qu’il nous
fournisse des explications. C’est ce sur quoi porte notre étude.
Nous essayons de faire changer les mentalités, c’est pourquoi nous
sommes ici. Si le probléme est aussi grave que vous le dites, nous
nous rendrions un mauvais service en n’appelant pas a
comparaitre le plus haut placé du ministére.

M. Persaud : J’aimerais souligner qu’il semble y avoir un
mépris total pour la notion d’équité et de processus. Lorsque j’ai
déposé un appel pour dénoncer 1’absence de promotion, mon
avocat a assigné le sous-ministre de ’époque a comparaitre. Une
assignation a témoigner valide a été délivrée, et par la suite, nous
avons constaté qu’elle n’existait pas. Selon moi — que le conseiller
juridique me corrige si j’ai tort —, lorsqu’une citation est délivrée,
il faut présenter une demande pour I’annuler. Dans ce cas-ci, la
citation a tout simplement disparu. Apparemment, on peut
téléphoner et demander que ’on retire ’assignation, ce qui est
ridicule. C’est scandaleux de la part du ministére de la Justice et
du sous-ministre. C’est le genre de situations auxquelles nous
sommes confrontés.

Le sénateur Oliver : L’assignation a-t-elle été remise
personnellement au sous-ministre?

M. Persaud : Je présume qu’il I’a regue. Je tiens a préciser que
ces incidents et les expériences que j’ai vécues se sont produits il y
a un certain temps déja.

Le sénateur Munson : C’était il y a a peine cinq ans.

M. Persaud : Oui, et en ce qui me concerne, le ministre et le
sous-ministre actuels ne devraient certainement pas étre tenus
personnellement responsables. Ils font sans doute trés bien leur
travail et tout leur possible, mais ils ont hérité d’un ministere trés
inhospitalier, ou I'atmospheére est irrespirable, et dans lequel les
gens, les femmes et les minorités ont été traités injustement.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Vous et moi nous connaissons depuis
longtemps. C’est un épisode de votre vie que j’ignorais. Vous étes
connu dans tout le pays. Je suis certaine que les gens seront tres
surpris d’apprendre cela.

M. Persaud : C’est la premiére fois que j’en parle
publiquement.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Je voudrais éclaircir certaines choses. En
quelle année avez-vous commencé a travailler au ministére?

M. Persaud : J’ai terminé mes études de droit en 1991. J’ai été
admis au barreau en février 1993; j’ai donc commencé au
ministére un mois ou deux apres, la méme année.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Et vous y étes resté 10 ans?
M. Persaud : Oui, je suis parti en 2003.
Le sénateur Jaffer : Dirigiez-vous les poursuites criminelles?

M. Persaud : Non, j’étais avocat-conseil. J’ai travaillé pendant
deux ans pour le programme Produits de la criminalité de la
GRC, lorsque j’étais a la Section des poursuites criminelles.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Travailliez-vous ici, a Ottawa, ou bien a
Toronto?



11-2-2007

Droits de la personne 2:51

Mr. Persaud: I was in Toronto.

Senator Jaffer: In the end, you left for health reasons?

Mr. Persaud: Yes; it was directly attributed to the treatment I
received.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Persaud. It was my understanding
that you were coming on behalf of the project. We have now
clarified that you are here in your personal capacity. We have
taken your comments, which you have indicated have been
anecdotal and personal. We thank you for that testimony, which
again gives us a different perspective on the task that we have in
our mandate.

I want to thank you for coming. Mr. Morton, I guess you are
support for Mr. Persaud. I thank you also for coming before the
committee.

The committee adjourned.

OTTAWA, Monday, February 11, 2008

The Standing Senate Committee on Human Rights met this
day at 5:05 p.m. to monitor issues relating to human rights and,
inter alia, to review the machinery of government dealing with
Canada’s international and national human rights obligations.

Senator A. Raynell Andreychuk (Chair) in the chair.

[English)

The Chair: Honourable senators, we are empanelled today to
monitor the issues relating to human rights and, inter alia, to
review the machinery of the government dealing with Canada’s
international and national human rights obligations.

We have been particularly centred on the Human Rights
Council, the new development from the Human Rights
Commission. We are concerned about the practices and the
procedures. We follow them, as we believe that the Human Rights
Council can be an influential mechanism in furthering human
rights internationally and, consequently, in Canada.

I am mindful that we have two panels today, and that we want
to adjourn promptly so that some of you can get to an important
caucus meeting at seven o’clock.

Senator Munson: We have a caucus meeting?

The Chair: That is what I heard. I thought I would remind you
and assure you that I will get you out of here on time, with your
cooperation.

M. Persaud : J’étais a Toronto.

Le sénateur Jaffer : A la fin, étes-vous parti pour des raisons de
santé?

M. Persaud : Oui, mon départ est directement attribuable au
traitement que j’ai subi.

La présidente : Merci, monsieur Persaud. J’avais cru que vous
veniez au nom de votre organisation. Nous avons maintenant
compris que vous étes ici a titre personnel. Nous avons pris note
de vos commentaires qui, comme vous I'avez indiqué, étaient
personnels et se basaient sur des observations sur le terrain. Nous
vous remercions de ce témoignage, qui nous donne une
perspective différente sur la tdche qui nous est confiée.

Je tien a vous remercier d’étre venu. Monsieur Morton, je
suppose que vous étes ici pour appuyer M. Persaud; je vous
remercie également.

La séance est levée.

OTTAWA, le lundi 11 février 2008

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des droits de la personne se
réunit ce jour a 17 h 5 afin de surveiller I’évolution de diverses
questions ayant trait aux droits de la personne et d’examiner,
entre autres choses, les mécanismes du gouvernement pour que le
Canada respecte ses obligations nationales et internationales en
mati¢re de droits de la personne.

Le sénateur A. Raynell Andreychuk (président) occupe le
fauteuil.

[Traduction]

La présidente : Honorables sénateurs, nous sommes réunis
aujourd’hui afin de surveiller ’évolution de diverses questions
ayant trait aux droits de la personne et d’examiner, entre autres
choses, les mécanismes du gouvernement pour que le Canada
respecte ses obligations nationales et internationales en matiére de
droits de la personne.

Nous nous intéressons tout particuliérement au Conseil des
droits de ’homme qui est la récente incarnation de la Commission
des droits de I’homme. Ce sont surtout les pratiques et les
procédures en vigueur au conseil qui nous intéressent, parce que
nous pensons que celui-ci a le potentiel d’étre un mécanisme
influent susceptible de faire avancer la cause des droits de la
personne dans le monde et, par conséquent, au Canada.

Je n’oublie pas que nous accueillerons aujourd’hui deux
groupes de témoins et que nous voulons lever rapidement la
séance pour participer a une importante réunion du caucus
a 19 heures.

Le sénateur Munson : Nous avons une réunion de caucus?

La présidente : C’est ce que j’ai entendu dire. J'ai jugé
nécessaire de vous le rappeler et je vous garantis d’avance que
nous sortirons d’ici a I’heure, si vous y mettez du vétre.
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On our first panel, from Foreign Affairs and International
Trade, we have Adéle Dion, Director General, Human Security
and Human Rights Bureau; and Robert Sinclair, Deputy
Director, Human Rights Section, Human Rights, Gender
Equality, Health and Population Division.

Welcome. Neither of you is certainly not a stranger to this
committee, since you have testified previously. We have asked you
to come back since we are making all efforts to get the Human
Rights Council functioning appropriately, and we are concerned
that Canada is doing its part in that way. We also want an update
on its progress.

Today, you could pick up from your last brief where you
outlined how the council started. Since then, we have filed a
report with some recommendations. We would be very interested
in getting an update on the practices put into place in June, and
how the council has functioned in the opinion of the department.

Adéle Dion, Director General, Human Security and Human
Rights Bureau, Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada: |
am very pleased to be able to update the committee on
developments at the UN Human Rights Council. I would first
take the opportunity to thank the committee for its ongoing work
and dedication to the important issues before it.

The committee has copies of my full written statement. In my
oral remarks, I will first highlight some aspects of the
government’s response to the committee’s interim report and
then, as you have requested, update you on events not covered by
the government’s response.

The committee’s report recommended that Canada focus on
institution-building issues at the council. Canada was a leading
proponent of the system of the Universal Periodic Review, or
UPR, and worked intensively to establish its modalities. The UPR
is now scheduled to begin in April of 2008.

Canada also worked to protect the independence and
credibility of the special procedures, advocating a more
transparent selection and appointment process for the mandate
holders. Of particular importance were the retention of the ability
to scrutinize country situations and increased participation of civil
society and national human rights institutions at the council.

Since the government tabled its response to the committee’s
interim report, there have also been a number of developments at
the Human Rights Council.

The council had its sixth regular session from September 10 to
28 and resumed from December 10 to 14. In September, the
council addressed the human rights situation in Darfur, Sudan,
with a full debate on the interim report of the group of experts on
Darfur.

Pour notre premier groupe de témoins, nous allons accueillir
des représentants du ministére des Affaires étrangéres et du
Commerce international en la personne d’Adéle Dion, directrice
générale, Sécurité humaine et droits de la personne, qui est
accompagnée de Robert Sinclair, directeur adjoint, Section des
droits de la personne, Direction des droits de la personne, égalité
des sexes, santé et population.

Bienvenue a vous deux. Notre comité ne vous est pas étranger,
puisque vous avez déja comparu tous deux devant nous. Nous
vous avons invités a revenir parce que nous voulons que le Conseil
des droits de ’homme fonctionne comme il faut et que le Canada
fasse sa part a cet égard. Nous voulons également étre tenus au
courant de I’évolution des choses.

Vous pourriez partir de votre dernier mémoire que vous nous
aviez commenté sur I’origine du Conseil. Depuis lors, nous avons
déposé un rapport contenant certaines recommandations. Nous
aimerions beaucoup étre mis au courant des pratiques en vigueur
depuis juin dernier, et avoir une idée de la fagon dont, de I’avis du
ministére, le conseil s’en sort.

Adéle Dion, directrice générale, Direction générale de la sécurité
humaine et des droits de la personne, Affaires étrangéres et
Commerce international Canada : Je suis heureuse de pouvoir faire
le point avec vous sur les développements survenus au Conseil des
droits de ’'homme de ’'ONU, mais je vais d’abord profiter de cette
occasion pour remercier le comité de I’excellent travail qu’il
accomplit dans les dossiers dont il a la charge, et de son
dévouement a cet égard.

On vous a fait remettre des exemplaires de mon texte, mais je
compte, dans un premier temps, m’arréter sur certains aspects de
la réponse du gouvernement au rapport intérimaire du comité,
avant de vous parler des récents événements qui ne sont pas
couverts dans cette réponse.

Dans son rapport intérimaire, le comité recommande que le
Canada mette 1’accent sur le processus d’édification
institutionnelle du Conseil. Le Canada a été 'un des grands
promoteurs du mécanisme d’examen périodique universel, ou
EPU, et il a travaillé avec ardeur a en établir les modalités. Ce
mécanisme devrait entrer en vigueur en avril 2008.

Le Canada a également déployé beaucoup d’énergie pour
protéger I'indépendance et la crédibilité des procédures spéciales,
en préconisant, dans le cas des titulaires de mandat, un processus
de sélection et de nomination plus transparent. Le Canada s’est
notamment attaché a maintenir la capacité d’examiner
minutieusement les situations nationales et a faire en sorte que
la société civile et les institutions nationales des droits humains
participent davantage aux activités du Conseil.

Plusieurs développements sont survenus au Conseil des droits
de ’homme depuis que le gouvernement a déposé sa réponse au
rapport intérimaire du comité.

Le Conseil a tenu sa sixiéme session ordinaire du 10 au
28 septembre, puis du 10 au 14 décembre 2007. En septembre, il
s’est penché sur la situation des droits de la personne au Darfour,
Soudan, et a tenu un débat plénier sur le rapport intérimaire du
Groupe d’experts sur le Darfour.
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The council also established the order of review of
all countries to undergo the first cycle of the UPR and adopted
guidelines for input to the review. Canada will undergo its review
in April 2009.

Following its September meeting, the council held a timely and
useful special session on Burma on October 2, in response to the
crackdown on the peaceful, monk-led demonstrations. The
council requested the special rapporteur, Sérgio Pinheiro, to
seek an urgent visit to the country and report back in December.
Council pressure led to the regime allowing the special rapporteur
to visit the country, his first visit in six years.

At the resumed session in December, the special rapporteur did
report on his November 11 to 15 visit to Burma. At that session, a
resolution adopted by consensus urged the government to follow
up and implement the special rapporteur’s recommendations and
requested him to conduct a follow-up mission and report again to
the council at its upcoming March session.

On November 16, the Third Committee of the UN General
Assembly adopted the institution-building package of the Human
Rights Council. The inclusion in the institution-building package
of a separate agenda item, “‘Palestine and Other Occupied Arab
Territories,” does not respect the principles of universality,
impartiality, objectivity and non-selectivity upon which the
council is founded. The council also failed to renew the country
mandates for Cuba and Belarus. Canada therefore voted against
adoption of the institution-building package, consistent with the
position taken at the Human Rights Council in June of 2007.

Also at its December session, the council reviewed and
renewed the mandates of seven additional special rapporteurs.
In all, 12 mandates have now been renewed. A new expert
mechanism on the rights of indigenous peoples was created to
replace the former sub-commission working group on Indigenous
Populations. The council also adopted, by consensus, a resolution
which welcomed the final report of the Darfur Group of Experts.
The mandate of the Darfur Group of Experts was transferred to
the special rapporteur on Sudan.

The Human Rights Council also acts as the preparatory
committee for follow-up to the World Conference Against
Racism, or the Durban Conference. On January 23, Minister
Bernier and Secretary of State Kenney announced that Canada
will not participate in the 2009 Durban Review Conference. In
your travels to Geneva, this issue may well be raised at your
meetings. This decision was taken because Canada has significant
concerns that the process leading to the 2009 follow-up to the
Durban Conference has been divisive, and sets a troublesome
tone for the conference itself.

Looking ahead, the seventh session of the council will take
place from March 3 to 28. Canada’s priorities at the session will
be the renewal of mandates of the special rapporteurs on freedom

Le Conseil a en outre établi I’ordre dans lequel les pays feront
I'objet du premier cycle de 'EPU et a adopté des directives
générales pour la préparation des informations a fournir dans ce
contexte. Le Canada fera I'objet d’'un EPU en avril 2009.

Apreés la réunion de septembre, le conseil a tenu, le 2 octobre,
une session extraordinaire sur la Birmanie qui s’est avérée a la fois
opportune et fructueuse, en réponse a la répression des
manifestations pacifiques dirigées par les moines. Il a aussi
demandé au rapporteur spécial, Sérgio Pinheiro, de chercher a
effectuer une visite d’urgence dans le pays et de lui faire rapport
en décembre. Les pressions du Conseil ont amené le régime a
autoriser la visite du rapporteur spécial, la premiére en six ans.

A la reprise de la session en décembre, le conseil a pris
connaissance du rapport du rapporteur spécial sur la visite
effectuée en Birmanie du 11 au 15 novembre. Lors de cette
session, une résolution a été adoptée par consensus pour exhorter
le gouvernement a suivre et a mettre en ceuvre les
recommandations du rapporteur spécial et demandé a ce dernier
d’effectuer une mission de suivie et de faire rapport au Conseil a
sa session de mars.

Le 16 novembre 2007, la Troisiéme Commission de
I’Assemblée générale des Nations Unies a adopté la mise en
place des institutions du Conseil des droits de I’homme.
L’inclusion a I'ordre du jour d’un point distinct sur la Palestine
et les autres territoires arabes occupés ne respecte pas les principes
d’universalité, d’impartialité, d’objectivité et de non-sélectivité sur
lesquels le conseil est fondé. En outre, le Conseil n’a pas renouvelé
les mandats concernant Cuba et Belarus. Le Canada a donc voté
contre I’adoption des institutions du Conseil, en conformité avec
la position qu’il avait prise lors de la cinquiéme session de ce
méme Conseil, en juin 2007.

Lors de cette méme session de décembre, le Conseil a passé en
revue et renouvelé les mandats de sept autres rapporteurs
spéciaux. Douze mandats ont maintenant été renouvelés. Un
nouveau mécanisme d’experts sur les droits des populations
autochtones a en outre été créé pour remplacer le Groupe de
travail de la Sous-commission des peuples autochtones. Le
Conseil a aussi adopté par consensus une résolution dans
laquelle il accueille favorablement le rapport final du Groupe
d’experts sur le Darfour. Le mandat du Groupe d’experts sur le
Darfour a été transféré a la rapporteuse spéciale sur le Soudan.

Le Conseil des droits de '’homme agit aussi comme comité
préparatoire pour le suivi de la Conférence mondiale contre le
racisme ou Conférence de Durban. Le 23 janvier dernier, le
ministre Bernier et le secrétaire d’Etat Kenney ont annoncé que le
Canada ne participerait pas a la Conférence d’examen de Durban
en 2009. Il se peut trés bien que cette question soit soulevée lors de
vos rencontres a Genéve. Le Canada a pris cette décision, car il
craint profondément que le processus menant a la Conférence
d’examen de 2009 ne séme la discorde et n’engage la conférence
elle-méme sur une mauvaise voie.

Pour ce qui est de I’avenir, la septiéme session du conseil se
tiendra du 3 au 28 mars 2008. La priorit¢é du Canada a cette
occasion sera le renouvellement des mandats des rapporteurs
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of expression and of violence against women. The committee’s
active support for renewal of these mandates during your visit to
Geneva would be most appreciated.

Approximately 10 other mandates will also be considered
for renewal at this session. In addition, the council will
elect 18 individuals to its advisory committee, which replaces
the Sub-commission on Human Rights, and the president will
appoint 16 special procedure mandate-holders to fill vacancies.

The council, as mentioned earlier, will also be presented with
the final report of the special rapporteur on the situation on
human rights in Myanmar, and Canada will seek to ensure that
any follow-up decision taken maintains the pressure on the
Burmese regime regarding the human rights situation there.

Canada is also an active supporter of the work of the UN High
Commissioner for Human Rights. Her emphasis on improving
the office’s management capacity and on promoting the
implementation of human rights in the field, which Canada has
supported, has made a real difference around the world from
Angola to Nepal and, we believe, will constitute a lasting legacy.
Canada has worked to ensure that the council is able to respond
to urgent human rights situations and that it focuses on the
implementation of human rights.

Many serious challenges remain to be overcome before the
council fulfills its promise, not least of which is the repeated and
unbalanced singling out of Israel, which Canada has, and will
continue to speak out against. However, we are encouraged to see
that the council is increasingly shifting its focus from institutional
questions to addressing human rights issues and situations where
it matters most, namely, on the ground.

Senator Munson: What has changed from the previous makeup
with the human rights commission? I will leave it as simple as
that. It seems that it is still a very biased organization.

Ms. Dion: There is no question that the standing up of the
council is still a work-in-progress. I may have mentioned when [
was here last time that with a fewer number of seats on the council
and the continuation of block voting by the representatives of
some regional groups, it means that Canada and its like-minded
delegates can be outvoted on some issues.

What has changed, however, is that we have seen a certain
maturing in the work of the council. As I mentioned towards the
end of my comments, there were some significant achievements
that did take place in September and December with the adoption
of a first group of mandates and the setting of the scene for
further adoption and renewal of mandates in March.

While we remain vigilant, we are hopeful that things will
improve.

Senator Munson: Can you tell us about the voting patterns in
the last year?

spéciaux sur la liberté d’expression et la violence contre les
femmes. Votre soutien actif au renouvellement de ces mandats
lors de votre visite a Genéve sera grandement apprécié.

Le renouvellement de quelque 10 autres mandats sera aussi
étudié a cette session. En outre, le Conseil élira les 18 membres de
son comité consultatif, qui remplace la Sous-commission des
droits de I'homme, et le président nommera 16 titulaires de
mandat aux termes des procédures spéciales, afin de combler les
postes vacants.

Comme je I’ai indiqué tout a I’heure, le Conseil recevra aussi le
rapport final du rapporteur spécial sur la situation des droits de
I’homme au Myanmar et le Canada cherchera a faire en sorte que
toute décision relative au suivi maintienne la pression sur le
régime birman concernant la situation des droits humains dans ce
pays.

Le Canada est aussi un ardent défenseur des travaux de la
Haute Commissaire des Nations Unies aux droits de ’homme.
L’insistance de la Haute Commissaire a renforcer les capacités de
gestion de son organisme et & promouvoir la mise en ceuvre des
droits humains sur le terrain, initiative que le Canada a soutenue,
a réellement contribué a améliorer les choses dans le monde,
depuis I’Angola jusqu’au Népal, et restera dans les anales de
I’histoire. Le Canada a cherché a faire en sorte que le conseil soit
capable de répondre aux situations humanitaires urgentes et
s’attache a la mise en ceuvre des droits de la personne.

Il reste encore de nombreux défis a relever avant que le conseil
ne remplisse sa promesse, le moindre n’étant pas la singularisation
répétée et injuste d’Israél, que le Canada a dénoncé et continuera
de dénoncer. Cependant, nous sommes encouragés de voir que le
conseil détourne son attention des questions institutionnelles pour
se consacrer davantage aux autres questions et situations relatives
aux droits humains, 1a ou cela compte le plus, c’est-a-dire sur le
terrain.

Le sénateur Munson : Qu’est-ce qui a changé par rapport a
I’ancienne Commission des droits de ’homme? Je m’en tiendrai a
cette simple question. J’ai 'impression que nous avons a faire a un
organisme qui n’est pas particuliérement objectif.

Mme Dion : Il ne fait aucun doute que la composition du
conseil n’est pas achevée. La derniére fois, je vous ai peut-étre
indiqué qu’étant donné le nombre réduit de siéges au conseil et le
maintien de la pratique du vote groupé par les représentants de
certains groupes régionaux, le Canada et les délégués de pays aux
vues similaires risquent d’étre battus sur certaines questions.

Une chose a changé, cependant, c’est qu’on pergoit une
certaine maturation dans le travail du Conseil. Comme je I’ai
dit vers la fin de mon exposé, d’importants développements sont
survenus en septembre et en décembre sous la forme de ’adoption
d’une premiére série de mandats et de la préparation d’une autre
série de mandats en vue de leur renouvellement en mars.

Nous demeurons prudents, mais sommes confiants que les
choses vont s’améliorer.

Le sénateur Munson : Pouvez-vous nous parler du déroulement
des votes I’année derniére?
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Ms. Dion: Perhaps I will turn to my more technical colleague,
who is closer to the voting action.

Senator Munson: Can you also tell us about the ideological
clashes that may be hampering the functioning of the council?

Robert Sinclair, Deputy Director, Human Rights Section,
Human Rights, Gender Equality, Health and Population Division,
Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada: I am afraid I
cannot give you exact statistics on the number of consensus versus
voted resolutions, but I can say with confidence that the vast
majority of resolutions adopted at the council are consensus or
adopted without a vote.

Where you run into difficulty is with, as you suggested, the
more sensitive issues. Certainly, the Middle East is always an area
that is quite divisive. As well, the discussions around the Durban
review conference have also been divisive, with the EU and
Canada, in particular, having reservations that have become
increasingly profound as that process has gone forward.

There have been other initiatives where the final resolution has
been consensus but where we have had reservations that we have
tried to work out behind the scenes. One example would be an
initiative to establish voluntary goals for the implementation of
the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. This is linked to the
60th anniversary of the declaration.

Canada’s position on this initiative was that working to
establish voluntary goals for what we view as largely customary
norms risks setting us back. We and others tried to work out
those differences, with Brazil in particular, but we were unable to
do so. In the end, it was a consensus text. We felt we could live
with it and work within the boundaries of the resolution to
minimize the impact.

All of that to say that the Middle East and Durban are the two
flash points. You do see, for instance, the OIC, the Organization
of the Islamic Conference, has a significant number of members
represented in the council as part of the council membership. That
is highlighted in your reports and is an issue we continue to have
to deal with as well.

Senator Munson: We will get an opinion from other human
rights people as well as yourselves. Ms. Dion, you mentioned that
you were encouraged to see that the council was shifting its focus
from institutional questions to addressing other human rights
issues and situations. Can you be more specific on what you are
encouraged about?

Ms. Dion: Now that the institution-building package is in
place, we considered that the special session on Burma, which was
held in October, was a very good sign and a signal that the council

Mme Dion : Je devrai peut-é&tre m’en remettre a mon
collaborateur, qui connait mieux que moi la chose technique et
qui a suivi de plus prés ce qui s’est passé du coté des votes.

Le sénateur Munson : Pouvez-vous nous parler des heurts de
nature idéologique qui peuvent avoir entravé le fonctionnement
du Conseil?

Robert Sinclair, directeur adjoint, Section des droits de la
personne, Direction des droits de la personne, égalité des sexes,
santé et population, Affaires étrangéres et Commerce international
Canada : J’ai peur de ne pas étre en mesure de vous fournir la
répartition exacte entre les résolutions adoptées par consensus et
celles qui I'ont été par voie de vote, mais je peux vous dire sans
crainte de me tromper que la plupart des résolutions adoptées au
conseil I’ont été par voie de consensus ou du moins sans qu’il soit
nécessaire de recourir au vote.

En revanche, comme vous le laissiez entendre, c’est sur des
questions plus délicates que surviennent les problémes. Lune de
ces questions est bien stir, comme toujours, celle du Proche-Orient
qui est source de division. De plus, les discussions qui ont porté
sur la Conférence d’examen de Durban ont semé la discorde,
puisque 'UE et le Canada, en particulier, entretenaient des

réserves croissantes au fur et a mesure du déroulement des
processus.

D’autres initiatives ont fait 'objet d’un réglement définitif par
consensus, mais il a fallu aplanir certaines réserves en coulisse. Ce
fut, par exemple, le cas de I'adoption d’objectifs volontaires
relativement a la mise en ceuvre de la Déclaration universelle des
droits de ’'homme, en rapport avec le 60° anniversaire de ce texte.

A propos de cette initiative, le Canada estimait qu’il fallait
ceuvrer dans le sens de ’établissement d’objectifs volontaires en
regard de ce que nous considérons comme étant essentiellement
des us et coutumes qui risquaient de nous faire reculer. Le Canada
et d’autres ont essayé d’aplanir les différences, notamment avec le
Brésil, mais en vain. En fin de compte, nous avons réussi a nous
entendre sur un texte que le Canada juge acceptable et que nous
pourrons appliquer dans les limites de la résolution afin de réduire
au minimum les répercussions envisagées.

Tout cela pour dire que les deux principaux points durs on été
le Proche-Orient et la Conférence de Durban. On constante, par
exemple, que I’OCI, I'Organisation de la Conférence islamique,
compte un grand nombre de représentants au Conseil. Vous I'avez
souligné dans vos rapports et c’est une question qui continue de
nous préoccuper.

Le sénateur Munson : Nous allons recueillir ’avis d’autres
spécialistes des questions des droits de ’homme. Madame Dion,
vous avez dit avoir trouvé encourageant de constater que le
conseil ne se préoccupe plus autant de questions institutionnelles
pour s’attaquer désormais aux questions et aux situations
relatives aux droits de la personne. Pourriez-vous étre un peu
plus précise a ce sujet?

Mme Dion : Maintenant que la mise en place des institutions
du conseil est terminée, nous estimons que la session spéciale sur
la Birmanie, qui s’est déroulée en octobre, a permis de démontrer
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was indeed prepared to look at and seriously debate serious
human rights situations other than those in the Middle East. As
well, the fact that the special session of the council was
instrumental in putting sufficient pressure on the regime to
allow for the visit of the special rapporteur, his first in over six
years, was a very welcome sign.

Equally, the council was good in pursuing a follow-up to
Darfur. When the group of experts came back and reported, the
council took some fairly strong stands on the situation and
ensured that, in addition to considering it at its sessions in
December, it positioned itself so that it could continue
scrutinizing the situation by handing the mandate from the
group of experts, whose mandate was effectively over, to the
special rapporteur so that there will be continued scrutiny,
engagement and dialogue at the council.

Perhaps moving away from country situations for a moment,
we were also quite encouraged with the tenor of the discussion
and the manner in which the new mechanism to look at the rights
of indigenous peoples was created to replace the working group of
the former sub-commission on human rights. The dialogue was
intense but, on the whole, it was very consensual. We were quite
pleased that we were able to play a constructive role and emerge
with a new instrument that we believe will assist in ensuring that
the rights of indigenous peoples continue to be considered by the
council. It is still uneven, but we do believe that the overall trend
is positive. Equally, the beginning of the UPR review in April will
again be a very positive outcome.

Senator Munson: In your statement, you said that Canada will
seek to ensure that any follow-up decision taken regarding Burma
maintains the pressure regarding the human rights situation there.
What kind of pressure?

Ms. Dion: As my colleague Mr. Mank testified before the
standing committee of the House a few weeks ago, it is difficult to
exert pressure on Burma/Myanmar because it is such a closed
regime. However, Myanmar sits at the UN as a member. This
gives us an important lever to ensure that they are aware of other
member states’ discomfort and grave concern at the situation in
that country. The fact that they are at the UN and that we can
engage in some frank and forceful dialogue with them; that we
now have the mechanism of the special rapporteur, who has now
visited and has serious concerns and will continue to pursue those
concerns, both in his own right and the council on his behalf, does
give us some leverage.

Mr. Sinclair: If I may add to Ms. Dion’s comments, over the
course of the council’s session, there is not just an outcome
decision which could result in pressure on Burma. There are a
number of opportunities for states to make comments in
interactive dialogues with any special rapporteur who happens
to be presenting reports. That is a mechanism through which we
raise both thematic as well as country situations. That has a

que le Conseil est prét a engager un débat sérieux sur les situations
concernant les droits de I’homme ailleurs qu’au Proche-Orient. De
plus, le fait que cette session spéciale ait permis d’exercer
suffisamment de pression sur le régime birman pour faire
autoriser la visite du rapporteur spécial, la premiére en six ans,
a aussi été un signe tres positif.

Par ailleurs, le conseil a fort bien fait d’assurer un suivi dans le
dossier du Darfour. Quand le groupe d’experts est rentré et a fait
rapport, le conseil a adopté des positions fermes face a cette
situation et s’est assuré, outre que ce dossier serait étudié lors de
ses sessions de décembre, de se positionner pour continuer
d’examiner de prés cette situation en confiant le mandat du
groupe d’experts, qui était alors échu, au rapporteur spécial pour
que celui-ci poursuive son examen et favorise la mobilisation et le
dialogue sur cette question au niveau du Conseil.

Sur un autre plan que celui des situations propres aux
différents pays, nous avons été encouragés par la teneur des
discussions et par la mise en place des nouveaux mécanismes
d’examen des droits des peuples autochtones en vue de remplacer
le groupe de travail de I'ancienne Sous-commission des droits de
I’homme. Les échanges ont été animés, mais, dans I’ensemble, ils
ont été trés consensuels. Nous avons été trés heureux d’apporter
notre pierre a I’édifice et de participer a I’élaboration d’un nouvel
instrument qui, nous le pensons, nous aidera a faire en sorte que
les droits des peuples autochtones demeurent a I’ordre du jour du
Conseil. Tout n’est pas encore parfait, mais nous croyons que,
dans I’ensemble, la tendance est positive. De plus, le lancement de
I’EPU en avril sera quelque chose de trés intéressant.

Le sénateur Munson : Dans votre déclaration, vous nous avez
dit que le Canada cherche a faire en sorte que I’on assure un suivi
des décisions prises au sujet de la Birmanie en maintenant les
pressions face a la situation des droits de la personne dans ce pays.
De quelles pressions voulez-vous parler?

Mme Dion : Comme mon collégue, M. Mank, I’a déclaré au
comité permanent de la Chambre il y a quelques semaines, il est
difficile d’exercer des pressions sur la Birmanie/le Myanmar,
parce que nous avons affaire a un régime fermé. Cependant, ce
pays siege a 'ONU, ce qui nous confére un levier non négligeable
pour nous assurer qu’il est bien conscient que d’autres Etats
membres sont génés et profondément préoccupés par sa situation.
Comme le Myanmar est membre de ’ONU, nous pouvons avoir
avec lui des discussions franches et énergiques. De plus, nous
pouvons compter sur le mécanisme appliqué par le rapporteur
spécial, qui s’est déja rendu sur place, a exprimé de profondes
inquiétudes et va continuer de s’intéresser a la situation, en son
nom et au nom du Conseil.

M. Sinclair : J’aimerais ajouter un mot a ce que Mme Dion
vient de vous dire. La session n’est pas uniquement 1’occasion
d’adopter des décisions en vue de faire pression sur la Birmanie,
car les délégués des Etats représentés pourront aussi échanger
avec le rapporteur spécial quand il présentera son rapport. Il
s’agit d'un mécanisme qui nous permet a la fois d’aborder des
thémes et d’examiner des situations propres aux pays étudiés. Il
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cumulative effect. Where other nations raise the same sorts of
concerns in dialogue and formal session, it does keep the pressure
on situations such as we see in Burma.

Senator Oliver: I have two questions for Ms. Dion. The first
relates to the Durban conference against racism, and the second
deals with the Canada review in 2009. You told us that Minister
Bernier and Secretary of State Kenney announced that Canada
will not participate in the 2009 Durban review conference. You
used the word ““divisive.” You said this decision was taken
because Canada has significant concerns that the process leading
up to the 2009 follow-up Durban conference has been divisive and
sets a troublesome tone for the conference itself. What does
Canada think it will gain by withdrawing? How do they think that
will help? Would it not be better to have stayed and to have
fought to change things from the inside? What other countries
have withdrawn their support? Mr. Sinclair hinted that the EU
and Canada have reservations, but are there others?

Ms. Dion: The 2001 world conference against racism, racial
discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance in Durban
was, in Canada’s view, marred by some serious shortcomings.
Canada has significant concerns that what we have witnessed of
the process to date leading to the 2009 conference is essentially
going along the same path as what we saw at the 2001 conference.
Canada, therefore, decided to take a position of principle now
and no longer participate in the process.

Senator Oliver: How will that help, by withdrawing instead of
running away from it?

Ms. Dion: I think that is a question more for Minister Bernier
and Secretary of State Kenney than for us. We certainly attach
very high priority to combating and eradicating racism, both
domestically and internationally.

Given that the 2001 conference ended in controversy and
disappointment, the view was that we could make it a statement
of principle by withdrawing now and looking for other ways in
which to attain our objectives.

On the question of whether or not others have withdrawn, we
are the first to withdraw.

Senator Oliver: What about the EU? You said that the EU had
expressed reservations. Are they thinking of withdrawing?

Mr. Sinclair: 1 cannot speak for the EU in regard to their
position as to their participation or not in the review conference.
However, they have voted against all of the four most recent
resolutions related to Durban. In seven out of the last eight, they
voted the same as Canada on Durban follow-up resolutions.

The one where we differed was back in the General Assembly,
not even the council, where we abstained and the EU voted in
favour of a resolution.

s’agit d’un effet cumulatif. Comme d’autres pays ont ’occasion
d’exprimer leurs préoccupations dans le cadre de sessions
officielles et de dialogues officieux, nous pouvons maintenir la
pression sur des pays comme la Birmanie.

Le sénateur Oliver : J’ai deux questions a poser & Mme Dion.
La premiére concerne la conférence de Durban contre le racisme
et la seconde I’examen du Canada en 2009. Vous nous avez dit
que le ministre Bernier et le secrétaire d’Etat Kenney ont annoncé
que le Canada ne participerait pas a la Conférence d’examen de
Durban en 2009. Vous avez parlé de « semer la discorde ». Vous
avez dit que cette décision avait été prise parce que le Canada
craint profondément que le processus menant a la conférence de
2009 ne séme la discorde et n’engage la conférence elle-méme sur
la mauvaise voie. Que pensons-nous gagner en nous retirant de ce
processus? En quoi pensons-nous que cela va aider? N’aurait-il
pas été mieux de demeurer engagé et de continuer a se battre pour
faire changer les choses de I'intérieur? Quels autres pays ont retiré
leur appui a ce processus? M. Sinclair a laissé entendre que les
Européens et le Canada avaient exprimé des craintes, mais
d’autres pays nous ont-ils imités?

Mme Dion : Le Conférence mondiale de 2001, a Durban,
contre le racisme, la discrimination raciale, la xénophobie et
I'intolérance qui y est associée a été, du point de vue du Canada,
gichée a cause de graves problémes. Le Canada craint
profondément que le processus de préparation de la Conférence
de 2009 ne ressemble étrangement a ce que nous avons déja vécu
en 2001. Le Canada a donc décidé d’adopter une position de
principe et de se retirer du processus.

Le sénateur Oliver : En quoi vaut-il mieux se retirer tout de
suite que de prendre les jambes a son cou plus tard?

Mme Dion : C’est une question que vous devriez davantage
poser au ministre Bernier et au secrétaire d’Etat Kenney. Nous
considérons évidemment qu’il est hautement prioritaire de
combattre le racisme, au Canada et sur la scéne internationale,
et de chercher a I’éradiquer.

Etant donné que la conférence de 2001 s’est achevée dans la
controverse et la déception, nous nous sommes dit que nous
devions adopter une position de principe en nous retirant tout de
suite et en cherchant d’autres fagons de réaliser nos objectifs.

Par ailleurs, nous sommes, pour I'instant, les seuls a nous étre
retirés.

Le sénateur Oliver : Et les Européens? Vous avez dit que 'UE
avait elle aussi exprimé des craintes. Envisage-t-elle de se retirer?

M. Sinclair : Je ne peux pas parler pour les Européens ni me
prononcer quant a leur éventuelle participation a la conférence
d’examen. Cependant, ils ont voté contre les quatre derniéres
résolutions relatives a Durban. Ils ont voté au c6té du Canada au
sujet de sept des huit résolutions ayant porté sur le suivi de la
conférence de Durban.

Il y a une résolution sur laquelle I’'UE n’était pas d’accord avec
nous et celle-ci a été adressée a I’Assemblée générale, pas méme au
Conseil. Nous nous étions abstenus et les Européens avaient voté
en faveur de cette résolution.
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Senator Oliver: [s Canada being proactive? Is it saying to other
members: We have withdrawn; why have you not?

Mr. Sinclair: In that regard, we have made our assessment and
we stand by it. Other countries will be making their own
assessment and will be looking at what Canada has done.

We do not at this point have a proactive lobby in place to go
out and convince other countries. We stand by our assessment.

Senator Oliver: My other question relates to Canada’s review
in 2009, likely in April.

It seems to me that the last time Canada obtained its report
card, there were some severe criticisms of Canada in relation to
children and Aboriginals. You said in your paper today that
Heritage Canada will be handling the review process for Canada,
and that Foreign Affairs will be having a few conferences itself to
update people.

First, I was wondering, is there anything this committee could
do? Second, is there anything that this committee could be doing
in relation to children and Aboriginals in terms of calling them
before the committee and asking questions, even before the
assessment?

Ms. Dion: To be completely frank, we are not exactly sure at
this point how the process will work or how the review will
unfold. We know that we will know much more after the review
sessions in April and May of this year.

Switzerland, for example, is one of the first of our like-minded
partners who will be reviewed. We will be watching the review
process closely. We will be trying to intervene constructively. We
are, ourselves, thinking about how we could prepare, perhaps, a
short list of questions surrounding some concerns that we have
about the human rights performance of the countries that are
being reviewed. We would expect that when our turn comes, other
discussants in the council will be doing the same for us.

We should perhaps return to this subject in June or September,
once we have more information on which to base a considered
response.

Of course, as indicated in the text, the reason that we do want
to have meetings with our civil society partners and others in late
spring and early fall is to enable us to develop a kind of working
strategy that we will use.

We note your questions about what the committee could do.
Certainly, perhaps calling witnesses on issues and areas that are of
concern to you would be useful input into the work of Canada in
preparing for committee appearance.

I should mention that with respect to children, Canada will
also be appearing in, I think it is, early 2009 before the UN
Committee on the Rights of the Child. I think we will be
appearing in January. We will have presented a fairly full report
on issues under the convention and will also be responding to the

Le sénateur Oliver : Le Canada est-il proactif? Est-ce qu’il
contacte les autres Etats membres en leur demandant : nous nous
sommes retirés, pourquoi n’en faites-vous pas autant?

M. Sinclair : Nous avons évalué la situation et nous en restons
la. Les autres pays font de méme et voient bien ce que le Canada a
fait.

Pour I'instant, nous ne démarchons pas activement les autres
Etats membres pour essayer de les convaincre, toutefois, nous
demeurons campés sur nos positions.

Le sénateur Oliver : Mon autre question concerne 1’examen de
la situation du Canada en 2009, sans doute au mois d’avril.

J’ai I'impression que, dans le dernier bulletin de 'ONU, le
Canada avait été ouvertement critiqué au sujet des enfants et des
Autochtones. Dans votre mémoire que vous nous avez remis
aujourd’hui, vous indiquez que Patrimoine Canada va s’occuper
du processus d’examen pour le Canada et que le ministére des
Affaires étrangéres tiendra une série de conférences pour faire le
point a ce sujet.

Premiérement, que pourrait faire notre comité pour contribuer
a tout cela? Deuxiémement, que pourrions-nous faire dans le cas
des dossiers concernant les enfants et les Autochtones, par
exemple en convoquant les intéressés devant le comité pour leur
poser des questions avant méme I’évaluation?

Mme Dion : Pour étre trés honnéte avec vous, nous ne savons
pas encore exactement comment les choses vont se dérouler, ni
quelle forme prendra cet examen. Nous en saurons davantage
apres les sessions d’examen d’avril et de mai prochains.

La Suisse, par exemple, sera I'un des premiers pays aux vues
similaires aux notres a faire ’objet d'un examen. Nous suivrons le
processus de pres. Nous tenterons d’intervenir de fagon
constructive. D’un autre co6té, nous essayons de réfléchir a la
fagon de nous préparer, éventuellement en dressant une liste de
questions portant sur certains thémes des droits de la personne
qui sont préoccupants dans les pays examinés. Quand notre tour
viendra, d’autres membres du conseil feront sans doute la méme
chose a propos du Canada.

Nous devrions sans doute revenir sur cette question en juin ou
en septembre, une fois que nous disposerons de plus
d’informations sur lesquelles appuyer notre réponse.

Comme le précise notre mémoire, nous voulons tenir des
réunions avec nos partenaires de la société civile et d’autres, a la
fin du printemps et au début de ’automne, pour nous permettre
d’élaborer une stratégie en conséquence.

Nous prenons note de votre offre au sujet du comité et il est
évident que la convocation de témoins sur des thémes susceptibles
de vous intéresser pourrait nous aider dans notre préparation a la
comparution du Canada devant le comité d’examen.

Je dois préciser qu’en ce qui concerne les enfants, le Canada va
également comparaitre, au début 2009 si je ne m’abuse, devant le
comité des droits de I'enfant de PTONU. Je pense que ce devrait
étre en juin. Nous aurons alors soumis un rapport complet sur les
questions découlant de la convention et donnerons notre réponse
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recommendations of the last report just prior to our UPR
appearance in April. Therefore, I think it is to be expected that
children’s issues will definitely be raised.

Senator Oliver: What about Aboriginal issues?

Ms. Dion: There again, given the important attention that has
been dedicated by the Government of Canada and many others to
the situation of Aboriginal Peoples, we could expect that it will
certainly also be a topic.

Senator Oliver: One final question: Is there any other
group that you think might be the subject of concern in
Canada’s 2009 review, apart from children and Aboriginals?

Ms. Dion: Of course, there is violence against women, partly
because we take a high profile on the issue at the UN and in other
multilateral organizations. I am reluctant to speculate at this
point because it is so early. We may even have a better sense after
the Human Rights Council session in March, as well as the Swiss
and other appearances before the UPR in April and May.

The Chair: Before I turn to Senator Dallaire, perhaps a
clarification. We were made aware of the indigenous peoples
declaration and Canada’s stance, and that was covered
previously. You indicated «indigenous peoples instrument»
today. What do you mean by that? Maybe I did not hear you
correctly. I want to be sure that I know exactly what the steps
were after the declaration was passed and moved on to the
General Assembly. It has come back to the council. What form is
it in? What are the next steps?

Ms. Dion: Once the declaration was adopted by the Human
Rights Council, it was forwarded to the UN General Assembly.
In the fall, it was again voted at the UN General Assembly and
again passed. In essence, it is now officially a UN declaration on
the rights of indigenous peoples.

Canada, of course, also made a statement of explanation at the
General Assembly, explaining why we could not support the
declaration and could not be bound by its provisions. It now has
the status of a UN declaration.

The Chair: If Senator Dallaire will be a bit more patient, I have
a follow-up question to that.

Certainly, in some of my discussions about human rights
issues, not many countries believe that the declaration will have
an impact on them. They see Canada and our indigenous peoples,
and they see Australia, New Zealand and some Latin American
countries. However, in many discussions where I have tried to
ascertain a government point of view or an NGO point of view
around the world, they say “That does not apply to us; that
applies to you.”

Is there a feeling that that declaration will have an impact? Do
the council members, for example, understand that it is a
universal declaration, and «indigenous peoples» is a broad

aux recommandations du dernier rapport, juste avant notre EPU,
en avril. Il faut donc s’attendre a ce que le dossier des enfants soit
abordé.

Le sénateur Oliver : Et les questions autochtones?

Mme Dion : Méme chose. On peut penser que les questions
autochtones seront aussi a 'ordre du jour, étant donné toute
l’attention dont elles ont fait I’objet de la part du gouvernement
du Canada et de nombreux autres.

Le sénateur Oliver : Une derniére question : Hormis les enfants
et les Autochtones, pensez-vous que I’examen de la situation au
Canada en 2009 portera sur un autre groupe?

Mme Dion : Il y a bien siir la question de la violence faite aux
femmes, en partie parce que nous avons trés bonne réputation a ce
sujet 8 PONU et au sein d’autres organisations multilatérales.
Cependant, j’estime trop tot pour me livrer a une quelconque
spéculation a ce sujet. Nous aurons peut-étre une meilleure idée de
ce qui nous attend apres la session de mars du Conseil des droits
de I'homme et aprés que les Suisses et d’autres auront fait ’objet
de ’EPU en avril et en mai.

Le président : Avant de céder la parole au sénateur Dallaire,
J’aimerais obtenir un éclaircissement. Nous avons entendu parler
de la déclaration relative aux peuples autochtones et de la position
du Canada a cet égard, puisqu’il en a été question plus tot. Vous
avez parlé d’» instruments concernant les peuples autochtones ».
Qu’entendez-vous par 1a? Il est possible que je ne vous aie pas bien
entendu. Je veux étre certain de bien connaitre les mesures qui ont
été prises aprés ’adoption de la déclaration et sa communication
a I’Assemblée générale. Celle-ci est revenue devant le Conseil,
mais sous quelle forme? Qu’est-ce qui vient ensuite?

Mme Dion : Apres avoir été adoptée par le Conseil des droits
de ’'homme, la déclaration a été transmise a I’ Assemblée générale
de PTONU. Cet automne, elle a de nouveau fait ’'objet d’un vote, a
I’Assemblée des Nations Unies cette fois, et elle a été adoptée. Elle
est désormais, essentiellement, une déclaration de 'ONU sur les
droits des peuples autochtones.

Le Canada avait fait une déclaration a 1’Assemblée générale
pour expliquer pourquoi il ne pouvait appuyer cette déclaration ni
se sentir lié par ses dispositions. Il demeure qu’elle est devenue un
texte onusien.

Le président : Si le sénateur Dallaire peut patienter encore un
peu, j’aimerais poser une autre question a ce sujet.

Dans les échanges que j’ai eus au sujet des questions de droits
humains, j’ai constaté que peu de pays estiment que cette
déclaration les concerne directement. Ils pensent qu’elle
concerne le Canada et ses peuples autochtones, de méme que
I’Australie, la Nouvelle-Z¢élande et certains pays d’Amérique
latine. Cependant, lors de mes discussions, j’ai essayé de définir
quel pouvait étre le point de vue du gouvernement ou des ONG
ailleurs dans le monde, et tous mes interlocuteurs m’ont répondu :
« Cela vous concerne vous, pas nous ».

Estimez-vous que cette déclaration aura un impact? Est-ce que
les membres du Conseil, par exemple, comprennent bien qu’il
s’agit d’une déclaration universelle et que les « peuples



2:60

Human Rights

11-2-2007

definition that may have an impact in everyone’s country, and
needs to be assessed in that way for the protection of indigenous
peoples?

Ms. Dion: Again, it is difficult to speak for all members of the
council. The awareness among council members varies a great
deal. For example, our Latin American partners who do have
significant indigenous populations are, of course, very aware of
the declaration. Indeed, as you may know, there is an effort under
way within the OAS to develop a similar declaration.

However, many other countries, particularly in Africa and
Asia, do not consider themselves to have indigenous populations,
so they did not really follow the negotiating process very closely,
and they do not consider it to be a priority. It is difficult to say
how much, if any, note they take of the final adoption of the
declaration or whether they are aware of the universality of it.

[Translation)

Senator Dallaire: Ms. Dion, it is a pleasure to see you again. |
would like to situate you. In the Foreign Affairs organization
chart, where is your division?

Ms. Dion: May I reply in English?

Senator Dallaire: Yes.

[English]

Ms. Dion: I report to the Assistant Deputy Minister for Global
Issues, and I am the Director General for Human Security and
Human Rights. I have four divisions reporting to me, one of
which is the Human Rights Division.

Senator Dallaire: Are they divisions or sections?
Ms. Dion: They are divisions.

Senator Dallaire: There are directors in each one?

Ms. Dion: Yes.

Senator Dallaire: Is the human security side a stand-alone
effort? Is there a specific reason that human security and human
rights were both given to you? Is it purely an HR decision or was
there a basis for that?

Ms. Dion: Canada’s positions on what we would call the suite
of human security issues — prevention of genocide, children in
armed conflict and all of those kinds of issues — are very much
informed by our concerns and interests in the area of human
rights, humanitarian assistance and international humanitarian
law. Therefore, when the bureau and branch was being formed, it
seemed appropriate to our senior managers that the division be
co-located in the same group so that the work of our Human
Security Division, for example, could be informed by the work of
our Human Rights Division, and equally the division responsible
for development of our humanitarian assistance and policy.

autochtones » correspondent a une définition trés large qui
pourrait trouver une application dans n’importe quel pays, et
qu’il conviendrait donc de réévaluer la situation sous cet angle
afin de protéger les populations autochtones?

Mme Dion : Il m’est, encore une fois, difficile de parler pour les
autres membres du Conseil. Tous les membres du conseil ne
connaissent pas bien cette déclaration. Cependant, nos
partenaires d’Amérique latine qui comptent une importante
population autochtone, sont tout a fait au courant de la
déclaration. D’ailleurs, comme vous le savez peut-étre, ’OEA
est en train de préparer une déclaration semblable.

Bien d’autres pays, surtout en Afrique et en Asie, qui estiment
ne pas compter de population autochtone, n’ont pas vraiment
suivi les négociations de prés et jugent que ce texte n’est pas une
priorité. On ne peut pas vraiment savoir dans quelle mesure ces
pays ont remarqué ’adoption de cette déclaration, ni s’ils sont au
courant de son caractére universel.

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Dallaire : Madame Dion, c’est un plaisir de vous
revoir. J’aimerais vous situer. Dans 1’organigramme des Affaires
extérieures, ou se trouve votre division?

Mme Dion : Puis-je répondre en anglais?

Le sénateur Dallaire : Oui.

[Traduction)

Mme Dion : Je releve du sous-ministre adjoint, Enjeux
mondiaux, et je suis directrice générale de la sécurité humaine et
des droits de la personne. J’ai quatre sections sous mes ordres,
dont celle des droits de la personne.

Le sénateur Dallaire : S’agit-il de divisions ou de sections?
Mme Dion : De divisions en anglais et de sections en francais.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Et elles sont chapeautées par des
directeurs?

Mme Dion : Oui.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Est-ce que ce qui concerne la sécurité
humaine est a part? Y a-t-il une raison bien précise pour laquelle
on vous a confié¢ a la fois la sécurité humaine et les droits de la
personne? S’agit-il d’une stricte décision de gestion ou y a-t-il
d’autres motifs a cela?

Mme Dion : Le Canada fonde sa position a propos de ce qu’on
pourrait appeler ’ensemble des questions touchant a la sécurité
humaine — c’est-a-dire, la prévention des génocides, les enfants
soldats et ainsi de suite — sur son évaluation des droits de la
personne, ses intéréts en matiére d’aide humanitaire et ce qu’il
pense des droits de ’homme dans le monde. Cela étant, quand la
direction générale et la direction ont été mises sur pied, la haute
direction du ministére a jugé approprié de regrouper les deux
¢éléments sous la méme enseigne afin que tout le travail réalisé par
la section sur la sécurité humaine, par exemple, s’appuie sur celui
accompli par la section des droits de la personne, tout comme sur
celui de la section responsable de 1’élaboration de nos politiques
en matiére d’aide humanitaire.
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Senator Dallaire: The human rights side of the house has been
articulated by different prime ministers as being a fundamental
component of our foreign policy. In your functions and duties,
what arena of priority do you feel you are situated in within the
context of our foreign policy?

Ms. Dion: The Prime Minister and the Minister of Foreign
Affairs have clearly said on a number of occasions that freedom,
democracy, human rights and rule of law are very much at the
centre of Canada’s foreign policy.

Those working on human rights issues, issues surrounding
children in armed conflict and genocide prevention indeed believe
that these issues are of priority and interest, and we do receive
support for the initiatives we undertake.

Senator Dallaire: So you feel that that your mainstream effort
within Foreign Affairs is the human rights side of the house?

Let us go to the council. As the council has evolved so far, do
you see it being an instrument of reacting to situations that are
evolving around the world, through the reporting system, et
cetera, or have you seen it evolving with a proactive
responsibility? Have we articulated that sort of interpretation of
the council’s mandate in open forum?

Ms. Dion: That is a very good question. In the course of the
Human Rights Council being stood up, developing its
institutions, there can be no question that it was perhaps a bit
more reactive in terms of addressing human rights situations and
issues. We very much want to see it be both reactive and
proactive.

I mentioned very briefly the support that Canada has given to
the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. Over the
last year or so, while the council has been standing itself up and
has been quite preoccupied with building its own institutions, the
Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights has played
an important role in becoming a little more proactive in that it has
continued to expand its number of field offices, its ability to offer
capacity building assistance to countries that need it, and in
general to organize itself both internally and externally to play
that more proactive role.

It is our hope that when the council has finalized its institutions
and mechanisms, it will become more proactive in its work. It has
a good opportunity to do this through the Universal Periodic
Review, for example. Through the reconfiguration of some
of its other institutions it is moving, for example, from the
Sub-commission on Human Rights towards something called the
Human Rights Council Advisory Committee, which should be a
much more flexible instrument and more geared to giving the
council the specific advice and information that it needs to do its
work.

Senator Dallaire: Where is that located?

Le sénateur Dallaire : Différents premiers ministres ont affirmé
que les questions des droits de 'homme ont occupé une place
prépondérante dans 1’élaboration de notre politique étrangére.
Dans vos fonctions, a quel niveau de priorité correspond votre
champ d’activités, dans le contexte de la politique étrangére?

Mme Dion : Le premier ministre et le ministre des Affaires
étrangéres ont clairement indiqué, a plusieurs reprises, que la
liberté, la démocratie, les droits de la personne et la primauté du
droit sont au cceur de la politique étrangére du Canada.

Ceux et celles qui travaillent sur les questions de droits de la
personne, d’utilisation d’enfants dans les conflits armés et de
prévention des génocides sont également convaincus que toutes
ces questions sont prioritaires, qu’elles doivent nous intéresser, et
nous bénéficions de tout I’appui nécessaire pour mener a bien nos
initiatives.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Vous estimez donc que 1’essentiel de vos
efforts au sein du ministére des Affaires étrangeéres porte sur les
droits de la personne?

Passons maintenant a la question du Conseil. Compte tenu de
ce qu'est devenu le Conseil, estimez-vous qu’il est & présent un
instrument susceptible de réagir aux situations qui surviendront
ailleurs dans le monde, par le truchement d’un systéme de
rapport, et ainsi de suite, ou pensez-vous plutét qu’il soit en
mesure de prendre une position a priori, d’étre proactif? Est-ce
que le mandat du Conseil a fait I’objet d'une interprétation dans le
cadre d’une tribune ouverte?

Mme Dion : Trés bonne question. Il est certain que, dans ses
débuts, a I’époque de la formation de ces institutions, le Conseil
des droits de ’homme était sans doute davantage réactif face aux
situations concernant les droits de la personne. Nous souhaitons
beaucoup qu’il soit a la fois réactif et proactif.

Je vous ai briévement parlé de I'appui que le Canada a apporté
au Haut-commissariat aux droits de la personne. Au cours de la
derniére année, pendant la mise sur pied du conseil ou il a
surtout été question de le doter de ses propres institutions, le
Haut-commissariat aux droits de la personne est devenu un peu
plus proactif en ce sens qu’il a ouvert davantage de bureaux
régionaux, qu’il a été davantage en mesure d’aider les pays
demandeurs a accroitre leur capacité et que, de fagon générale, il
s’est organisé a l'interne et a I’externe pour jouer un role plus
proactif.

Nous espérons, qu’une fois que le conseil sera pleinement doté
de ses mécanismes et institutions, il sera encore plus proactif. Il
aura la possibilité d’y parvenir, par exemple grace a I'application
de l’examen périodique universel. La reconfiguration de
certaines de ses institutions, comme la transformation de la
Sous-commission des droits de ’homme en comité consultatif du
Conseil des droits de ’homme, devrait conférer davantage de
souplesse et de capacité au conseil pour recevoir les avis et
informations dont il a besoin pour faire son travail.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Ou se situe ce nouveau comité?



2:62

Human Rights

11-2-2007

Ms. Dion: Again, it is a new body that will replace the
Sub-commission on Human Rights, which was a subsidiary body
of the old commission. It is currently being stood up.

Senator Dallaire: The exercise of the Durban catastrophe —
fiasco, whatever terminology we want to use, and the decision we
have of withdrawing from the front lines of that, and in
connection with the point that Senator Oliver was raising, leads
me to query when that decision was taken, seeing as it was
evolving into something that was, again, being skewed, perhaps, if
I could use that term in regard particularly to Middle East
scenarios, and so on, and the different voting blocs. What, in
essence, do you have as a responsibility — you with the
ambassadors out there and so on — in regard to going and
finding the alternative to that, of building the bridges, of
influencing these voting blocs, of maybe convincing them to
break up the voting blocs? Do you have a dynamic responsibility
in regard to the council, or are you sort of reacting to the
sequence of events that they articulate? Are we in the back rooms,
pounding and beating doors down and doing things that we
overtly do not seem to want to do within the process?

Ms. Dion: Yes, senator.

Senator Dallaire: You realize the next question is that I want
some proof. I am querying you because of that. I want some proof
that, in fact, human rights is a dominant thematic of our foreign
policy, with teeth and dynamics and resources, and not simply a
component.

Ms. Dion: Perhaps I could address the first part of your
question concerning responsibility to find alternative ways to
address these very serious problems of racism and related issues
that we had hoped the Durban review conference would address.

There are a number of mechanisms, most important at the UN
and the Human Rights Council, special rapporteurs who have the
mandate to deal with various aspects of the issue. We are working
hard to ensure that as the mandates come up for renewal,
including the mandate of what I would call our own Special
Rapporteur on Freedom of Expression, which is a Canadian-led
mechanism, that the mandates are as strong and comprehensive
as they can be and are not restricted in any way that would
prevent them from being able to monitor and report on issues
around racism, xenophobia and the other issues to be addressed
by the conference that might fall within their mandates.

In terms of building bridges and reaching out to other
countries so that they do not vote as a bloc, yes, absolutely we
are doing that. In Geneva, Canada is making concerted efforts to
do this on an issue-by-issue basis so that where we do have
commonalities of views with members of other regional groups,
we make a deliberate effort to reach out to them on those views
and at the same time say: “We are very like-minded on these

Mme Dion : Il va remplacer la Sous-commission des droits de
I’homme, qui était un organisme subsidiaire de 1’ancienne
commission. On est en train de le mettre sur pied.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Tout ce qui a entouré la catastrophe ou
le fiasco de Durban, peu importe le terme employé, et la décision
de nous retirer du processus — en rapport avec ce dont parlait le
sénateur Oliver tout a ’heure — m’ameéne a me demander quand
cette décision a été prise, étant donné que les choses allaient
peut-étre de travers dans le cas du Proche-Orient plus
particuliérement, et la fagcon dont les différents blocs allaient
voter. J’aimerais savoir si vous n’étes pas tenus — vous-méme et
les ambassadeurs sur le terrain — de trouver d’autres solutions, de
jeter des ponts ou d’influencer les pays qui font bloc afin de les
convaincre, éventuellement, de ne pas agir de la sorte? N’étes-vous
pas investi d’une telle responsabilité en ce qui concerne le conseil
ou vous contentez-vous de réagir aux situations? Sommes-nous
présents dans les anti-chambres du pouvoir, allons-nous cogner
aux portes pour parvenir a faire ce qu’officiellement nous ne
semblons pas vouloir faire?

Mme Dion : Oui, sénateur.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Vous allez voir qu’avec ma prochaine
question, je vais vouloir un peu plus de détails et c’est d’ailleurs
pour cela que je vous pose des questions. Je veux que vous me
prouviez que les droits de la personne sont un théme dominant de
notre politique étrangére, que nous avons donné du muscle a ce
theme, que c’est quelque chose de dynamique, que nous
mobilisons les ressources nécessaires, et que ce n’est pas
simplement un titre.

Mme Dion : Je me propose de répondre a la premiére partie de
votre question, au sujet de notre responsabilité de trouver d’autres
solutions afin de régler les problémes trés graves que nous
rencontrons sur le plan du racisme et autres, problémes que nous
aurions souhaiter voir traités dans le cadre de la Conférence
d’examen de Durban.

11 existe de nombreux mécanismes, le plus important a ’'ONU
et a I’échelon du Conseil des droits de I’homme, étant constitué
par des rapporteurs spéciaux qui ont pour mandat d’étudier
certains aspects de la question. Nous travaillons d’arrache-pied
pour nous assurer que ces mandats seront renouvelés, y compris
celui de notre propre rapporteur spécial sur la liberté
d’expression, lequel obéit a un mécanisme dirigé par le Canada.
Nous souhaitons que tous les mandats confiés soient aussi forts et
complets que possible et qu’ils ne soient pas limités au point
d’empécher les rapporteurs d’examiner les questions touchant au
racisme, a la xénophobie et autres, et d’en rendre compte a la
Conférence.

S’agissant de jeter des ponts et d’établir des liens avec d’autres
pays pour éviter qu’ils fassent bloc, sachez que c’est bien ce que
nous faisons. A Genéve, le Canada déploie des efforts concertés
pour y parvenir, dossier par dossier, afin de dégager les aspects
sur lesquels nous nous entendons avec d’autres membres de
groupes régionaux. Nous leur tendons la main et leur disons :
« Vous savez, nous pensons la méme chose que vous a ce sujet. Il
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issues.” It is regrettable that we cannot be more like-minded on
aspects of other issues, such as those surrounding racism and
discrimination.

We have not stopped trying to build bridges, to reach out to
other regional groups and also to break down that instinct to vote
as a bloc. We have had some successes. For example, in the
consideration of the situation in Darfur, Mr. Sinclair can give us
more precise details about how, in the end, some of the more
moderate African countries did break ranks and vote in favour of
continuing scrutiny of the situation in Darfur. It is very much an
ongoing process.

The other way that we engage, and have been for some time,
but particularly in the last year or so when the Human Rights
Council was being built, is bilaterally in capitals through our
ambassadors and high commissioners, who have an ongoing
dialogue with the people in the foreign ministries, and ministers
and parliamentarians, on issues around human rights situations,
not only in their own country but in other countries and areas of
concern, and also concerning voting records at the UN.

It is very difficult, in the world of diplomacy, to be able to say:
“Here we have a specific outcome,” because usually it is ongoing,
day-to-day work.

Mr. Sinclair: I would highlight another way in which we are
endeavouring to build bridges. For example, on the renewal of
our own mandates on which we lead freedom of expression and
violence against women, we are taking a very conscious approach
this time around to reach out to representatives of each of the
other regional groups to share the burden, but also to get them
invested in the mandate and ensure a strong, cross-regional
approach to these mandates.

Senator Dallaire: I intended to ask more questions on the links
with the NGO world, and so on. However, very rapidly, who has
responsibility for the R2P doctrine? Is it in your division?

Ms. Dion: Yes, it is. It is part of the work of the human security
division.

The Chair: Can you tell me whether you have assessed, or
whether it is too early to do so, the move from New York of
CEDAW, the Committee on the Elimination of All Forms of
Discrimination Against Women? Has that started? Is that process
completed? Are we supporting that move? That would be one
question you can think about.

You pointed out that the Human Rights Commissioner, in her
work, has spoken out, and she certainly has spoken out on human
rights issues — the office has, and she has, too, on certain issues.
However, she is also the neutral repository of all the committees,
the practices and the procedures, which we hope will maintain
certain neutrality in that process. It has been raised by some that
this is an inconsistent role that she plays, and that countries
should be paying attention. There should be some dialogue

est regrettable que nous ne puissions pas voir les choses de la
méme fagon dans d’autres dossiers, comme ceux concernant le
racisme et la discrimination raciale. »

Nous n’avons jamais cessé¢ d’essayer de jeter des ponts, de
nouer des liens avec d’autres groupes régionaux et de combattre
leur instinct a voter en bloc. Nous avons connu un certain succes.
Par exemple, dans le cas du Darfour, et M. Sinclair pourra vous le
préciser mieux, certains pays africains modérés ont finalement
décidé de quitter leur bloc et de voter en faveur de la poursuite de
I’examen de la situation au Darfour. Il s’agit d’un processus
continu.

Il y a un autre type d’intervention que nous tentons quelque
temps, surtout au cours de la derniére année, soit durant la
période de la mise sur pied du Conseil des droits de I’homme.
Nous agissons de facon bilatérale, dans les capitales, par le
truchement de nos ambassadeurs et hauts-commissaires qui
maintiennent le dialogue sur les questions relatives aux droits de
la personne avec leurs homologues des Affaires étrangéres, et avec
les ministres et les parlementaires d’autres pays, pas uniquement a
propos des les pays ou ils se trouvent, mais a propos d’autres pays
ou régions qui sont préoccupants et qui font ’objet de votes a
I’ONU.

Il est tres difficile, dans I'univers de la diplomatie de se dire un
jour qu’on a atteint tel ou tel résultat.

M. Sinclair : Je vais vous indiquer ce qui est pour nous une
autre facon de jeter des ponts. Par exemple, dans le dossier du
renouvellement de nos mandats en matiére de liberté d’expression
et de violence faite aux femmes, nous avons délibérément décidé
de démarcher les représentants d’autres groupes régionaux afin de
les amener a s’investir dans ce mandat et d’appliquer une solide
démarche interrégionale a cet égard.

Le sénateur Dallaire : J’avais I'intention de vous poser plus de
questions sur les liens avec les ONG et ainsi de suite. Cependant,
dites-moi trés rapidement qui est chargé de faire appliquer le
concept du devoir de protéger? Est-ce votre section?

Mme Dion : Oui. Cela fait partie du travail de la section de la
sécurité humaine.

Le président : Pouvez-vous nous parler, a moins qu’il ne soit
trop tot pour le faire, du déménagement du CEDAW, soit le
comité pour Iélimination de la discrimination a I’égard des
femmes, qui était installé a New York. Ce déménagement a-t-il
commencé? Est-il terminé? Sommes-nous d’accord avec ce
déménagement? Voila une premiére question a laquelle vous
pouvez réfléchir.

Vous avez indiqué qu’il est arrivé a la Haut Commissaire aux
droits de 'homme de s’exprimer ouvertement sur les questions de
droits de la personne, et il est vrai que le Haut-commissariat s’est
prononcé sur certains dossiers. Elle I’a fait elle aussi en son nom
propre. Cependant, elle est aussi la dépositaire neutre des
pratiques et des procédures, au nom de tous les comités, et nous
espérons qu’elle va conserver cette neutralité. Certains 1'ont
critiquée, estimant que le role qu’elle s’est attribuée n’est pas
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between how the Human Rights Council and all of that
machinery has a direct link to her office, and that she should be
neutral in applying the conventions and their implementations.

On the other hand, she is making personal statements or on
behalf of her shop, and she has that capacity, but are they
inconsistent? Would you care to comment on that?

Ms. Dion: Perhaps I will deal with the easy one first.

Regarding the CEDAW committee, my understanding is that
the secretariat has now completed its move to Geneva and has
become integrated into the Office of the High Commissioner for
Human Rights in the secretariat cluster that supports the other
treaty bodies. We believe that this is a good thing. We have felt
for many years that having one committee isolated in New York
was the exact opposite of integrating gender perspectives across
the UN system. Therefore, we are hoping that, with a greater
interaction among the members of all of the treaty committee
secretariat, there will be more coherence and more integration of
equality and equity concerns into the work of all committees.

Of course, Canada did support this move for many years. It
took some time to accomplish for a number of reasons, but we are
quite happy that that has happened.

Insofar as the High Commissioner for human rights is
concerned, her role demands of her a very important balancing
act. On the one hand, it is the secretariat staffing unit in her office
that is responsible for supporting the work of the Human Rights
Council. Another unit in her office provides the technical support
for committees. At the same time, certainly, her mandate as it was
negotiated at the world conference on human rights gave a great
deal of weight and importance to her role as the overall UN
spokesperson for human rights. Her mandate very clearly has a
strong element of the requirement to speak out and to identify
what, in her opinion, are important or serious or emerging human
rights concerns. It is a delicate situation because, of course, she is
open to charges of partiality or undue influence on her own
internal system. However, that is part of the importance of having
people in that office of the highest integrity.

Senator Munson: I was looking at the Amnesty International
report on the rights of indigenous people. As senior officials in
foreign affairs, the dance that you have to do, when for 20 years
we are building to something and all of a sudden we are not there
and change our minds, from a bureaucratic perspective you must
find that difficult, to be moving in one direction for 20 years and
then, boom, it ends, and you have to answer in another way.

More on the Human Rights Council itself, I asked this
question at the beginning: Could you give me a grading of A, B, C
or D in its first year and a half, or on a scale of 1 to 10, on how
this council has done?

conforme a sa fonction et que les pays devraient y veiller. Certains
ont dit qu’il y aurait lieu de parler du lien direct entre, d’une part,
le Conseil des droits de I’homme et le reste de ’appareil onusien
et, d’autre part, le bureau de la Haut Commissaire, et que celle-ci
devrait étre neutre dans ’application des conventions.

Elle a donc fait des déclarations a titre officiel, mais aussi a titre
personnel, ce qu’elle a le pouvoir de faire, mais cela ne va-t-il pas a
I’encontre de sa fonction? Pourriez-vous nous en parler un peu?

Mme Dion : Eh bien, je vais commencer par répondre a la
question la plus facile, celle sur le CEDAW.

Je crois savoir que le Secrétariat a fini de déménager a Geneve
et quil a été intégré au Haut Commissariat aux droits de
I’homme, au sein du Secrétariat général qui appuie les autres
organes de traité. Nous estimons que ce déménagement est une
bonne chose. Pendant des années, nous avons pensé que le fait
d’avoir un comité isolé a New York allait a I’encontre du concept
d’intégration de la sexospécificité dans le systéme onusien. Nous
espérons dés lors que, les membres de tous les organes de traité
étant désormais davantage intégrés au niveau d’un secrétariat
général, le travail des comités sera plus uniforme et que ces
organes intégreront davantage les notions d’équité et d’égalité
entre les sexes.

Le Canada était effectivement d’accord pour ce genre de
déménagement et ce, depuis de nombreuses années. Plusieurs
raisons font qu’il a fallu attendre pour qu’il se réalise, mais nous
sommes tres heureux qu’il ait eu lieu.

En ce qui concerne le Haut Commissaire aux droits de
I’homme, elle est investie d’un réle qui lui impose de jongler en
permanence. D’un co6té, c’est le service de dotation de son
Secrétariat qui doit appuyer le travail du Conseil des droits de
I’homme. Un autre service de son bureau apporte un soutien
technique aux comités. D’un autre coté, elle est investie d’un
mandat, qui avait été négocié a la Conférence mondiale sur les
droits de I’homme, qui lui confére un réle important en tant que
porte-parole de 'ONU en général dans le dossier des droits de la
personne. Son mandat lui impose trés clairement de s’exprimer
ouvertement et de dénoncer ce qui, a ses yeux, constitue des écarts
graves ou importants sur le chapitre des droits de la personne. Elle
se trouve dans une situation délicate parce qu’elle préte le flanc a
la critique, qui peut lui reprocher d’avoir un parti pris ou
d’influencer de fagon indue le systéme interne, d’ou I'importance
de nommer a cette fonction des personnes de la plus haute
intégrité.

Le sénateur Munson : Je jetais un coup d’eil sur le rapport
d’Amnistie internationale sur les droits des peuples autochtones.
Les hauts fonctionnaires aux Affaires étrangéres que vous étes
doivent trouver difficile de devoir rajuster le tir aprés avoir dansé
pendant 20 ans au son d’une certaine musique et étre obligés,
soudainement, de changer de rythme et de pas.

Revenons-en au Conseil des droits de I'homme et a la
question que j’ai posée au début : pourriez-vous noter, sur une
échelle de 1 a 10, la fagon dont le conseil s’est débrouillé dans ses
18 premiers mois de vie, sur les plans A, B, C ou D?
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Ms. Dion: I am reluctant to get into grading at this point, in
part because, in fairness to the council, it is not finished yet. It is
still a work in progress. I certainly know that when I was in school
doing term papers and other papers, I would have been horrified
if I had been graded on a less than finished product. The finished
product wa quite often enough of a cause for concern. My
personal assessment, and I believe that of my colleagues at foreign
affairs, is that it remains a work in progress. As I said earlier, we
have seen some encouraging signs, especially in the last six
months. We most definitely want to stay the course. Canada, as a
member of the council for another year or18 months, feels that we
have an important responsibility to represent those of our
like-minded colleagues who are not on the council. We take
that responsibility seriously. Therefore, we are committed to
being there and to doing the best we can to make it the most
effective body possible.

Senator Oliver: I liked Senator Munson’s first question, and
the question he just put again about the council. He told us that
on November 16, 2007, the Third Committee of the United
Nations General Assembly adopted the institution-building
package. You also said that they added to it a clause in relation
to Palestine and Israel. You went on to tell us that there was
major concern because you felt that that added package did not
respect the principles of universality, impartiality, objectivity, and
so on. As a result of that, Canada voted against the adoption of
the institution-building package. You said one of the reasons for
doing that was the procedural irregularities used to prevent
Canada from calling a vote.

I am wondering where the other council members were when
Canada was being confronted by these procedural irregularities,
and what were these irregularities? Why was the support not
there? That goes along with Senator Munson’s first question
about the functioning of the council.

Ms. Dion: Canada found itself in a very uncomfortable
position. The session was in its dying hours, and there was
enormous pressure in the room to conclude the session with a
package. There was perhaps a natural inclination for many
countries that were able to support the compromise to gavel it
through.

However, Canada felt it could not support the compromise
because of the selective manner in which one country or group of
countries was singled out for an agenda item. We were also very
unhappy with the compromise that dropped Cuba and Belarus
from the agenda for consideration. Therefore, we attempted to
make our unhappiness known, but we were not allowed to do so
by the chair.

My colleague, Mr. Sinclair, was in the room. He could give you
the longer history. That, in essence, was the situation.

Mme Dion : J’hésite a donner une note pour I'instant parce que
le travail n’est pas fini, qu’il se poursuit et qu’il faut étre juste
envers le Conseil. Je pense que jaurais été horrifiée, quand
j’étudiais, que je travaillais sur des devoirs quelconque, a I'idée
d’étre notée sur un travail qui n’était pas fini. Le devoir final était
déja bien suffisant pour me causer bien des inquiétudes.
Personnellement, et je pense que c’est I’avis de mes collégues
aux Affaires étrangéres, jestime que nous avons affaire a un
travail en cours. Comme je le disais tout a I’heure, nous avons
constaté certains signes encourageants, surtout au cours des six
derniers mois. Nous tenons a ce que le conseil conserve le cap. Le
Canada siégera a ce conseil pour 12 ou 18 mois supplémentaires et
il estime qu’il est investi d une responsabilité trés importante, soit
de représenter les pays de conception semblable a la nétre qui ne
siegent pas a ce Conseil. Nous prenons cette responsabilité trés au
sérieux. Nous sommes donc résolus a maintenir notre présence au
conseil et a faire tout ce que nous pouvons pour que celui-ci soit
l’organe le plus efficace possible.

Le sénateur Oliver : J’ai apprécié la premiére question du
sénateur Munson et celle qu’il vient juste de vous poser au sujet
du Conseil. Il nous a dit que, le 16 novembre 2007, le Troisiéme
comité de I’Assemblée générale des Nations Unies avait adopté la
mise en place des institutions du Conseil. Vous avez aussi précisé
qu'une clause avait été ajoutée au sujet de la Palestine et d’Israél.
Puis, vous avez précisé que le non-respect des principes
d’universalité, d’impartialité, d’objectivité et autres dans les
dispositions additionnelles avaient été source d’inquiétudes. Cela
étant, le Canada a voté contre ’adoption de la mise en place des
institutions du Conseil. Vous avez dit qu’une des raisons pour
lesquelles le Canada avait agi ainsi, c’est qu’il avait été la cible
d’irrégularités de procédure visant a 'empécher de réclamer un
vote.

Je me demande ce qu’ont fait les autres membres du conseil
quand le Canada a été I’'objet de ces irrégularités de procédure et
de quelles irrégularités il s’agissait. Pourquoi ne nous ont-ils pas
appuyé? Je rejoins, sur ce plan, la premiére question du sénateur
Munson qui a porté sur le fonctionnement du Conseil.

Mme Dion : Le Canada s’est retrouvé dans une position
particulierement inconfortable. La session était presque terminée
et les délégués présents sentaient une énorme pression peser sur
eux afin qu’ils concluent un accord. Beaucoup de pays étaient
sans doute naturellement enclins a se prononcer en faveur du
compromis afin de mettre un terme a la session.

Cependant, le Canada a estimé qu’il ne pouvait pas appuyer ce
compromis a cause de la fagon trés sélective dont on avait
singularisé un pays ou un groupe de pays en inscrivant un point
spécial a I'ordre du jour. De plus, nous étions trés mécontents
qu’a la faveur de ce compromis, on ait retiré I’examen des
questions concernant Cuba et le Belarus. Ce faisant, nous avons
essayé de faire connaitre notre mécontentement, mais la
présidence nous en a empéchés.

Mon collégue, M. Sinclair, était présent et il pourrait vous
relater tout cela plus en détail. Je vous ai décrit ’essentiel de la
situation.
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Mr. Sinclair: One point of clarification: for any references you
might see to a 46 to 1 vote that occurred at the council on the
institution-building package, that was on our challenge to the
chair’s ruling that we could not call a vote. It was not a vote on
the package itself.

With regard to the agenda items themselves, I would also note
that in the council’s agenda — we were clear on this at the time
and afterwards — there is a general item, item 4, “human rights
situations that require the council’s attention.” It was our position
that it was not necessary to have another item, item 7, “human
rights situations in Palestine and other occupied Arab territories.”
The one item is sufficient to deal with all of them.

In terms of the dynamic in the room, as Ms. Dion has said,
there was a very last-ditch effort, if you will; the pressure of
negotiations coming up against deadlines. A number of other
states were reluctant to allow Canada to call a vote, or to come
out in favour of a vote on the package. They told us this privately
and confidentially, because if it had gone to a vote they would
have been forced not to support the institution-building package
on its merits.

Therefore, I think that says something for the political
leadership, but that is probably not a point I should go any
further in making, as a bureaucrat.

The Chair: We will stop at that point, then, so we do not delve
any further. I want to thank Ms. Dion and Mr. Sinclair for
appearing and providing us with information that they have. Our
job here is to ensure that, from a political perspective, we are
doing everything we can to ensure that the council functions as it
was intended, and not for political purposes.

We thank you for your efforts from the department in
furthering the cause of human rights and the good functioning
of the council. I assure you that we will call on you again. This
will not be the last of our dialogue. We hope to, as I say, take a
firsthand look at the council one year later and, if we are able to
do so, continue the dialogue from our perspective and yours and
see whether or not we match.

We are convened to monitor issues relating to human rights
and, inter alia, to review the machinery of government dealing
with Canada’s international and national human rights
obligations. We are presently looking into the Human Rights
Council. We have put one report forward and this is our follow-
up to continue to monitor the international machinery that has
replaced the traditional Human Rights Commission.

M. Sinclair : Je tiens a préciser une chose. Vous verrez
peut-étre que la question de la mise en place des institutions a
¢été adoptée par 46 voies contre une, mais le vote en question
portait en fait sur notre contestation de la décision de la
présidence qui ne voulait justement pas que nous réclamions un
tel vote. Donc, ce résultat ne concerne pas la mise en place des
institutions.

S’agissant des points a I’ordre du jour, je tiens également a vous
faire remarquer que, dans I’ordre du jour du conseil — et nous
avions été tres clairs a cet égard sur le moment, puis par la suite —
il y avait une question d’ordre général, le point 4, concernant les
situations qui, en matiére de droits de la personne, exigeaient
l’attention immédiate du Conseil. Nous avions alors estimé qu’il
n’était pas nécessaire d’ajouter un autre point, le point 7 celui-la,
qui prévoyait 1’étude des situations relatives aux droits de la
personne en Palestine et dans les autres territoires arabes occupés.
Un seul point était suffisant pour traiter de toutes ces questions.

Quant a I'ambiance qui régnait, comme Mme Dion vous I’a
dit, nous en étions a la 25° heure et nous ressentions toute la
pression caractéristique d’une fin de négociation. De nombreux
pays hésitaient a permettre au Canada de réclamer un vote ou de
s’exprimer favorablement sur la mesure proposée. Ils nous ’ont
indiqué, en privé ou sous le sceau de la confidentialité, parce que,
s’ils avaient été appelés a voter, ils auraient été contraints de ne
pas appuyer la mise en place des institutions du conseil sur le
fond.

Cela étant, je pense que toute cette situation en dit long sur le
leadership politique, mais ma qualité de fonctionnaire m’interdit
de m’enfoncer davantage sur ce territoire.

Le président : Eh bien, nous allons nous en tenir la afin de ne
pas aller plus loin. Je tiens a remercier Mme Dion et M. Sinclair
de s’étre rendus a notre invitation et de nous avoir communiqué
tous ces renseignements. Notre travail consiste a veiller a ce que,
du point de vue politique, nous fassions tout en notre pouvoir
pour que le conseil fonctionne de la fagon prévue et non pas au
gré de desiderata politiques.

Merci pour les efforts que le ministére déploie afin de faire
avancer la cause des droits de la personne et de favoriser le bon
fonctionnement du Conseil. Je vous garantis que nous allons vous
reconvoquer. Ce n’est pas donc pas la derniére fois que nous nous
voyons. Nous espérons pouvoir examiner de nouveau la question
du conseil dans un an et, si cela est possible, continuer alors le
dialogue afin de voir si nos points de vue respectifs se rejoignent.

Nous sommes chargés de surveiller 1’évolution des diverses
questions ayant trait aux droits de la personne et d’examiner,
entre autres choses, les mécanismes du gouvernement pour que le
Canada respecte ses obligations en matiére de droits de la
personne. Nous examinons actuellement la question du Conseil
des droits de ’'homme. Nous avons déja déposé un rapport et ces
séances constituent la suite a notre travail de surveillance du
mécanisme international qui a remplacé la Commission des droits
de 'homme.
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Before us on this panel is Mr. Alex Neve, Secretary General
from Amnesty International Canada. From Rights and
Democracy we have Mr. Jean-Paul Hubert, Interim President,
and Mr. Lloyd Lipsett, Senior Assistant to the President.
Welcome to you all.

As 1 have indicated, we had representations from both
organizations previously. We would appreciate, one year later,
particularly after the institution-building package has been put in
place, any further perspectives and opinions you may have that
would be helpful in our assessment of the Human Rights Council,
and any recommendations we may be making in the future for the
Canadian government in the assistance of human rights.

Alex Neve, Secretary General, Amnesty International Canada:
Honourable senators, it is a pleasure to be here. I actually
appeared in front of you — I think almost to the week — one
year ago, as you were engaged in your previous study, and shared
Amnesty International’s hopes, concerns and recommendations
with respect to the new UN Human Rights Council which, of
course, at that time was only about eight months old.

A year ago, I focused in particular on some of the important
innovations, the election process used to choose council members,
the elevation of the council within the UN hierarchy to a higher
level, a subsidiary organ of the General Assembly, the decision to
make the council a standing body meeting more frequently.

I also flagged some concerns. At this time last year we were
concerned that the crown jewel of the UN human rights system,
the special procedures system, appeared to be at risk of being
undermined by politically motivated actions by a number of
governments. Already, by February 2007, and certainly still
today, in February 2008, there is much criticism that, in
some ways, the new council appeared to be new in name only
and has not been able to shake the politics that had plagued the
commission. For instance, four of the six special sessions that
council members have agreed to convene between July
of 2006 and January of 2008 have been related to the human
rights situation in Israel and the Palestinian Authority. The other
two were Darfur and Burma.

Is that a true, impartial reflection of the state of human rights
in the world over those 18 months, that two thirds of the council’s
special attention should have gone to Israel, one third to Darfur
and Burma, and that no other crisis merited that kind of
attention? Clearly not. What of the Democratic Republic of
Congo, what of Pakistan last fall, what of Kenya more recently?
What of Darfur, still?

Add to this the decision taken in June of 2007 to single out
Israel as the only country in the world warranting permanent
attention as a standing item on the agenda of the council. It is

Nous accueillons a présent Alex Neve, secrétaire général
d’Amnistie internationale Canada. De Droits et démocratie,
nous entendrons Jean-Paul Hubert, président intérimaire, et
Lloyd Lipsett, adjoint principal au président. Bienvenue a vous
trois.

Comme je I’ai dit, nous avons déja recu vos deux organisations.
Nous aimerions, un an plus tard, surtout apres la mise en place
des institutions du Conseil, recueillir vos opinions afin de nous
aider dans notre travail d’évaluation du Conseil des droits de
I’homme. Nous souhaiterions aussi entendre vos éventuelles
recommandations relativement a ce que le gouvernement du
Canada pourrait faire pour contribuer a la cause des droits de la
personne.

Alex Neve, secrétaire général, Amnistie internationale Canada :
Honorables sénateurs, je suis trés heureux de me trouver ici. En
fait, ma derniére comparution remonte a il y a un an, a une
semaine pres, tandis que vous effectuiez votre étude précédente et
que vous partagiez les espoirs, les préoccupations et les
recommandations d’Amnistie internationale relativement au
nouveau Conseil des droits de I'homme de I'ONU qui, a
I’époque, n’était agé que de huit mois.

Il y a un an, je m’étais surtout attardé a certaines innovations
importantes, au mode d’élection des membres du Conseil, a
I’élévation du conseil au sein de la hiérarchie onusienne, puisqu’il
est devenu un organe subsidiaire de I’Assemblée générale, et a la
décision de transformer ce conseil en organe permanent devant se
rencontrer plus fréquemment.

Javais également fait état de certaines préoccupations. A cette
méme époque 'année derniére, nous craignions que le joyau du
systéme onusien des droits de la personne qu’est le systéme des
procédures spéciales ne risque d’étre sapé par les actions de
différents gouvernements, actions obéissant a des motifs
politiques. En février 2007, et c’est certainement encore le cas
aujourd’hui, beaucoup estimaient qu’a certains égards ce nouveau
conseil ne I’était que de nom et qu’il ne s’était pas affranchi des
jeux politiques qui avaient affligé I’ancienne commission.
Par exemple, quatre des six sessions spéciales que les membres
du conseil avaient convenu de tenir entre juillet 2006 et janvier
2008 ont porté sur la situation des droits de la personne en Israél
et en Palestine. Les deux autres concernaient le Darfour et la
Birmanie.

Le fait que les deux tiers des réunions spéciales du conseil aient
été consacrés a Israél, un tiers seulement au Darfour et a la
Birmanie et rien a d’autres crises qui auraient pourtant mérité une
certaine attention, refléte-t-il vraiment la situation des droits de la
personne dans le monde, telle qu'on I’a connue au cours
des 18 derniers mois? A I’évidence pas. Qu’en est-il de la
République démocratique du Congo, du Pakistan 1’automne
dernier et, plus récemment, du Kenya? Et qu’en est-il encore du
Darfour?

Il faut ajouter a cela la décision, prise en juin 2007, de
considérer qu’lsraél était le seul pays du monde a mériter de faire
I’objet d’un point permanent a I’ordre du jour du Conseil. Il est on
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abundantly clear that poisonous Middle East politics continue to
plague the body.

Does this mean that the council is beyond salvation, as some
public commentators and media from time to time suggest?
Absolutely not, in our view. In fact, I think you are embarking on
your second study at a time when the council stands poised to
begin what might be some of its most exciting and important
work; the universal, periodic review process.

I would like to focus my remarks this evening on three areas:
First, the Universal Periodic Review; second, coming back to
concerns about the special procedures system; third, some
remarks about our concern about Canada’s current role and
leadership at the international level.

I will begin with UPR. One of the most frequent criticisms of
the commission was its selectivity and double standards in how it
handled concerns about human rights violations in particular
countries. Some countries were often and easily singled out and
criticized. Others, with equal or graver human rights concerns,
escaped scrutiny. The key all too frequently was not the severity
of the human rights situation but the political adeptness and
connections of the country in question.

UPR aims to change that. Now all countries are to come up for
review on a regular rotating basis. If this is done well, it could, in
an unparalleled manner, mean that the council would actually
have the means to promote human rights in all countries
consistently, objectively, transparently and constructively,
something that eluded the commission for more than six decades.

A number of things need to be attended to in order to ensure
that that happens. There is great theory, possibility, potential and
aspiration here. There are many ways in which the council could
end up not living up to that standard. Let me stress four key
points here that I think Canada should be attentive to.

First, we know that what has come to be known as the troika
process, the appointment of three Council members who will be
responsible for steering and overseeing the review of each country
as their turn comes up, will be key. That process must be strong,
and Canada will not be on all troikas, and maybe only one or two
in the first year. We have an opportunity to set some best practice
on how we go about doing that work and modeling it for others.

A proposal made by a Canadian civil society counterpart of
ours, Action Canada for Population Development, is one in
which we are very interested, and that is the idea that Canada
should consider in its troika work appointing some recognized,
strong Canadian human rights expert to be the one who would
lead the charge for Canada, get it out of the political system and
bring in someone with well-established, demonstrated human

ne peu plus évident que la situation politique empoisonnée du
Proche-Orient continue de hanter I’organe responsable des droits
de I'homme.

Cela revient-il a dire que le conseil ne peut étre sauvé, comme
certains observateurs et médias le laissent entendre a ’occasion?
Starement pas, en ce qui me concerne. D’ailleurs, je crois que vous
entamez votre deuxiéme étude a I’époque ou le conseil semble étre
sur le point d’entreprendre son travail de loin le plus passionnant
et le plus important : le processus d’examen périodique universel.

Ce soir, j’entends concentrer mes remarques sur trois aspects :
d’abord, I’examen périodique universel; deuxiémement, la
question du systéme des procédures spéciales, encore une fois;
troisiémement, nos préoccupations au sujet du réle et du
leadership actuel du Canada a I’échelle internationale.

Je vais commencer par 'EPU. L’une des critiques que I’on
entendait le plus fréquemment au sujet de la Commission était son
caractére sélectif et le fait qu’elle appliquait une double mesure
dans la fagon d’aborder les violations aux droits de la personne
commises par certains pays. Il arrivait trés souvent que certains
pays soient facilement singularisés et critiqués. D’autres, en
revanche, pourtant coupables de violations des droits de la
personne tout aussi graves si ce n’est plus, échappaient a tout
examen. Il arrivait trop souvent que le plus important ne soit pas
la gravité sur le plan des droits de la personne, mais bien I’habileté
politique et les contacts des pays concernés.

L’EPU est destiné a changer tout cela. Désormais, les pays
feront I'objet d’'un examen a tour de réle. Si le processus est
correctement appliqué, il pourra constituer, pour le Conseil, une
fagon sans précédent de promouvoir les droits de la personne dans
tous les pays, et cela de maniére systématique, objective,
transparente et constructive, ce que n’est pas parvenue a faire la
Commission en plus de 60 ans.

Pour y arriver, il faudra cependant réaliser un certain nombre
de choses. Il faut dire que les possibilités, le potentiel et les
aspirations sont énormes. Pourtant, le Conseil pourrait trés bien
ne pas réussir a franchir la barre a bien des égards. Permettez-moi
d‘attirer votre attention sur quatre aspects auxquels le Canada
devrait, je pense, faire trés attention.

D’abord, tout va reposer sur la formule de direction, une troika
dont les membres désignés seront appelés a diriger et a controler le
processus d’examen de chaque pays. Il va falloir que ce processus
soit trés solide et le Canada ne comptera pas systématiquement
deux représentants a ces troikas, peut-étre un ou deux seulement
la premi¢re année. Nous y aurons l'occasion de précher par
I’exemple et d’instaurer des pratiques exemplaires.

Nous sommes trés intéressés par une proposition émanant d’un
organisme canadien de la société civile, un de nos homologues,
Actions Canada pour la population et le développement.
L’organisation souhaite qu’on adopte pour principe qu’au
moment de participer a cette troika, le Canada nomme des
spécialistes canadiens des droits de la personne, reconnus dans ce
domaine, et leur confie la direction de mener la charge au nom du
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rights expertise to be the one who would steer that initiative. That
is an interesting model that we think should be considered.

A second area is that we are concerned and watching carefully
as to how the Universal Periodic Review process will interact with
the many other review processes that exist within the human
rights system, particularly the treaty body process. This is one we
think Canada needs to be carefully attentive to itself. We want to
ensure that nothing that happens in the UPR process undermines
or conflicts with what is happening through treaty body reviews,
and vice versa. There is great potential for problems on that front
and it needs a lot of attention.

Third, follow-up and follow-through will be absolutely vital.
We can have great reports and a wonderful exchange when a
country comes up for its turn, but if we do not see a real
commitment to ensuring that there is solid follow-up and follow-
through, we will have considerable problems.

Last, with respect to UPR, Canada’s attention to UPR should
not only be directed at the international stage. Canada itself, of
course, will have its record reviewed under the UPR in
about 15 months time, in April of 2009. Canada has a long
history of participating actively in UN-level review of its human
rights record through the treaty body process and takes these
reviews seriously. However, it has become clear that there is a
significant and troubling implementation gap, one that your
committee has highlighted in numerous reports eloquently, such
that compliance with the recommendations that emerge from
UN-level reviews is often lacking.

A significant part of the problem there is that we continue to
lack any meaningful coordinating process or mechanism that cuts
across departments at the federal level as well as between the
federal, provincial and territorial governments to oversee
implementation. That is not a model that Canada can afford to
demonstrate as the new UPR process gets up and running. A key
piece of making UPR work will be for Canada to finally deal with
the long-neglected domestic problems in our own ability to
implement and comply with UN-level human rights
recommendations. We cannot risk having Canada come before
UPR a second time around and shrug shoulders and cry about
federalism as the reason we have not been able to take action on
the recommendations that came forward.

I will turn to special procedures. Over many years, an
impressive and growing array of experts, including individually
appointed special rapporteurs and special representatives, as well
as working groups of several experts, had developed within the
commission, largely viewed by all, I think even by most
governments, to have been the most successful part of the

Canada, de sorte a la retirer des mains des politiques et a nommer
quelqu’un qui soit reconnu et qui ait prouvé sa compétence dans
le domaine des droits de la personne afin de diriger ce genre
d’initiative. C’est 1a un modéle intéressant qu’il conviendrait,
selon moi, de prendre en considération.

L’autre question qui me préoccupe — et nous allons la suivre
attentivement — c’est celle de I'interaction entre le processus
d’examen périodique universel et les nombreux autres processus
d’examen du systéme onusien des droits de la personne, surtout
les processus découlant des traités. Nous estimons que le Canada
devra faire trés attention a cet aspect. Nous voulons nous assurer
que rien, dans Iapplication du processus d’EPU, n’entrera en
conflit avec les autres processus d’examen découlant des traités, et
vice-versa. Le risque de probléme a cet égard est trés grand et il va
donc falloir redoubler d’attention.

Troisiemement, il sera déterminant de mener le processus
d’EPU jusqu’au bout et d’assurer un suivi. Nous pouvons
toujours obtenir de merveilleux rapports et avoir d’excellents
échanges a I’occasion de I’examen de tel ou tel pays, mais si nous
ne constatons pas un véritable engagement a faire en sorte que le
processus soit appliqué pleinement, puis fasse 'objet d’un suivi,
nous nous trouverons alors confrontés a d’immenses problémes.

Enfin, le Canada ne devrait pas uniquement se préoccuper de
ce que font les autres pays en ce qui a trait a 'EPU. Comme on le
sait, le dossier du Canada en matiére de droits de la personne fera
I’objet d’'un EPU dans quelque 15 mois, soit en avril 2009. Notre
pays s’est toujours activement prété aux examens de 'ONU dans
le domaine des droits de la personne, par le truchement des
processus découlant des traités, et il prend tous ces examens trés
au sérieux. Cependant, il est clairement apparu que nous péchons
notablement du coté de la mise en ceuvre de certaines
recommandations, ce que votre comité a éloquemment souligné
dans de nombreux rapports.

L’un des grands problémes, c’est qu’il n’existe pas encore de
véritable processus ou mécanisme de coordination a I’échelle du
fédéral ou méme entre le fédéral, les provinces et les territoires
pour superviser I’application des recommandations qui nous sont
adressées. Ce n’est certainement pas le genre de modeéle que nous
voulons donner au moment ou le systéme onusien va passer a
I’EPU. Pour que 'EPU donne des résultats au Canada, il faudra
d’abord régler les problémes intérieurs qui nous empéchent depuis
longtemps de mettre en cuvre et de respecter les
recommandations que 'ONU nous adresse en matiére de droits
de la personne. Le Canada ne pourra pas se permettre, a I'issu
d’un deuxiéme EPU, de hausser les épaules et de mettre sur le dos
du fédéralisme le fait qu’il n’ait pu donner suite a des
recommandations antérieures.

Passons aux procédures spéciales. Au fil des ans, la
Commission était parvenue a s’entourer d’un impressionnant
réseau, sans cesse croissant, de spécialistes des questions de droits
de la personne, comme les rapporteurs et les représentants
spéciaux, de méme que les membres des groupes d’experts.
Beaucoup considéraient — y compris la plupart des
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commission’s work. They are not perfect by any means, and with
unevenness in the degree to which those experts were received by
governments, the quality of their work did vary considerably.

Many governments felt threatened by the work of these experts
and have consistently sought to weaken and undermine their
effectiveness. Other governments, including Canada, have been
strong champions of the special procedures. We remain
concerned.

The special procedures have come through some of the first
rounds of institution-building, not as diminished as we had feared
but I do not think we can by any means assume that that struggle
is over.

There is a process under way now which has come to be
known, with acronyms abounding in the Human Rights Council
these days, as the RRI process, review, rationalization and
improvement. Let me stress that we very much hope that Canada
will participate in the RRI exchanges in a way that will absolutely
safeguard the independence of the special procedures, will
endeavour to ensure that gaps in the coverage of human rights
issues by various special procedure mechanisms are filled and,
perhaps most important, will do everything possible to ensure
that we secure a greater level of cooperation consistently from
governments around the world. Of course, it would not be either a
surprise or news to members of this committee to know that many
governments refuse any cooperation with the special procedures,
and we need to continue to find ways to turn that situation
around.

The special procedures system is obviously only as good as
those holding these important posts. That is where our recent
focus has been. At the upcoming session of the council, 16 new
experts will be appointed to posts following a new process which
has had a remarkably refreshing degree of public transparency to
it. We have had concerns about that, however, particularly with
respect to the low number of women put forward as nominees. |
do not remember the exact proportion but it is around a third, or
less than that, of the nominees who have been women.

Canada has decided to take a neutral position with respect to
the special procedure candidates. It will not make its views known
to the president of the Human Rights Council as to who Canada
feels are the strongest candidates, who Canada feels should be
appointed to particular posts, and that includes with respect to
Canadians who are in the running for some of the positions.
However, we would urge Canada to actively engage with the
process. There are criteria that the Human Rights Council itself
established as to what makes a good mandate holder. Those are
the criteria that Canada should be using to objectively assess and
come to determinations of who we feel would be strong
candidates, who we feel may be problematic candidates, and let
the president of the council know that. There have been concerns

gouvernements — que ces spécialistes avaient joué un role
important dans le succes de la Commission. Ils étaient loin
d’étre infaillibles et, quand on tient compte, en plus, de la fagon
inégale dont ils ont été accueillis par les gouvernements hotes, il
est certain que la qualité de leur travail a varié considérablement.

Beaucoup de gouvernements, se sentant menacés par le travail
de ces experts, ont réguliérement cherché a les affaiblir dans leurs
tdches ou a saper leur efficacité. En revanche, d’autres
gouvernements, comme le Canada, ont toujours été des
défenseurs acharnés des procédures spéciales. Cela continue de
nous préoccuper.

Les procédures spéciales ont survécu aux premiéres séries de
mise en place des institutions et elles n’en sont pas sorties aussi
affaiblies que nous le craignions. Je ne pense pas pour autant qu’il
y a lieu de crier victoire.

Il existe un nouveau processus, connu sous le sigle ERA — on
aime beaucoup les sigles au Conseil des droits de ’homme — pour
Examen, rationalisation et amélioration. Je tiens a dire que nous
espérons beaucoup que le Canada, a I’occasion du dialogue sur
I’ERA, cherchera a garantir I'indépendance des procédures
spéciales, a combler les vides laissés par les différents
mécanismes de procédures spéciales dans le cas des questions
touchant aux droits de la personne et, peut-étre plus important
encore, qu’il fera tout son possible pour obtenir de fagon réguliére
une meilleure collaboration de la part des autres gouvernements.
Les membres de ce comité ne trouveront rien de surprenant ni de
nouveau si je leur dis que de nombreux gouvernements refusent de
collaborer a I'application des procédures spéciales et qu’il faut
continuer de chercher des fagons de solutionner ce probléme.

Le systéme des procédures spéciales ne vaut que dans la mesure
ou les personnes en poste tiennent a le faire respecter.
Récemment, c’est a cet aspect que nous sommes
particuliérement intéressés. A la prochaine session du Conseil,
16 nouveaux experts seront nommés a l'issu d’'un nouveau
processus dont la transparence a ¢été formidablement
rafraichissante. Il n’empéche que nous avons émis des réserves,
surtout a cause du faible nombre de candidatures féminines. Je ne
me souviens pas exactement des proportions, mais je crois que
moins d’un tiers des personnes proposées étaient des femmes.

Le Canada a décidé de demeurer neutre relativement aux mises
en candidatures dans le cadre des procédures spéciales. Il ne fera
donc pas savoir au président du Conseil des droits de I’'homme
qui, selon nous, semblent étre les meilleurs candidats et qui
devrait étre nommé dans tel ou tel poste, ce qui s’entend des
Canadiens en lice. Toutefois, nous implorons le Canada
d’appliquer ce genre de méthode. Le Conseil des droits de
I’homme a lui-méme adopté des critéres définissant ce qu’est un
bon candidat. Le Canada devrait se fonder sur ces critéres pour
évaluer les candidatures de fagcon subjective et déterminer qui,
selon lui, est le meilleur candidat ou la meilleure candidate, et qui
risque de poser probléme, cela en vue de communiquer notre
sentiment au Conseil. Si, dans le passé, on a pu regretter que des
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in the past about mandate holders who have not been up to the
task, and now is an opportunity for us to do everything we can to
ensure that we get the best possible people.

Lastly, a word about Canada’s role: A year ago, you had this
very important recommendation to make to Canada: The
committee recommends that the Government of Canada work
to enhance its effectiveness and leadership on the UN Human
Rights Council by increasing its role as a bridge builder and
moving beyond its traditional allies to foster alliances with
countries around the world.

There was a strong basis for that recommendation, as Canada
had been, beyond any measure, a vitally important leader in the
effort to create the council throughout the difficult negotiations
leading up to the General Assembly resolution that established
the council in March of 2006, and also at many vitally important
stages throughout the institution-building phase and had actively
built bridges along the way.

I will highlight that we still see and applaud hard work, clear
and principled dedication to those very ideals of leadership and
human rights ideals by Canadian officials and diplomats, but we
are terribly worried that leadership has begun to slip, and slip
seriously, not at the level of our officials but at the political level.
We are concerned that a number of high profile decisions or
actions taken by Canada within the UN Human Rights system
over the past year and a half have notably eroded Canada’s
reputation and position of leadership, and have significantly
begun to impair our ability to play that bridge-building role as a
result. The declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples has
already been highlighted. Canada’s relentless and last-minute
opposition to that long overdue, sorely needed UN human rights
instrument, both within the council and then at the General
Assembly, was disturbing and disappointing to many observers,
governments and NGOs alike. I would be hard pressed to imagine
anything even remotely close to this sorry episode, from a
Canadian perspective, of Canada so actively working to
undermine such an important UN-level human rights initiative,
and the legacy of that remains.

There has been follow-up, too. In September of last year,
Canada worked to insert language with respect to the jurisdiction
of the special rapporteur on the rights of indigenous people now
to consider the declaration in his monitoring work, implicitly
seeking to exclude from the monitoring any application of the
declaration to countries that voted against it. That is also very
troubling. It is a worrying promotion of an idea that international
laws should somehow now have some sort of selective
application, depending on how a country did or did not vote.

There are concerns, of course, that you see in our report about
Canada’s role with respect to the death penalty, and I have to
highlight that there are concerns that Canada has started to take a

titulaires de mandat n’aient pas été a la hauteur de la tache, il
nous est maintenant possible de faire tout en notre pouvoir pour
faire nommer les meilleurs du moment.

Je conclurai en vous disant un mot au sujet du réle du Canada.
I y a un an, vous avez adressé une recommandation trés
importante au gouvernement : « Le Comité recommande que le
gouvernement du Canada cherche a accroitre son réle et son
efficacité au sein du Conseil des droits de 'homme en faisant
davantage office de médiateur et en cherchant a négocier des
alliances avec des pays du monde entier et pas seulement avec ses
alliés traditionnels ».

Cette recommandation est d’autant plus fondée que le Canada
a été le chef de file incontesté d’une mouvance favorable a la
création d’un conseil, et cela a I'occasion de négociations délicates
qui ont mené a ladoption d’une résolution a 1’Assemblée
générale, résolution qui a porté la création du conseil en mars
2006, mais aussi lors des étapes trés importantes de la mise sur
pied de l'institution. Tout au long de ce processus, nous avons
joué les médiateurs.

Je tiens a souligner que nous continuons de nous réjouir de
I’excellent travail de nos fonctionnaires et diplomates, travail que
nous considérons comme étant sans faille et guidé par nos idéaux
de pays leader, respectucux des droits de la personne. Toutefois,
nous craignons énormément que les choses n’aient commencé a
déraper trés sérieusement du coté du leadership, pas en ce qui
concerne nos fonctionnaires, mais bien nos politiciens. Nous
craignons qu’un certain nombre de décisions ou d’actions a
grande incidence, prises par le Canada au cours des 18 derniers
mois, dans le cadre du systéme onusien des droits de I’homme,
n’aient considérablement sapé la réputation de notre pays et son
réle de chef de file, et que cela n’ait déja commencé a porter
gravement atteinte a notre capacité de jouer les médiateurs. 11 a
déja été question de la déclaration des droits des peuples
autochtones. Beaucoup d’observateurs, que ce soit des
gouvernements ou des ONG, ont jugé troublante et décevante
I’opposition incessante du Canada, jusqu’a la derniére minute —
tant au conseil qu’a I’Assemblée générale — a un instrument des
droits de la personne, par ailleurs cruellement attendu depuis si
longtemps. J’ai peine a imaginer, dans I'histoire du Canada, pire
dénouement que celui d’un tel épisode ou nous avons
effectivement cherché a saper une initiative onusienne si
importante que celle-ci sur le plan de la protection des droits de
la personne.

Et ¢a ne s’est pas arrété 1a. En septembre de ’année derniére, le
Canada a tenté de faire adopter, dans le mandat du rapporteur
spécial sur les droits des peuples autochtones, une disposition
visant a exempter de 'application de la déclaration les pays qui
auraient voté contre cet instrument. Ca aussi, c’est trés troublant,
parce que ¢a revient a soutenir que le droit international peut faire
I’objet d’une application sélective fondée sur la fagon dont on
vote.

Et puis, il y a les craintes que souléve le réle du Canada
vis-a-vis de la peine de mort, comme vous le constaterez dans
notre rapport. Je me dois aussi de signaler les inquiétudes que
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much more polarizing position with respect to those always
difficult issues around Israel and Palestine, all of which has led to
actual and/or perceived views that Canada is much more actively
politicized now in the positions it is taking there.

All of that interferes in what needs to be the hallmark of
strategy, as you rightly stressed a year ago. That is leadership and
it is bridge building, and it is becoming more and more difficult
for Canada because of those political decisions.

I will end my remarks there and hope that we will have an
opportunity to explore that situation more in questions.

The Chair: Thank you. We are under time constraints, so we
have run a little over on your presentation, but I trust that we can
stay within the limits and give Mr. Hubert the same
consideration.

[Translation)

Jean-Paul Hubert, Interim President, Rights and Democracy:
Madam Chair, I would like to begin by thanking you for your
invitation. Please note that I have neither the experience of
Mr. Neve nor the money and clout of Amnesty International
Canada. I have only been in my position for two months, and |
am going to try to forget that I was an ambassador for 17 years,
defending Canada. I must remind myself, for the next five
minutes, that I am representing Rights and Democracy, a rather
special agency, created by Parliament. I do not know whether you
know Ambassador Grinius, in Geneva. He says that we are
suspected of perhaps being a GONGO, a Government Non-
Government Organization, since our entire budget comes from
the government.

I should be briefer in view of the limited time we have
available.

[English]

That will allow me to be perhaps refreshing without being too
much of an innocent. We are optimistic about this new
institution. It is too early to say if it is good or not, but it
cannot be worse than what we had before. We have to give it a
chance. People before us have said that it is a work in progress.
We have to give it a chance. We have to watch it go for a while.
Leopards do not change their spots. We know that, and the
foreign policies of countries do not move easily. There will be
difficulties. There are difficulties, but let us try to be a little
optimistic.

I will briefly focus on what we at Rights and Democracy see as
our new priorities because there is now that council, and maybe
this will exemplify what I consider to be doors or avenues that this
new outfit opens. Will we all go through them? Will we travel
these roads with good effect? It is too early to say, but it is

suscite le Canada quand il adopte des positions de plus en plus
polarisées dans le délicat dossier israélo-palestinien. Ce sont-la
deux grandes questions qui nous font penser que le Canada
affiche désormais des positions beaucoup plus politisées qu’avant.

Tout cela vient entraver 1’adoption d’une stratégie qui doit
s’articuler autour de la médiation et du leadership, comme vous
I’avez si bien souligné il y a un an. Or, a cause de décisions
politiciennes, il devient de plus en plus difficile pour le Canada
d’appliquer une telle stratégie.

Je vais m’arréter 1a dans I’espoir que nous pourrons explorer
davantage toute cette situation a la faveur de vos questions.

Le président : Merci. Nous sommes limités dans le temps et il se
trouve que vous avez légérement débordé de votre créneau, mais
je pense que nous allons tout de méme parvenir a demeurer dans
les temps, et nous allons accorder le méme traitement de faveur a
M. Hubert.

[Frangais)

Jean-Paul Hubert, président intérimaire, Droits et démocratie :
Madame la présidente, j’aimerais tout d’abord vous remercier de
votre invitation. Sachez que je n’ai ni ’expérience de M. Neve ni
l’argent ni la force de frappe d’Amnistie Internationale Canada.
Je ne suis @ mon poste que depuis deux mois, et je vais essayer
d’oublier que j’ai été ambassadeur pendant 17 ans a défendre le
Canada. Je dois me souvenir, pour les cinq prochaines minutes,
que je représente Droits et démocratie, un organisme un peu
particulier, créé par le Parlement. Je ne sais pas si vous
connaissez I’ambassadeur Grinius, a Genéve. Il dit que nous
sommes soupgonnés d’étre peut-étre un GONGO, Government
Non-Government Organization, puisque la totalit¢é de notre
budget vient du gouvernement.

Je devrai abréger ma présentation compte tenu du temps limité
dont nous disposons.

[Traduction]

Cela étant, j’apporterai peut-étre un peu de fraicheur, sans trop
tomber dans I'innocence. Nous sommes remplis d’optimisme face
a cette nouvelle situation. Il est trop tot pour dire si le résultat sera
positif ou pas, mais les choses ne peuvent pas étre pires que par le
passé. Nous devons donner une chance a ce nouvel organisme.
Ceux qui nous ont précédés ont précisé que le travail n’est pas
terminé. Il faut donner une chance au Conseil. Il va falloir le
suivre pendant un certain temps et, comme vous savez, les
léopards ne perdent jamais leurs taches. Nous le savons et nous
savons qu’il n’est pas facile de faire changer la politique étrangere
des pays. Nous allons nous heurter a des difficultés. C’est déja le
cas, mais cela ne doit pas nous empécher d’étre optimistes.

Je vais brieévement vous parler de ce qui doit étre, selon Droits
et démocratie, nos nouvelles priorités, aprés l'instauration de ce
Conseil, et mon propos illustrera peut-étre ce que j’estime étre des
occasions, des portes qui s’ouvrent a nous grace a ce nouvel
organisme. Allons-nous tous franchir ces portes? Le parcours qui
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opening roads and avenues. We have, at Rights and Democracy,
elaborated our priorities on that basis.

One is that we would like to ensure that this new council
contributes to the effective implementation of human rights at the
national level, and by “national,” I mean not Canada’s national
level but the national level with respect to UN member states. The
council is not a panacea for human rights, but it can be a catalyst
for positive changes, we believe, to the extent that it can enable
organizations like ours with their little means to develop linkages
between Geneva and the national levels, in the plural,
strengthening the linkages between states, national human rights
institutions and civil society organizations. That is what we will
try to do as an organization, thanks to this new avenue.

As you know, we do work in a finite number of countries, what
we call “priority” or “focus’ countries, and we will certainly take
this opportunity that the UPR will present to support local
partners in making use of these new avenues so that the gap can
be closed between what countries subscribe to when they sign
agreements and what they do in practice. We will try to use that
door to reduce that gap.

A second priority that we will have is to make sure that
thematic human rights issues do not disappear with the UPR. We
will review the human rights situation as a whole in all the
countries of the UN, but we have to remember that there are still
specific issues, for example, violence against women, Aboriginal
issues and so forth. Those must not disappear, and we certainly
intend to continue focusing with local partners in our priority
countries, enabling them to ensure that in their countries these
subjects do not disappear and are considered when that particular
country’s turn comes for the UPR review.

[Translation]

We think that the new process called EPU in French (UPR in
English) is very important. This process opens up new spaces for
non-governmental organizations that are not all as big and strong
as Human Rights Watch or Amnesty International. For small
organizations in many countries, this opens up some
opportunities to have a presence and to have some influence.
Still, they do not have much money and we have to help them.

One of our intentions, with this tiny office in Geneva, which
has been opened on a trial basis for two years, is to enable these
small organizations to occupy the space that this new process
opens up for them.

nous attend sera-t-il porteur de résultats? Il est trop tot pour le
dire, mais il est certain que de nouvelles avenues se dessinent sous
nos yeux. A Droits et démocratie, nous avons fixé nos priorités en
partant de ce principe.

Nous tenons d’abord a ce que le nouveau conseil contribue a la
mise en ceuvre efficace des droits de la personne a 1’échelon
national et, par « échelon national », je ne veux pas désigner le
Canada, mais I’échelon national des Etats membres de TONU. Le
conseil n’est pas la panacée aux problémes de droits de la
personne, mais nous croyons qu’il peut étre un catalyseur de
changement dans la mesure ou il peut permettre a des
organisations comme la noétre, qui disposent de peu de moyens,
d’instaurer des liens entre Genéve et les intervenants aux échelons
national, de renforcer les liens entre les Etats, les institutions
nationales de droits de la personne et les organismes de la société
civile. C’est ce que notre organisation va essayer de faire grace a
ces portes qui s’ouvrent, a ces occasions qui se présentent.

Comme vous le savez, nous sommes présents dans un nombre
limité de pays, ceux que nous qualifions de « prioritaires », et
nous allons bien évidemment sauter sur ’occasion que présente
I’EPU pour appuyer nos partenaires locaux afin qu’ils exploitent
ces nouvelles possibilités et que 'on comble I’écart entre ce que
prévoient les accords signés par les pays et ce que les pays font
effectivement. Nous allons essayer de nous appuyer sur le conseil
pour combler cet écart.

Notre deuxiéme priorité consistera a faire en sorte que les
thémes en matiére de droits de la personne ne disparaissent pas
avec la mise en ceuvre de I’EPU. Nous examinerons bien sir la
situation générale des pays, sur le plan des droits de la personne,
mais nous ne devrons pas oublier certains problémes particuliers,
comme la violence faite aux femmes et les questions autochtones.
Il ne faudra pas perdre de vue ces grands enjeux et nous avons
I'intention de continuer a nous y intéresser de prés avec nos
partenaires locaux, dans les pays prioritaires, pour que ces thémes
ne soient pas évacués, mais fassent partie des points a analyser
lors de ’EPU concernant ces pays.

[Frangais)

Nous pensons que le nouveau processus que ’on nomme EPU
en frangais est trés important. Ce processus ouvre des espaces
nouveaux pour les organisations non gouvernementales qui ne
sont pas toutes aussi grandes et fortes que Human Rights Watch
ou Amnistie Internationale. Pour des petites organisations dans
plusieurs pays, cela ouvre des opportunités d’étre présent et
d’avoir de I'influence. Toutefois, ils ont peu de moyens et il faut
que nous les aidions.

Nous entendons, entre autres, par ce bureau minuscule ouvert
a Genéve et qui est a I’essai pendant deux ans, permettre a ces
petites organisations d’occuper 1’espace que le nouveau processus
ouvre pour eux.
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[English]

They have to be timely. They have to act in time. They have to
be at the right place at the right time. They have to know how to
do it, and we believe we have the expertise to enable them to make
the best possible use of that avenue that the new process opens.

Maybe Mr. Lipsett, who has been the executive assistant for
five years — again, I have two months — might want to take two
or three minutes to add the important things I have left out.

Lloyd Lipsett, Senior Assistant to the President, Rights and
Democracy: Yes, I will defer to the questions.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Hubert. As usual, you came in and
said with great humility that you did not know the topic, but
having known you and your reputation previously, I knew you
had much more expertise, and you put it on the table adequately.
I compliment you on that.

Senator Dallaire: Mr. Neve, it is a pleasure seeing you. Thank
you for your support of the work I was doing with my book,
Shake Hands with the Devil and so on.

Specifically, have you seen or discerned that there has been a
reduction in the resources and the priority of effort in the
Department of Foreign Affairs in regards to human rights? Has a
tangible action been seen in what you are doing and the resources
that they have to pursue in that element?

[Translation]

I am assuming, Mr. Hubert, that you replaced Mr. Roy?

M. Hubert: Yes.

Senator Dallaire: In this context, do you have an auditing role
from Canada in your mandate to promote human rights, in its
international policies and its activism?

[English]

Mr. Neve: That is a hard question to answer. In terms of
budgetary figures, I am not in a position to know whether there
has been a reduction or not.

I sense at least some inquisitiveness in your question as to
whether there actually has been a reduction, and we do share
some concern that that may be the case. This is at the political
level more than at the level of officials that we have this concern. |
would not suggest that we are not hearing anything about human
rights. We have heard some strong things with respect to human
rights in some situations. With respect to China, for example, we
have seen a new policy starting to open up there. We think it still
needs a lot of refinement and work, but that is encouraging.

[Traduction]

Ces organisations doivent intervenir la et quand il le faut. Elles
doivent savoir comment le faire et nous pensons avoir la
compétence nécessaire pour leur permettre d’exploiter au mieux
les possibilités qu’offre le nouveau processus.

M. Lipsett, qui est le directeur adjoint de notre organisation
depuis cinq ans — je vous rappelle que je ne suis la que depuis
deux mois — voudra peut-étre prendre deux ou trois minutes
pour vous dire un mot au sujet d’aspects importants que j’ai pu
négliger.

Lloyd Lipsett, directeur adjoint du président, Droits et
démocratie : Je vais attendre les questions.

Le président : Merci, monsieur Hubert. Comme a I’habitude,
vous avez déclaré avec beaucoup d’humilité, que vous ne
connaissez pas bien le sujet, mais c’est la faire fi de votre
réputation, parce que je connais votre compétence, compétence
que vous venez de démontrer de belle maniére. Je vous en félicite.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Je suis trés heureux de vous voir,
monsieur Neve. Merci de m’avoir appuyé a propos de mon livre
J'ai serré la main du diable.

Avez-vous constaté ou détecté une réduction des ressources ou
une diminution de la priorité que le ministére des Affaires
étrangéres accorde aux droits de la personne? Est-ce que des
mesures palpables ont été prises par rapport a ce que vous faites et
aux ressources que le ministére peut déployer a cet égard?

[Frangais]

Je tiens pour acquis, monsieur Hubert, que vous avez remplacé
M. Roy?

M. Hubert : Oui.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Dans ce contexte, avez-vous un role de
vérification du Canada dans votre mandat de faire évoluer les
droits humains, dans ses politiques internationales et son
activisme?

[Traduction)

M. Neve : Il est difficile de répondre a cette question. Je ne suis
pas en mesure de savoir si les budgets ont été réduits ou pas.

Jai cru détecter dans votre question un certain désir de savoir
s’il y a effectivement eu une réduction et si nous craignons que tel
soit le cas. Nous entretenons effectivement ce genre de crainte,
mais davantage en ce qui concerne I’échelon politique que
I’échelon administratif. Je ne suis pas en train de dire que nous
n’entendons rien dire au sujet des droits de la personne. Nous
avons eu vent de changements radicaux dans certaines situations.
On a, par ailleurs, dans le cas de la Chine par exemple, assisté a
I’adoption de nouvelles politiques. Nous estimons qu’il y a encore
place a I’'amélioration, mais il y a lieu d’étre encouragé parce que
nous voyons.
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However, we are not seeing that consistently. There are
areas — Africa comes to mind most poignantly, for me and my
organization — where we feel that there has been a real slippage
in any sort of notable high-profile effort to address human rights
concerns.

I cannot really offer an answer to you in terms of how that all
plays out in resources, but we do share the concern.

[Translation]

Mr. Hubert: I would like to give Mr. Lipsett the floor. But first
I can tell you that our little budget has doubled in the past five
years.

Senator Dallaire: And Mr. Roy was proud of that.

Mr. Hubert: But I do not know whether Peter was robbed to
pay Paul.

[English)

Mr. Lipsett: In terms of our mandate, it is primarily in terms of
international cooperation to work on human rights issues in
developing countries. Here in Canada, it is not really a watchdog
function but more of an education, outreach and simulation of
public discourse.

Senator Dallaire: You have that responsibility?

Mr. Lipsett: We are certainly out to raise issues here in Canada,
but I would not consider it a watchdog function.

Senator Dallaire: Do you see the role of the current Human
Rights Commissioner evolving to a more international
responsibility in regard to a bit of what you are doing and
more responsibility in government, or should it remain in its
current limited mandate?

Mr. Hubert: As this new council evolves, there can only be a bit
more of the second. Obviously, there will always remain the
national part of the mandate.

I would just like to quote from our law, the law that created us,
to complete what Mr. Lipsett has been saying.

[Translation]

The centre’s mission, under section 4.1 of the act, is to initiate,
encourage and support cooperation between Canada and other
countries. As you can see, our mandate is first focused outward.

[English]

Senator Jaffer: My first question is to Mr. Neve. You were
saying that Canada has taken certain positions so that we may
seem to be more polarized. I want to talk from the point of view
of the council. Do you think that leads us to play less of a
leadership role with some of the positions we have taken?

Cependant, ce n’est pas partout la méme chose. Il y a des
régions — I’Afrique en est une a laquelle mon organisation et
moi-méme pensons avec beaucoup d’émotion — ou les choses ont
vraiment dérapé a la faveur d’une sorte d’exercice, tout en noir et
blanc, qui visait a régler les problémes constatés sur le plan des
droits de la personne.

Je ne peux pas vraiment vous dire comment tout cela se traduit
sur le plan des ressources, mais nous partageons VoS
préoccupations a ce sujet.

[Frangais]

M. Hubert : J’aimerais céder la parole a M. Lipsett. Mais
avant, je puis vous dire que notre petit budget a doublé depuis
cing ans.

Le sénateur Dallaire : D’ailleurs, M. Roy en était fier.

M. Hubert : Toutefois, je ne sais pas si on a enlevé a Jean pour
donner a Pierre.

[Traduction)

M. Lipsett : Notre mandat consiste essentiecllement a
collaborer avec d’autres organisations a 1’échelle internationale,
dans les pays en développement, et cela dans les dossiers
concernant les droits de la personne. Ici, au Canada, nous ne
sommes pas vraiment des chiens de garde, puisque nous
remplissons davantage un réle d’éducation, de vulgarisation et
de simulation du discours public.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Vous étes investi de cette responsabilité?

M. Lipsett : Nous existons effectivement pour soulever des
questions au Canada, mais je ne considére pas que nous sommes
des chiens de garde pour autant.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Estimez-vous que le role de l'actuel
commissaire aux droits de la personne devrait davantage
s’internationaliser, un peu dans le sens de ce que vous faites,
avec plus de responsabilités au sein du gouvernement, ou devrait-
il demeurer tel qu’il est actuellement?

M. Hubert : Au fur et a mesure que le conseil va évoluer, son
mandat s’internationalisera. Il restera toujours, cependant, une
dimension nationale.

Permettez-moi de vous citer un extrait de la loi qui nous régit,
en complément de ce que M. Lipsett vous a dit.

[Frangais]

Le centre a pour mission, en vertu de I’article 4.1 de la loi,
d’amorcer, d’encourager, d’appuyer la coopération du Canada et
les pays étrangers. Comme vous le constatez, notre mandat est
d’abord axé vers I'extérieur.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Jaffer : Ma premiére question s’adresse a M. Neve.
Vous avez dit que le Canada a pris certaines positions donnant
I'impression que nous nous polarisons. Parlons du point de vue
du Conseil. Estimez-vous que cela nous améne a jouer un role
moins prépondérant?
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Mr. Neve: Absolutely. Canada finds itself more and more as a
minority. None of this is easy. We do not disagree, for instance,
on the issues around the Middle East and Israel. We do not
necessarily disagree with the concerns that lie behind Canada’s
positions, for instance, with respect to the controversy about the
institution-building package last June, and Israel having been
once again singled out as a permanent agenda item. We, too, did
not feel that that was appropriate, and we expressed that concern.

We were concerned, however, that it appeared that Canada
was going to the wall on that without a strategy in place as to how
to rebuild the pieces if everything had collapsed, as some
people were afraid it might. If it had unravelled, the whole
institution-building package would not have been adopted, the
council would have found itself without the framework, the rules,
the regulations and the institutions to do its work, and then what?
It was of concern to us, and I think to others, that there was not
that kind of a strategy in place.

Senator Jaffer: I agree with what you have said, that we do not
disagree with some of the stands that our government has taken.
That is not the issue. It is then that our role becomes affected. One
thing we may do is make recommendations. Therefore, can you
suggest what we could recommend and how we could regain our
leadership role? What could we do to change things?

Mr. Neve: It is a more careful tactical consideration of, when it
comes to Israel, how to find the balance between expressing
strong views but still moving forward in a way that we can forge
the kinds of alliances and build the bridges that are necessary
here. I do not have the formula for that. I think it depends on
each particular resolution and issue as it comes up.

With respect to issues like the indigenous rights declaration or
some of the brewing controversy now as to the stand Canada is
taking on the likelihood of a new individual complaints
mechanism under the economic, social and cultural rights
covenant, again we are starting to see some hard-line positions
from Canada on that front.

It is the need to get back to basics and reaffirm that Canada’s
commitment on the world stage is absolutely to the human rights
principles that are at stake and making sure that necessary human
rights gaps are addressed and that we need to start demonstrating
how important it is to keep politics out of that which, in our view,
is what really came in with respect to the indigenous rights piece
and, in large respect, to the EFC rights piece as well.

Senator Jaffer: We hope to see you frequently in the future,
Mr. Hubert. You said that the leopard does not change its spots,
but maybe this is a new beginning. I liked your optimism. You are

M. Neve : Tout a fait. Le Canada est de plus en plus isolé. Ce
n’est pas facile. Par exemple, nous ne sommes pas en
désaccord avec notre gouvernement sur les questions entourant
le Proche-Orient et Israél. Nous ne sommes pas forcément en
désaccord a propos des préoccupations qui sous-tendent les
positions du Canada, par exemple en ce qui a trait a la
controverse entourant la mise en place des institutions du
Conseil, en juin dernier, et au fait qu’lsraél ait été singularisée
par linscription d’un point permanent a l'ordre du jour la
concernant. Nous aussi avons estimé que cette décision était
déplacée et nous nous en sommes inquiétés.

Ce qui nous a préoccupé, par ailleurs, c’est qu’il nous a semblé
que le Canada s’était lancé dans la bataille sans s’appuyer sur une
stratégie de « rattrapage », advenant que tout s’écroule, comme
certains I’ont craint. Si les choses avaient mal tourné, la mise en
place des institutions du conseil n’aurait pas été adoptée, le conseil
se serait retrouvé sans cadre, sans régles et sans institutions pour
fonctionner. Que ce serait-il alors passé? C’est cela qui nous
inquiétait et qui en inquiétait d’autres aussi. Nous étions
préoccupés par ’absence de stratégies de la part du Canada.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Je vous rejoins dans vos propos. Nous ne
sommes pas en désaccord avec certaines des positions adoptées
par le gouvernement. La n’est pas la question, c’est quand notre
réle est affecté que nous pouvons faire des recommandations.
Cela étant, que nous suggérez-vous de recommander et comment,
selon vous, nous pourrions retrouver notre réle de leader? Que
pourrions-nous faire pour infléchir sur le cours des choses?

M. Neve : Tout cela est affaire de tactique, quand il s’agit
d’Israél, d’équilibre qu’il faut réaliser entre le fait d’exprimer un
point de vue bien senti et de ne pas empécher la réalisation de
progrés dans le sens des alliances et des opérations de médiation
qui s'imposent. Je ne connais pas la formule et je pense que tout
dépendra des résolutions et des problémes du moment; ce sera du
cas par cas.

On constate un durcissement des positions du Canada a cet
égard, par exemple, vis-a-vis de la déclaration des droits des
peuples autochtones. Et puis, il y a la controverse actuelle a cause
de la position du Canada face a I’adoption possible d’un nouveau
mécanisme de plaintes individuelles en vertu du Pacte
international relatif aux droits économiques, sociaux et
culturels, le PIDESC.

Il convient d’en revenir aux principes fondamentaux qui nous
guident et de réitérer notre engagement ferme sur la scéne
internationale envers les principes de droits humains. Nous
devons nous assurer de combler les écarts constatés en matiere
de droits de la personne et commencer a montrer qu’il importe de
ne pas politiser le débat, ce qui, selon nous, ne s’est pas fait dans le
cas de la convention sur le droit des peuples autochtones ni, dans
une grande mesure, dans celui du PIDESC.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Nous espérons vous accueillir de nouveau
fréquemment dans I’avenir, monsieur Hubert. Vous avez dit que
les 1éopards ne perdent pas leurs taches, mais j’ai 'impression que
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like a breath of fresh air with some of the optimism in the new
council. Can you share with us what your optimisms are about?

Mr. Hubert: I must say that I am optimistic by nature.
Senator Jaffer: That is good.

Mr. Hubert: I do not know how long you will see me because
once they appoint a real president, I will just go back to my
eastern township retreat near my favourite golf course.

I would like to mention one thing as a follow-up to what you
just stated, we are the Boy Scouts of the world. We belong to the
Commonwealth, to the OAS, to La Francophonie and to APEC.
Our political masters take part in those four organizations where
they interrelate, if they so wish, easily with 100 countries. I did not
add them up, but it is certainly more than half of the United
Nations membership. All of these organizations, some more than
others, deal in human rights.

It looks bad if we are the only country voting one way, even
though we may be convinced as Canadian citizens that we are
right. It does look bad. It does make people fear we are losing
friends, which we need. To please one, you displease 20. That is
not the way to do it.

To me, Canada voting alone is not necessarily bad for Canada.
We are not hypocrites. We stand our ground. I am almost
speaking as an ambassador here. We have to make use of these
brotherhoods and sisterhoods — I have to be careful and gender
neutral here, being from Rights and Democracy.

Senator Jaffer: Just as you mentioned “Boy Scouts.”

Mr. Hubert: We have to make more use of these regional
organizations that we belong to. We have to be leaders in them.
We must convince people whom we sit next to in those clubs of
our points of view, seeking their support and bringing them to
vote, think and act like we do. Again, I am an optimist.

Mr. Lipsett: I guess the other thing that has been pointed out
on many occasions is the UPR mechanism and how that can
change dynamics, both in terms of stimulating national-level
debates as the Universal Periodic Review is prepared, as well as in
the follow-up, where we have a calendar and some clear objectives
for international cooperation efforts, et cetera. Then we can get
beyond just these snapshots in time in a multilateral body. There
are real dynamic processes in-country that we hope will lead to
creating a human rights culture and better programming.

nous assistons a une petite révolution. J’aime votre optimisme.
Vous étes une bouffée d’air frais et vous affichez un certain
optimisme a propos du nouveau Conseil. Pourriez-vous nous en
dire un peu plus sur ce qui vous rend optimiste?

M. Hubert : Je suis un optimiste de nature.
Le sénateur Jaffer : C’est bien.

M. Hubert : Je ne sais pas combien de fois encore vous aurez
I’occasion de me recevoir, parce qu’une fois que I'organisme que
je représente aura retenu les services d’un véritable président, il ne
me restera plus qu’a rentrer dans mes Cantons de I’Est pour
rejoindre mon terrain de golf favori.

Je voudrais ajouter une chose a ce que vous venez de dire :
nous sommes les boy-scouts du monde. Nous appartenons au
Commonwealth, a 'OEA, a la Francophonie et a TAPEC. Nos
maitres politiques qui siégent a ces organisations peuvent, s’ils le
désirent, avoir des contacts avec des représentants d’une bonne
centaine de pays. Je n’ai pas fait le compte, mais je suis certain que
les organismes que j’ai cités regroupent plus de la moitié des Etats
membres des Nations Unies. Toutes ces organisations, certaines
plus que d’autres d’ailleurs, s’occupent de droits humains.

Nous paraissons mal aux yeux du monde quand nous sommes
le seul pays a voter d’une certaine fagon, méme si les citoyens
canadiens peuvent étre convaincus de leur fait. Ca parait mal. A
cause de cela, certains craignent qu’on perde des amis dont on a
pourtant besoin. Pour faire plaisir a un, on déplait a 20 autres. Ce
n’est pas ainsi qu’il faut s’y prendre.

Personnellement, je ne pense pas que le fait, pour le Canada, de
voter seul soit nécessairement une mauvaise chose pour nous.
Nous ne sommes pas des hypocrites. Nous tenons bon. Je
m’exprime presque comme un ambassadeur. Nous devons
recourir aux fraternités et sororités — il faut que je veille a ne
pas tomber dans le sexisme, parce que je représente Droits et
Démocratie apres tout.

Le sénateur Jaffer : Vous venez juste de parler de
« boy-scouts ».

M. Hubert : Nous devons passer par les organisations
régionales auxquelles nous appartenons. Nous devons nous
poser en leaders de ces organisations. Nous devons convaincre
ceux a coté de qui nous sommes assis de la valeur de nos positions,
nous devons chercher a gagner leur appui et les amener a voter, a
penser et a agir comme nous le souhaitons. Encore une fois, je suis
optimiste.

M. Lipsett : Il a aussi, je crois, beaucoup été question du
mécanisme d’EPU et de la facon dont celui-ci pourrait changer la
dynamique, parce qu’il pourrait stimuler les débats a 1’échelon
national quand les pays se prépareront a cet examen, de méme
qu’a I’étape du suivi, parce qu'un échéancier, assorti d’objectifs
clairs en matiére de coopération internationale, leur aura été fixé.
Puis, au niveau des organes multinationaux, nous pourrons aller
au-dela de ces instantanés de pays. Nous espérons que, grace a des
processus de dynamisation internes, les pays examinés opteront
pour de meilleurs programmes et pour une culture des droits de la
personne.
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Senator Munson: Senator Dallaire and I are going off to save
the nation.

The Chair: I want to balance that politically, but I think I will
leave it alone in the interests of human rights.

Senator Munson: We are not shy about standing up for human
rights in China or standing up for Israel. We have all mentioned
bridge building in our report, and you both have talked about
bridge building, and we talked about trying to talk with our
neighbours, and so on. I know the background of the conference
in Durban; I understand that.

How do we bridge-build when we walk away from a
conference? I know there were preconceived points of view at
that conference, but we use the words «bridge building» yet we
just withdraw and say, “Sorry, we cannot go there because you
people have a bias.” Why can we not walk into these places and
say “We are here because that has been Canada’s historic role as a
bridge builder”? To walk away, to me, is to our detriment. I know
what all of those other arguments are from the previous Liberal
government and the present Conservative government.

Mr. Neve: There is no question that Durban is a difficult,
contentious, ugly process at the UN level. We shared concerns
about Durban phase I, and we do very much appreciate and
understand all of the problems brewing in the lead-up to the
follow-up exercise.

Last time around, in 2001, of course there was intense pressure
on Canada right up to the very end of the Durban conference to
pull out because of what unfolded there. We commended Canada
for staying in, for rolling up their shirt sleeves and trying, right up
to the dying moments, to salvage something, to build the bridges,
to improve. They made it very clear in the statements they made
at the end of the conference what the problems were and
disassociated themselves with aspects of the closing declaration, et
cetera. We feel that was the route to go.

We have not roundly criticized the decision to pull out at this
stage, but we have expressed some disappointment and we think it
is regrettable, especially at this early stage, that it has happened.

Mr. Hubert: I do not think I would offer much of a comment
on that. To me, it remains a very political decision. Personally, |
have feelings on this matter, but as Rights and Democracy and
the type of organization we are, we are not to denounce. |
certainly sympathize with your point of view. However, being
there and defending your point of view may be considered to be
better than not being there.

Obviously, our political masters have determined that in this
case, this time around, they chose another way of expressing
themselves. We may agree or disagree, but as Rights and
Democracy, I do not think we have a position on this one.

Le sénateur Munson : Le sénateur Dallaire et moi allons sauver
la nation.

Le président : J’allais faire une mise au point politique, mais je
m’en abstiendrai dans I'intérét des droits humains.

Le sénateur Munson : Nous n’avons pas honte de prendre
position pour Israél ou au nom des droits de la personne en
Chine. Nous avons mentionné la nécessité de jouer les médiateurs
dans notre rapport, vous aussi vous en avez parlé et il a été
question d’essayer de prendre langue avec nos voisins. Je sais ce
qui s’est produit en coulisses a Durban et je comprends la
situation.

Cependant, comment pouvons-nous jouer les médiateurs
quand nous nous retirons carrément d’une conférence? Je sais
que d’autres pays avaient des idées précongues a cette conférence,
mais, d’'un c6té, nous parlons de jouer les médiateurs et, de
l’autre, nous nous retirons en disant « Désolés, nous ne pouvons
pas vous suivre, parce que vous avez un préjugé ». Pourquoi, a la
place, ne dirait-on pas quelque chose du genre : « Nous sommes
ici parce que le Canada considére qu’il a toujours été investi d’un
réle de médiateur »? Selon moi, ce retrait joue contre nous. Je
connais tous les autres arguments émis par le gouvernement
libéral précédent et par ’actuel gouvernement conservateur.

M. Neve : Il ne fait aucun doute que le processus de Durban
n’a rien de reluisant, qu’il est controversé et délicat. Nous avons
exprimé nos préoccupations au sujet de la phase I de Durban et
nous ne comprenons pas parfaitement tous les problémes
sous-jacents qui ont conduit a ce qui s’est passé ensuite.

La derniére fois, en 2001, le Canada avait subi d’énormes
pressions jusqu’a la toute fin de la Conférence de Durban pour
qu’il se retire a cause de ce qui se déroulait en toile de fond. Nous
avions félicité le Canada d’étre resté, d’avoir retroussé les
manches et d’avoir essayé, jusqu’a la toute fin, de sauver ce qui
pouvait I’étre, de jeter des ponts et d’améliorer le produit final.
Dans leur déclaration, nos représentants ont clairement précisé
quels avaient été les problémes et ont expliqué qu’ils s’étaient
dissociés des aspects de la déclaration de cloture, et ainsi de suite.
Nous estimons que c’est ce qu’il fallait faire.

Nous n’avons pas, a ce stade, catégoriquement critiqué la
décision prise par le Canada, mais nous avons exprimé notre
déception, parce que nous jugeons regrettable la prise d’une telle
décision, surtout a un stade aussi précoce.

M. Hubert : Je ne pense pas avoir grand-chose a dire a ce sujet.
Quant a moi, cela demeure une décision politique. J’ai bien str un
avis personnel a ce sujet, mais comme je représente Droits et
démocratie et que cette organisation est ce qu’elle est, nous ne
dénongons pas cette prise de position. Je comprends votre point
de vue, parce que le fait de demeurer sur place et de se battre au
nom de ses idéaux pourrait étre préférable a un simple retrait.

De toute évidence, nos maitres politiques ont estimé qu’il
faudrait, cette fois-ci, exprimer son mécontentement d’une autre
fagon. On peut étre d’accord ou pas, mais je ne pense pas que
Droits et démocratie puisse avoir une position a ce sujet.



11-2-2007

Droits de la personne

2:79

Senator Munson: As a committee member, I sometimes do not
know who we are talking to. I know we are talking with you and
people are listening to our reports. We recommended that there
should be a Canadian ambassador for human rights in our last
report.

When we deliver our reports, either from this government or
others, there has been sort of the status quo response. Whether it
comes with the committee I sat on dealing with media or another
committee such as social affairs, it is: Very good points of view,
thank you very much, and here is a shelf and here goes your
report.

On this issue of a Canadian ambassador, you obviously both
endorse that idea. Do you think we should continue to push that
so that a government will listen and bridge build?

Mr. Neve: I think it is a very intriguing and exciting idea. A
position of that sort could make a huge difference in a number of
ways within government — on the international stage — in really
boosting the profile and effectiveness of Canada’s human rights
efforts. I absolutely encourage you to continue to press it.

Mr. Hubert: Can I be frank with you on this one as on
anything else? Again, I am biased. I think it might diminish the
role of our ambassador in Geneva. He is there and sees all the
actors year round. He is with the UN Commission. I am not sure
that having a man or a woman who would do just that — would
you also post him or her in Geneva?

Senator Munson: No, I think the person should be on the road,
like any other person should be doing, from my perspective.

Mr. Hubert: We had an ambassador for the environment who
roamed around, so I am not saying it is a bad idea. I saw the
government’s response to it. It is another point of view. It has
been done. There are precedents which you can cite, certainly.

The Chair: A very short question, Senator Oliver. We are out
of time.

Senator Oliver: I will not even bother asking it. You said that
the last time.

We are out of time, so that is fine.

The Chair: We have time for a quick question. Please.

Senator Oliver: I was happy that Senator Munson, in the
preamble to his last question, did say that Canada’s new
government has done such things as take a strong stand on
human rights with China and with others. It is very clear that the
government has done a lot in terms of promoting the rule of law
with countries with which it wants to do business. The
government is very concerned with equality of rights.

Le sénateur Munson : I1 m’arrive parfois, en comité, de ne pas
savoir a qui nous nous adressons. Je sais que nous vous parlons a
vous, et que nous nous adressons aussi a ceux qui lisent nos
rapports. Dans notre dernier rapport, nous avions recommandé
de nommer un ambassadeur canadien pour les questions de droits
de la personne.

En réaction a nos rapports, et ce n’était pas différent avec les
gouvernements précédents, on nous donne une réponse toute
faite. C’est toujours pareil, que ce soit au comité sur les médias,
auquel j’ai siégé, ou au comité des affaires sociales, on nous dit :
« Votre point de vue est excellent, merci beaucoup, mais voici la
tablette ou vous pouvez déposer votre rapport ».

Vous avez apparemment tous deux avalisé cette idée de
nommer un ambassadeur canadien. Pensez-vous que nous
devrions insister dans ce sens pour qu’'un gouvernement nous
écoute et assume un role de médiateur?

M. Neve : J’estime que c’est une idée a la fois trés intrigante et
emballante. Un poste de ce genre permettrait peut-étre de faire la
différence a bien des égards au sein du gouvernement — sur la
scéne internationale — parce qu’il rehausserait le profit du
Canada et Pefficacité des efforts qu’il déploie au chapitre des
droits de la personne. Je vous encourage a continuer d’insister.

M. Hubert : Me permettez-vous d’étre aussi franc a ce sujet
que je I’ai été sur le reste? Encore une fois, je ne suis pas objectif,
mais je crois que cela risquerait d’atténuer le role de notre
ambassadeur a Genéve. Il est déja la-bas et il est en contact avec
tous les acteurs, durant toute I’année. Il est aupres de la
Commission des Nations Unies. Je ne vois pas en quoi le fait de
nommer un homme ou une femme qui assumerait essentiellement
les mémes fonctions... Cette personne serait-elle également postée
a Genéve?

Le sénateur Munson : Non, je pense qu’elle serait itinérante,
comme cela se fait déja.

M. Hubert : Aprés tout, nous avons bien eu un ambassadeur
itinérant a ’environnement et je ne peux pas dire que ce soit une
mauvaise idée. J’ai vu comment le gouvernement a réagi. C’est
une autre fagon de voir les choses et cela a déja été fait. Il y a des
précédents que vous pourriez certainement invoquer.

Le président : Le sénateur Oliver pour une question trés bréve,
parce que nous manquons de temps.

Le sénateur Oliver : Eh bien, je ne vais méme pas la poser,
alors. Vous avez dit la méme chose la derniére fois.

Si nous manquons de temps, ¢a va.

Le président : Nous avons cependant du temps pour une bréve
question. Je vous en prie.

Le sénateur Oliver : J’ai été heureux d’entendre le sénateur
Munson nous déclarer, en préambule a sa derniére question, que
le nouveau gouvernement du Canada avait pris des positions
fermes sur les questions de droits de la personne en Chine et dans
d’autres pays. Il est évident que le gouvernement a beaucoup fait
pour promouvoir la régle de droit dans les pays avec lesquels il
veut traiter. Le gouvernement se soucie beaucoup d’égalité des
droits.
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A suggestion that this government is not concerned about, or
seems to be withdrawing from principles and action on human
rights is a bit misleading. I wanted an opportunity to put that on
the record.

Mr. Neve, you had said that you would like to see this UPR
process remain objective. I was wondering if you can tell me what
rules and regulations are now in place to give it the kind of
objectivity and barred from politics that you would like to see.
That is, the review process.

Mr. Neve: There is every risk that it could not be objective.
Certainly, the guiding principles are supposed to be international
human rights standards. If governments go about their work in a
genuine, good-faith manner and apply the criteria they are
supposed to apply, then objectivity is there.

We know, though, that despite having decades of human rights
standards to guide its work, the UN Commission on Human
Rights always found a way to let politics trump the human rights.
It will be a question of political will. It will come back to the
importance of things like bridge building, leadership and small
steps forward.

I am sure by the time we reach the end of this year and we have
been through the first three rounds of UPR, there will have been
successes and failures. Some of that will depend upon what three
countries were the troika for particular reviews, how seriously
they took their work, and many other factors that we probably
cannot even predict right now.

Mr. Hubert: When the troika is chosen, the country being
reviewed has one right of refusal. Let us say countries A, B and C
come out of the hat. On being reviewed, I could say I do not want
B. Or A, B or C may say “I will not review X.” Will that help or
not? I do not know.

The Chair: A bit of a jury system. I want to thank you,
Mr. Neve, Mr. Hubert and Mr. Lipsett, for coming. I hope, as |
have indicated before, that we continue this dialogue. We thank
you for your organizations’ attention to human rights, but also
your personal commitments to it.

I should say that, historically, when the Human Rights
Commission started, Canada stood alone on many issues and
slowly built coalitions. I think what we are looking for — and we
would ask you to reflect — as we try to build coalitions on the
issues of human rights to which we subscribe, that we learn new
ways to build coalitions. That is what I think is the promise in the
Human Rights Council, that perhaps through this committee and
your efforts, you can give us new ways in which to work to build
the consensus towards human rights.

Il est donc trompeur de laisser entendre que le gouvernement
semble vouloir tourner le dos aux principes et aux mesures de
défense de droits de la personne. Je voulais profiter de cette
occasion afin de préciser cela pour mémoire.

Monsieur Neve, vous avez dit souhaiter que le processus
d’EPU demeure objectif. Pouvez-vous me dire si les régles et les
réglements sont maintenant en place afin d’assurer le genre
d’objectivité que vous souhaitez, le genre de processus qui
échappe au jeu politique.

M. Neve : Il existe un grand risque que ce processus ne soit pas
objectif. Il est vrai que les principes directeurs sont censés
correspondre aux normes internationales en matiére de droits
humains. Si les gouvernements font vraiment leur travail, en toute
bonne foi et respectent les critéres qu’ils sont censés appliquer, il
n’y a alors pas lieu de craindre pour ’objectivité.

Nous savons toutefois que, malgré des normes en matiére de
droits de la personne qui remontent a des décennies, la
Commission des droits de ’'homme de 'ONU a toujours permis
que la politique vienne fausser la donne des droits humains. Tout
cela sera finalement une question de volonté politique. Ca nous
raménera a I'importance de certaines choses comme la médiation,
le leadership et la politique des petits pas.

Je suis certain que, d’ici la fin de I’année, aprés les trois
premiers EPU, nous aurons connu des échecs et des réussites.
L’issu dépendra en partie des trois pays qui auront été membres
de la troika pour ces examens particuliers, du sérieux qu’ils auront
mis a la tache et de bien d’autres facteurs que nous ne pouvons
sans doute méme pas envisager a ’heure actuelle.

M. Hubert : Une fois que les membres de la troika auront été
choisis, le pays examiné aura droit a un refus. Supposons que les
pays A, B et C soient choisis pour faire partie de la troika. Le pays
examiné pourra toujours dire que je ne veux pas de B, par
exemple. D’un autre coté, les pays A, B ou C pourront aussi
déclarer « Je ne veux pas examiner X ». Cette formule va-t-elle
nous aider? Je n’en sais rien.

La présidente : C’est un peu comme avec le choix des jurés.
Merci beaucoup, monsieur Neve, monsieur Hubert et monsieur
Lipsett de vous étre déplacés. Comme je 1’ai dit tout a I’heure,
jespére que nous allons pouvoir poursuivre ce dialogue. Nous
vous remercions pour ’attention que vos organisations accordent
aux questions de droits de la personne, mais surtout pour votre
engagement personnel envers cette cause.

Je dois rappeler qu’a 'origine de la Commission des droits de
I’homme, il est souvent arrivé au Canada de devoir faire cavalier
seul jusqu’a ce que, peu a peu, il parvienne a créer des coalitions.
Tandis que nous essayons de créer de telles coalitions autour de
nos positions sur les droits de la personne, je crois que nous
cherchons de nouvelles facons de procéder et je vous invite a
réfléchir a cela. Voila, selon moi, ou réside la promesse du Conseil
des droits de ’homme. Il est possible que, grace a ce comité et a
vos efforts, vous pourrez nous indiquer de nouvelles maniéres de
travailler dans le sens de l'instauration d’un consensus dans le
dossier des droits humains.
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We should not be judging from past history. We should be
learning from it but finding new ways. I think you are well placed
to give us that information and advice on an ongoing basis. We
thank you for coming tonight.

The committee adjourned.

Nous ne devrions pas juger en regardant dans le rétroviseur de
I'histoire. En revanche, nous devrions apprendre de Ihistoire,
mais en trouvant de nouvelles fagons d’agir. Je pense que vous
étes bien placé pour nous apporter réguliérement ce genre de
conseils. Merci de vous étre déplacés ce soir.

La séance est levée.
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